

Electrochemical Oxidation of Recalcitrant Organic Compounds using Electro-Generated Sulfate-based Oxidizing Agents

Ali Farhat

Master of Science in Water and Environmental Engineering Bachelor of Science in Chemistry

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The University of Queensland in 2016

> School of Chemical Engineering Advanced Water Management Centre (AWMC)

Abstract

Sulfate ions have often been used as background electrolytes in electrochemical degradation of contaminants, and have generally been considered inert even when employing high oxidation power anodes such as boron-doped diamond. Boron-doped diamond (BDD) anodes are widely used in literature for investigating electrochemical oxidation of contaminants due to their excellent capability to form hydroxyl radicals as well as inorganic radicals such as chlorine, phosphate, and sulfate radicals, electrogenerated when their corresponding anions are present in the influent water. This study examined the role of sulfate ions and the potential electro- generation of sulfate-based oxidants by comparing electrooxidation rates for persistent organic contaminants at BDD anodes in the presence of sulfate or nitrate anolytes (considered as inert). The effect of the operating conditions governing this process such as anolyte concentration / conductivity, applied current density, as well as solution volume were explored in this work. The characteristics and the reactive life-time of these electro-chemically generated sulfatebased oxidizing agents were further explored by studying the oxidation extent occurring after the electric current has been switched off or via different modes of intermittent electric current as an option to improve energy efficiency. The effect of chloride ions on the sulfate-based electrooxidation processes for the removal of a natural organic matter surrogate, resorcinol, was also addressed in this work because the anodic oxidation of chloride yields oxidizing species such as chlorine / hypochlorous acid as well as chlorine/chloride radicals, and may compete with sulfate-based oxidizing species, leading to the formation of toxic organic and inorganic chlorinated compounds at higher applied potentials.

The detailed investigations showed that sulfate yielded 10 - 15 times higher electrooxidation rates of all target contaminants compared to the rates achieved with a nitrate analyte at identical conductivities. The presence of specific radical quenchers (*tert*-butanol, methanol) reported a similar effect on diatrizoate electrooxidation rates, illustrating that hydroxyl radicals ('OH) are most likely influencing the potential anodic formation of sulfate-based oxidizing species. Thus, these results indicate the formation of strong sulfate-derived oxidant species at BDD anodes, where the energy consumption required for a 10-fold removal of diatrizoate was reduced from 45.6 to 2.44 kWh m⁻³ by switching from nitrate to sulfate analyte. This electrochemical activation of sulfate was also observed at low concentrations, relevant for many wastewaters, where even only 1.56 mM sulfate analyte solution (3.5 mS cm⁻¹ and 100 A m⁻²) achieved a higher removal rate than 60 mM nitrate with correspondingly higher conductivity (9.0 mS cm⁻¹) and operated at double the current density (200 A m⁻²). Chloride addition to Na₂SO₄ inhibited the resorcinol oxidation and mineralization, unlike its addition to NaNO₃ where it enhanced the oxidation of resorcinol. This inhibitive effect of chloride on sulfate was observed to further decrease the removal rate constants of resorcinol oxidation and mineralization with increasing the chloride concentration from 5 to

40 mM. However, the presence of sulfate is reported to inhibit the electrogeneration of chlorinated organics by $\sim 2 - 4$ folds compared to nitrate, especially at low chloride concentrations (i.e., $[SO_4^{2-}]:[CI^-]>1$). Although increasing the pH from 2 to 7 reduced the amount of chlorinated organics formed by about half, the sulfate-based electrolysis increased the generation of undesired chlorate and perchlorate at both acidic and neutral pH.

Overall findings indicate the formation of strong sulfate-derived oxidant species at BDD anodes when polarized at high potentials, even when operating at low sulfate concentrations such as 150 mg L^{-1} , detected in natural water systems. This may have positive implications in electrooxidation of wastewaters containing sulfate because of the substantial energy savings that such systems could achieve, not only attributed to the formation of much stronger oxidants but also due to their extended reactive life-time.

Declaration by author

This thesis is composed of my original work, and contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text. I have clearly stated the contribution by others to jointly-authored works that I have included in my thesis.

I have clearly stated the contribution of others to my thesis as a whole, including statistical assistance, survey design, data analysis, significant technical procedures, professional editorial advice, and any other original research work used or reported in my thesis. The content of my thesis is the result of work I have carried out since the commencement of my research higher degree candidature and does not include a substantial part of work that has been submitted to qualify for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution. I have clearly stated which parts of my thesis, if any, have been submitted to qualify for another award.

I acknowledge that an electronic copy of my thesis must be lodged with the University Library and, subject to the policy and procedures of The University of Queensland, the thesis be made available for research and study in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968 unless a period of embargo has been approved by the Dean of the Graduate School.

I acknowledge that copyright of all material contained in my thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of that material. Where appropriate I have obtained copyright permission from the copyright holder to reproduce material in this thesis.

Publications during candidature

Journal Publications

 Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2015). Removal of Persistent Organic Contaminants by Electrochemically Activated Sulfate. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2015, 49 (24), pp 14326–14333.
 DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.5b02705.

Conference Presentations and Posters

- Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2016). Electro-Activated Sulfate for the Degradation of Persistent Organic Contaminants. *World Water Congress Exhibition 2016*. October 9th 14th, 2016, Brisbane, Australia. (Poster)
- Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2016). Electro-Activated Sulfate for the Degradation of Persistent Organic Contaminants. *International Conference on Emerging Contaminants and Micro-pollutants in the Environment*. September 20th 23th, 2016, Sydney, Australia.
- Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2016). Effect of Chloride on Sulfate-based Electrochemical Systems using Boron-Doped Diamond Anodes. *International Conference on Emerging Contaminants and Micro-pollutants in the environment*. September 20th – 23th, 2016, Sydney, Australia. (Poster)
- Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2015). Electrochemical Oxidation of Trace Organic Compounds via Electro-Generated Sulfate Radicals on Boron Doped Diamond Anodes. *The 66th Annual Meeting of the International Society of Electrochemistry*, 4th – 9th October 2015, Taipei, Taiwan.
- Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2015). Removal of Persistent Organic Contaminants by Electrochemically Activated Sulfate. *The 66th Annual Meeting of the International Society of Electrochemistry*, 4th – 9th October 2015, Taipei, Taiwan. (Poster)
- Farhat, A., (2015). Combining the electrochemical oxidation of organics from a sewage wastewater with the electrochemical reduction of acid mine drainage without adding any chemicals. *The 2015 Sustainable Mining Institute Research Higher Degree Conference*, Brisbane, Australia.
- Farhat, A., (2014). The Effect of Sulfate-based Electrolytes on the Electrochemical Treatment of Recalcitrant Organic Compounds using Boron-doped Diamond. *The 2014 UQ Engineering Postgraduate Conference*, Brisbane, Australia.
- Farhat, A., (2013). Electrochemical Treatment of Recalcitrant Organic Compounds using Sulfate Radicals. *The 2013 UQ Engineering Postgraduate Conference*, Brisbane, Australia.

Publications included in this thesis

Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2015). Removal of Persistent Organic Contaminants by Electrochemically Activated Sulfate. *Environ. Sci. Technol., 2015, 49 (24), pp 14326–14333.* DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.5b02705 – incorporated as Chapters 4 and 5.

Contributor	Statement of contribution
Ali Farhat (Candidate)	Designed experiments and Data Analysis (60%)
	Wrote the paper (60%)
Jelena Radienovic	Designed experiments and Data Analysis (30%)
	Wrote and edited paper (30%)
Stephan Tait	Wrote and edited paper (10%)
Suphan Tait	Assisted with Statistical Analysis of Data
Jurg Keller	Designed experiments and Data Analysis (10%)

Contributions by others to the thesis

Dr. Beatrice Keller-Lehmann and Nathan Clayton from the AWMC Analytical Services Laboratory (ASL) helped in the measurements of the concentrations of several organic and inorganic compounds.

Dr. Janet Tang and Ms. Kalinda Watson from National Research Centre for Environmental Toxicology helped in the analyses of the adsorbable organic chlorine (AOCl) for some experiments reported in this thesis.

Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to qualify for the award of another degree

"None".

Acknowledgements

To my grandma, *Jawhara Farhat*, whose name literally translates as *The Pearl of Happiness*, and who was a great support and motivation for me during PhD life to work hard and excel. Rest in Peace grandma! And sorry for not being there to say Good Bye!

To my Mother and my Father, my brothers and my sister, whom I left thousands of kilometres away to pursue my postgraduate study, and who look up at me and are proud of me. Thank You!

To my lovely wife, who changed her life plans and twisted her life goals and came all the way here to be with me. To my wife who didn't see me many nights and several weekends. Thank You and All the Best in Your PhD!

I would like to thank my advisory team, Professor Jurg Keller, who was very generous in his continuous support and academic input, and from whom I learnt a lot. My gratitude extends to Dr Stephan Tait who agreed to take a big burden on his shoulders when he accepted to be on my advisory team in the middle of my PhD despite all the challenges with such decision, and was always helpful and supportive, and who taught me at the personal level to look at things from a new angle perspective. And all this would not have happened without the great support and academic input of Dr Jelena Radjenovic who was always there to help, even during maternity leaves and over video-conferencing from the other side of the world. Thank You Jelena, Stephan, and Jurg!

Last, I want to thank the University of Queensland for providing me with UQ international scholarship which covered my tuition and living expenses, and made my dreams of pursuing a PhD become a reality!

Keywords

Electrochemical Oxidation, Recalcitrant Organic contaminants, Boron-doped diamond electrode, Hydroxyl radicals, Sulfate radicals, Persulfate, Reactive Chlorine Species, Chlorine radicals, Chlorinated by-products.

Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC)

ANZSRC code: 090410	Water Treatment Processes, 20%
ANZSRC code: 030604	Electrochemistry, 40%
ANZSRC code: 039901	Environmental Chemistry, 40%

Fields of Research (FoR) Classification

FoR code: 0904	Chemical Engineering, 60%
FoR code: 0907	Environmental Engineering, 30%
FoR code: 0301	Analytical Chemistry, 10%

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Declaration by author	4
Publications during candidature	5
Journal Publications	5
Conference Presentations and Posters	5
Publications included in this thesis	6
Contributions by others to the thesis	6
Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to qualify for the award of another degree	6
Acknowledgements	7
Keywords	8
Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC)	8
Fields of Research (FoR) Classification	8
Table of Contents	9
List of Tables	12
List of Figures	14
List of Abbreviations	16
1. Chapter 1: Introduction	17
1.1. Background	17
1.2. Research Motivation	19
1.3. Research Objectives	20
2. Chapter 2: Literature Review	22
2.1 Occurrence of Trace Organic Contaminants in the Environment	22
2.2 Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs) for Removal of Organic Compounds	25
2.2.1 Hydroxyl Radicals-based Advanced Oxidation Processes	26
2.2.2 Sulfate Radicals-based Advanced Oxidation Processes	27
2.3 Electrochemical processes for wastewater treatment	32
2.3.1 Mechanisms of electrochemical oxidation and importance of electrode material	33
2.4 Electrochemical Formation of Persulfate	37
2.5 Concluding Summary and Thesis Objectives	39
3. Chapter 3: Major Research Methodology	42
3.1 Reactor Design and Specifications	43
3.2 Chemicals and Reagents	45
3.3 Chemical Analysis	45

	3.3.1 Liquid Chromatography - Mass Spectrometry	.45
	3.3.2 High Performance Liquid Chromatography	.48
	3.3.3 Ion Chromatography	.49
	3.3.4 Adsorbable Organic Chlorides (AOCl)	.49
	3.3.5 Hydrogen Peroxide and Persulfate Quantification	.49
3.4	Sampling Procedure and Data Analysis	.52
3.5	Energy Consumption Estimation	.53
4. at B	Chapter 4: Role of Sulfate Electrolyte in Electrochemical Oxidation of Recalcitrant Orga oron-doped Diamond Anodes	nics .54
4.1	Introduction	.55
4.2	2 Materials and Methods	.56
	4.2.1 Experimental Setup	.56
	4.2.2 Chemical Analysis	.57
4.3	Results and Discussion	.58
	4.3.1 Effect of anolyte on electrooxidation rates of persistent organic contaminants	.58
	4.3.2 Persulfate electro-generation and potential role in the electrooxidation	.61
	4.3.3 Potential role of electro-generated SO ₄ in the electrooxidation of diatrizoate	.64
	4.3.4 Effect of specific radical quenchers on electrooxidation of diatrizoate	.67
	4.3.5 Electrooxidation of nitrobenzene in Na ₂ SO ₄ anolyte	.69
	4.3.6 Energy Consumption	.70
4.4	Concluding Remarks	.71
5.	Chapter 5: Effect of Operating Parameters on the Electrooxidation Rates of Diatrizoate	.72
5.1	Introduction	.73
5.2	2 Materials and Methods	.74
5.3	Results and Discussion	.75
	5.3.1 Effect of anolyte concentration and conductivity on diatrizoate electrooxidation	.75
	5.3.2 Effect of applied current density on electrooxidation rates of diatrizoate	.78
	5.3.3 Effect of combined low sulfate concentration and current on diatrizoate removal	.80
	5.3.4 Effect of anolyte volume on diatrizoate removal rates	.80
5.4	Concluding Remarks	.82
6.	Chapter 6: Long-life Oxidizing Species in Sulfate-based Electrochemical Systems	.84
6.1	Introduction	.85
6.2	2 Materials and Methods	.86
	6.2.1 Delayed Quenching Experiments	.86
	6.2.2 Pulse Electric Current Experiments	.87

6.2.3 Off-line Diatrizoate Oxidation Experiments
6.3 Results
6.3.1 Effect of Delayed Quenching on Oxidation of Diatrizoate90
6.3.2 Effect of the Pulse Electric Current Modes on Diatrizoate Oxidation93
6.3.3 Effect of Off-line Diatrizoate Oxidation by pre-Oxidized Sulfate Anolyte94
6.4 Discussion
6.4.1 Possible Mechanisms of the Formation of Long-life Sulfate-based Oxidants95
6.4.2 Energy Savings Induced by the Sulfate-based Oxidants96
6.5 Concluding Remarks
7. Chapter 7: Impact of Chloride on Resorcinol Oxidation by Electro-Activated Sulfate98
7.1 Introduction
7.2 Materials and Methods
7.2.1 Experimental Setup100
7.2.2 Chemical Analysis101
7.3 Results and Discussion
7.3.1 Effect of chloride addition on the electrooxidation of resorcinol
7.3.2 Effect of chloride addition on TOC removal103
7.3.3 Effect of chloride addition on the formation of chlorinated organics104
7.3.4 Effect of chloride addition on the formation of chlorate and perchlorate105
7.3.5 Effect of sulfate addition on chloride-based electrooxidation of resorcinol109
7.3.6 Impact of chloride on the electrooxidation of resorcinol at neutral pH110
7.4 Concluding Remarks
8. Chapter 8: Conclusions and Implications
Bibliography of References

List of Tables

Table 2.1 The major characteristics and drawback	of electrochemical advanced oxidation processes
(EAOPs) (Jüttner et al. 2000, Anglada et al. 20	009, Sirés and Brillas 2012)33

Table 2.2 The oxidation potential (V vs SHE) for oxygen evolution of different electrode materials in acidic media, as well as their trend of the adsorption type and anodic oxidation power (Chen 2004, Comninellis *et al.* 2008, Anglada *et al.* 2009, Comninellis and Chen 2010)......35

Table 3.1 The recalcitrant	organic compounds	s investigated in	this study	along with	their molar
masses, octanol-water	partitioning coefficient	ient (log Kow),	pKa, and	chemical str	ructure. (The
values are reported fro	m the EPI-Suite v4.1	1 software)			46

Table 4.1 Apparent rate constants (h ⁻¹)) for oxidation	of target or	rganic contami	nants in I	Na ₂ SO ₄ and
NaNO ₃ anolytes (pH 2; 9.0 mS cm	n^{-1} ; and 200 A p	m ⁻²)			60

- Table 6.1 Removal percentages (%) of electrochemical oxidation of 10 μ M diatrizoate in 1.56 mM anolyte, comparing the three anolytes (nitrate, persulfate, and sulfate) prepared as 500 mL with pH 2, and 4.75 \pm 0.3 mS cm⁻¹ and operated with an electric current density of 100 A m⁻²91

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 The different pathways of electrochemical oxidation in active and non-active electrodes in
the anodic compartment, as well as the oxygen evolution side reactions and the poisoning effect
(fouling) on the anode surface
Figure 3.1 Schematic diagram of the utilized reactor with its two-compartment electrochemical
system using stainless steel as the cathode and boron doped diamond as the anode 44
system, using summess seen as the callode and boron doped diamond as the anode
Figure 3.2: Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the metavanadate method for $1 - 60$ mM solution
of hydrogen peroxide in the absence of any persulfate
Figure 3.3 Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the metavanadate method for $1 - 60$ mM solution
of persulfate in the presence of 0.6 mM hydrogen peroxide
Figure 3.4 Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the ferrous/thiocvanate method for $1 - 60$ mM
solutions of hydrogen perovide (\blacklozenge) or persulfate (\blacktriangle)
solutions of hydrogen perovide (+) of persunde (=)
Figure 3.5 Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the ferrous/thiocyanate method for 0.6 mM solution
of hydrogen peroxide with the addition of $1 - 60$ mM persulfate concentrations
Figure 4.1 Disappearance of diatrizoate in electrooxidation in NaNO ₃ (\blacktriangle), NaClO ₄ (\blacklozenge), and Na ₂ SO ₄
(●) anolytes of same initial pH and conductivity (pH 2, 9.0 mS cm ⁻¹), at 200 A m ⁻² of applied
current density
Figure 4.2 Electrochemical generation of the oxidants: persultate ions (\bullet) and hydrogen peroxide
(\blacklozenge) in electrooxidation in Na ₂ SO ₄ anolyte (40 mM, pH 2, 9.0 mS cm ⁻¹) at 200 A m ⁻² 62
Figure 4.3 Disappearance of diatrizoate during electrooxidation in Na ₂ SO ₄ anolyte (40 mM, pH 2,
9.0 mS cm ⁻¹) in the presence of 100 uM methanol (\blacklozenge) or t-butanol (\diamondsuit), with an applied current
9.0 mS cm ⁻¹) in the presence of 100 μ M methanol (\blacklozenge) or t-butanol (\diamondsuit), with an applied current density of 200 A m ⁻²
9.0 mS cm ⁻¹) in the presence of 100 μ M methanol (\blacklozenge) or t-butanol (\diamondsuit), with an applied current density of 200 A m ⁻²
 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 100 μM methanol (♦) or t-butanol (◊), with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻²
 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 100 µM methanol (♦) or t-butanol (◊), with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻²
 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 100 µM methanol (♦) or t-butanol (◊), with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻²
 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 100 µM methanol (♦) or t-butanol (◊), with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻²
 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 100 μM methanol (♦) or t-butanol (◊), with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻²
 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 100 μM methanol (◆) or t-butanol (◇), with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻²

- Figure 5.2 The apparent electrooxidation rate constants (h⁻¹) of diatrizoate in sulfate at different solution volumes of 0.25, 0.5 1.0 and 2.0 L (pH 2; 9.0 mS cm⁻¹; and 200 A m⁻²)......81

List of Abbreviations

AOPs	Advanced Oxidation Processes
EAOPs	Electrochemical Advanced Oxidation Processes
CEM	Cation exchange membrane
SHE	Standard Hydrogen Electrode
BDD	Boron Doped Diamond
UV	Ultraviolet radiation
ICM	Iodinated Contrast Media
NOM	Natural Organic Matter
•OH	Hydroxyl radicals
Fe	Iron
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
$O_2^{-\bullet}$	Superoxide radical
O ₃	Ozone
PS,	Peroxydisulfate (S ₂ O ₈ ²⁻)
PMS	Peroxymonosulfate
Pt	Platinum
$SO_4^{-\bullet}$	Sulfate radical
NO ₃ -	Nitrate ion
SO ₄ ²⁻	Sulfate ion
Cl	Chloride ion
ClO ₃ -	Chlorate ion
ClO ₄ -	Perchlorate ion
$S_2O_8^{2-}$	Persulfate ion
CBZ	Carbamazepine
DEET	Diethyl-meta-toluamide
DTR	Diatrizoate Dihydarate
IPM	Iopromide
ТВР	Triboromophenol
TCN	Triclosan
TCP	Triclorpyr

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Background

Water is the most precious resource for the living beings' survival, but the availability of fresh water for prompt use is very scarce, and the water contamination is becoming an international concern, threatening the quality of life for all living beings (Brillas et al. 2009). Water contamination has been largely attributed to the leaching of natural organic matter, metals, and salts into surface and ground waters, yet the discharge of the synthetic organic matter into the water bodies is considered a major contributor to water contamination (Snyder et al. 2003). Such organic contaminants include endocrine-disrupting compounds, pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), pesticides and herbicides, as well as other industrial chemicals such as phenolic compounds, anilines, and other benzonic and hetero-aromatic derivatives. These organic contaminants are being extensively released into natural water and wastewater channels, raising a pervasive concern amongst the health regulatory groups and the public, even at low concentration (trace) levels (Ternes 1998, Christian G. Daughton 2001, Kümmerer 2001, Gerecke et al. 2002, Kolpin et al. 2002, Ternes et al. 2002, Snyder et al. 2003, Carballa et al. 2004, Daughton 2004, Westerhoff et al. 2005, Khetan and Collins 2007, Kümmerer 2009, Stephen et al. 2011). The main sources of these contaminants are anthropogenic activities, such as industrial (European-Commission 1996, Real et al. 2009), agricultural (Hirsch et al. 1999, Chiron et al. 2000), hospital (Gartiser et al. 1996, Pauwels and Verstraete 2006), and household use (Ternes and Hirsch 2000, Barceló 2003, Kűmmerer 2004).

Some of these chemical contaminants are biodegradable, hence they are substantially removed in dedicated wastewater treatment facilities (where existing) and in natural water bodies and soils by microbial and enzymatic degradation. Some are also decomposed chemically without microbial influence. Yet, a significant number of these contaminants are resistant to microbial attacks and highly stable to sunlight irradiation. These persistent contaminants have been discovered at low concentrations of typically micrograms per liter all around the world in both natural systems such as lakes (Bevans 1996, Boulanger *et al.* 2005), streams (Kolpin *et al.* 2002), rivers (Schmidt *et al.* 2003), groundwater (Sacher *et al.* 2001), as well as seawater (Weigel *et al.* 2002), and engineered systems such as treated drinking water (Seitz *et al.* 2006), and treated sewage effluents (Nasu *et al.* 2001). This ubiquitousness of trace organic contaminants triggered a great scientific, regulatory, and public

concern for the removal of trace organic contaminants from the aquatic environment, due to their potential carcinogenic, mutagenic, toxic, and bactericidal characteristics, causing potential perilous health effects on human beings.

Numerous water treatment technologies have aimed to reduce the accumulation of these pollutants in the aquatic environment, but reported incomplete, inefficient, or unfavoured transformation of the trace organic contaminants (Stephen *et al.* 2011). Conventional chemical, biological, and physical treatment technologies are incapable of efficiently degrading these persistent organic contaminants (Marrot *et al.* 2006). Therefore, developing simple, safe, efficient, and cost-effective technologies for trace contaminants removal is still considered a major current need and interest for researchers in the field.

Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) have attracted wide attention due to their *in-situ* generation of highly reactive radicals, principally hydroxyl radicals ('OH), capable of oxidizing organic compounds in water treatment processes (Glaze *et al.* 1987, Brillas *et al.* 2009, Matilainen and Sillanpää 2010). Besides 'OH-based processes, other AOPs employing persulfate or peroxymonosulfate can generate sulfate radicals (SO₄^{•-}), which are also strong oxidants with a redox potential E^o (SO₄^{•-}/SO₄²⁻) = 2.5–3.1 V vs Standard Hydrogen Electrode (SHE), (Neta *et al.* 1988, Zhang *et al.* 2014) similar to the redox potential of hydroxyl radicals at acidic pH, E^o('OH/H₂O) = 2.4–2.8 V, (Buxton *et al.* 1988, Wardman 1989). Both radicals have been reported to react with many pharmaceuticals at comparable oxidation rates (Neta *et al.* 1977, Buxton *et al.* 1988, Rickman and Mezyk 2010, Matta *et al.* 2011). Nonetheless, the major drawbacks of AOPs can be attributed to the large amounts of chemicals needed to perform the oxidation, as well as the high energy costs required for UV irradiation and ozone generation (Malato *et al.* 2009).

The electrochemical advanced oxidation processes (EAOPs) such as anodic oxidation (AO), have shown great capabilities in mimicking the performance of traditional AOPs and even surpassing them in water treatment (Chen 2004, Anglada *et al.* 2009, Brillas *et al.* 2009, Kapałka *et al.* 2010). The anodic oxidation is defined as a process in which an electric current is supplied to the electrochemical reactor to trigger chemical reactions that generate *in-situ* reactive species (e.g., 'OH and superoxide radicals) on the anode, capable of driving oxidation reactions (Zhao and Li 2006, Garrido *et al.* 2007, Ahad and Slater 2008, Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010). The ability of these electrochemical processes to generate *in-situ* oxidizing species such as 'OH radicals from the feed water without the specific addition of chemicals, promotes these processes over chemical AOPs in the water treatment fields such as pharmaceuticals removal (Garrido *et al.* 2007), decontamination of dyes (Costa *et al.* 2009)

as well as phenol destruction (Iniesta *et al.* 2001, Wang *et al.* 2009). Non-active anode materials such as boron-doped diamond (BDD) anodes are reported to possess high electrocatalytic activity towards oxidation due to their high oxygen evolution overpotential, rendering them capable of generating weakly adsorbed 'OH radicals (Comninellis 1994, Chen *et al.* 2003). Besides 'OH, these powerful BDD anodes can also produce peroxy species such as ozone and hydrogen peroxide as well as percarbonate, perphosphate and persulfate in the presence of their corresponding ions (Cañizares *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Meas *et al.* 2011). However, despite the extensive work published on electrochemical generation of 'OH radicals and their strong oxidation power in mineralizing organic contaminants in EAOPs, there is very little work conducted on the potential electrochemical contribution of these peroxy species or their intermediate species such as SO₄[•]radicals to the oxidation of the organic contaminants in these processes.

1.2. Research Motivation

Although persulfate ($S_2O_8^{2-}$) formation at BDD anode is reported to occur via oxidation of sulfate ions to SO₄⁺⁻ and recombination of two SO₄⁺⁻ to yield persulfate (Serrano *et al.* 2002, Cañizares *et al.* 2009, Davis *et al.* 2014), sulfate electrolytes have been generally considered inert and the BDD electrooxidation mechanisms in the presence of sulfate ions have typically been interpreted by the action of 'OH not SO₄⁺⁻ (Brillas *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Sirés *et al.* 2014). To date, there is no spectroscopic evidence of the electrochemically formed 'OH, SO₄⁺⁻, or other inorganic radicals generated at a BDD anode (Marselli *et al.* 2003, Bejan *et al.* 2012), but a limited number of studies have suggested that inorganic radicals generated at the anode (e.g., PO₄⁺²⁻, SO₄⁺⁻, Cl₂⁺⁻) may be contributing to a minor additional electrooxidation of organic contaminants (Costa *et al.* 2009, Park *et al.* 2009, Bagastyo *et al.* 2013).

Taking into consideration that $S_2O_8^{2-}$ is viewed to have slow oxidation kinetics with organic compounds in the absence of an activator, electrogenerated $S_2O_8^{2-}$ is expected to potentially contribute only to a minor extent to the bulk oxidation. However, SO_4^{-} radicals, produced as intermediates in the persulfate electrogeneration, are strong oxidants that have shown substantial capabilities in oxidizing persistent organic contaminants. Thus, the electrolysis of sulfate ions to sulfate radical species (HSO₄⁻, SO_4^{-}) may have a significant effect on the oxidation kinetics and degradation pathways of contaminants in electrochemical treatment of wastewater. Given that sulfate ions can be present in municipal and industrial wastewater at significant concentrations of several hundred milligrams up to grams per liter level (United-Nations-Environment-Programme 1990, Tchobanoglous *et al.* 2002, Sgroi *et al.* 2014), it is important to elucidate the role of sulfate ions in electrooxidation processes employing non-active electrodes such as BDD.

Therefore, the objective of this study was to investigate the role of sulfate ions in the electrochemical oxidation of contaminants at BDD anodes by (i) elucidating the potential participation of electrogenerated sulfate-based oxidizing species in electrochemical oxidation of persistent organic contaminants such as pharmaceuticals and pesticides, while (ii) exploring the effect of operating conditions governing the process such as anolyte concentration and volume as well as applied current, and (iii) studying the impact of the presence of the chloride ions on these sulfate-based EAOPs, especially on the formation of organic and inorganic chlorinated by-products.

1.3. Research Objectives

This PhD project aimed to investigate the role of the ubiquitous sulfate ions in the higher electrooxidation rates of persistent organics observed in electrochemical treatment of contaminated water at BDD anodes. In this objective, the target was to elucidate the potential participation of electrogenerated sulfate radical species in electrooxidation of persistent organic contaminants, by comparing different anolyte types as well as testing several persistent organic compounds. Probe compounds were also investigated to provide further evidence for the electro-formation of sulfate-based oxidizing agents.

The project also studied the influence of the operating conditions governing these sulfate-enhanced electrochemical oxidation systems. The removal rates of a model compound, diatrizoate, were explored at different operating conditions such as the concentration/conductivity of the anolyte as well as the anodic current density and the volume of the anolyte solutions. The characteristics of these oxidants and their potential extended reactive life-time was also explored in this work, by applying intermittent electric current as an option to achieve energy savings.

Finally, the effect of the presence of chloride ions was also examined, in sulfate and nitrate-based anolyte systems for the electrochemical treatment of resorcinol as a surrogate compound of natural organic matter (NOM). The potential inhibition effect exerted by chloride on sulfate-based removal and mineralization of resorcinol was examined. The effect of sulfate presence on the formation of organic chlorinated compounds as well as the inorganic chlorate and perchlorate by-products were also studied.

Therefore, the main research objectives of the thesis are to:

- I. Investigate the role of sulfate ions in the degradation of persistent organics in electrochemical oxidation at a BDD anode. (Chapter 4)
- II. Investigate the effect of the operating parameters of the sulfate-based electrooxidation processes using BDD anodes. (Chapter 5)
- III. Explore the prolonged oxidation of persistent organics via long-life oxidants produced in the sulfate-based electrochemical systems at BDD anode. (Chapter 6)
- IV. Assess the effect of the presence of chloride ions on the performance of sulfate-based electrochemical systems. (Chapter 7)

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Occurrence of Trace Organic Contaminants in the Environment

Surface and groundwater bodies, as well as wastewaters discharged by households and hospitals, are reported to contain substantial amounts of persistent chemicals and microbial agents such as herbicides, fire retardants, X-ray contrast agents, disinfectants, antibiotics, and pharmaceuticals (Kümmerer 2001). Low efficiencies in the removal of these trace organic compounds have been reported in the major water and wastewater treatment technologies such as coagulation/flocculation, activated sludge and membrane bioreactors (MBRs), despite their promising capabilities in producing high quality effluents (Tadkaew *et al.* 2011). These organic compounds are inefficiently removed due to their high resistance and have been detected in most effluents of wastewater treatment plants (Pauwels and Verstraete 2006).

Some major persistent trace organic compounds include pesticides and herbicides such as atrazine, 2, 4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2, 4-D), dichlorprop, metolachlor, triclopyr, and the insect repellent N,N-Diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET) (Brillas *et al.* 2000, Anipsitakis and Dionysiou 2003, Bandala *et al.* 2007, Borràs *et al.* 2010, Tay *et al.* 2013). Other persistent trace organic compounds are pharmaceutically active compounds such as carbamazepine, chloramphenicol, phenytoin, hydrochlorothiazide, triclosan, diclofenac, and sulfamethoxazole (Matta *et al.* 2011, Nfodzo and Choi 2011). Although pharmaceuticals such as ibuprofen and acetaminophen are easily removed due to their high biodegradability and thus are not considered persistent, they are frequently being detected in water bodies and systems due to their high usages above the capacities of the treatment plants. Other pharmaceuticals include the iodinated X-ray contrast media such as diatrizoate, iopromide, iopamidole, and iomeprol used in test scans and are largely detected in wastewaters discharged from hospitals (Kalsch 1999).

Atrazine, 2,4-D, and DEET are widely used pesticides for mitigating the growth of grasses and weeds in farms such as corn and sugar cane (Brillas *et al.* 2000, Borràs *et al.* 2010, Tay *et al.* 2013). Atrazine is considered the most used herbicide world-wide and is described as a potential danger for public health for being an endocrine disrupting compound (Fan *et al.* 2007). In conventional wastewater treatment plants, the removal of atrazine using MBR plants ranged from <10% removal (from 24 ng L^{-1} input) (Bernhard *et al.* 2006) to 10 – 40% removal (from 10 ng L^{-1} input) (Bouju *et al.* 2008).

Another widely used selective herbicide is 2,4-D which has been widely applied to control broadleaved weeds and inhibit methano-trophic bacteria in gardens and farming due to its low cost and good selectivity (Brillas *et al.* 2000). This herbicide is described as moderately toxic because it may cause nervous system damage as well as liver and kidney problems on short-term and long-term exposure to more than 100 ppb (Bandala *et al.* 2007). It has been widely detected in surface and groundwater due to low soil sorption and high potential of leachability, where this well-known endocrine disrupter is characterized by low biodegradability and low decomposition at levels above 1.0 ppm (Brillas *et al.* 2000). In conventional water treatments using coagulation and chlorine oxidation, removal of 2,4-D is incomplete, whereas potassium permanganate and activated carbon treatment show effective removal (Aly and Faust 1965). On the other hand, in biological treatment processes, the 2,4-D removal is reported to be complete (> 99% in activated sludge treatments), but its main degradation product is a relatively persistent compound, 2,4-dichlorophenol, which is a toxic compound to humans and freshwater aquatic life at high concentrations (Petrović *et al.* 2003).

Moreover, an active ingredient in the production of insect repellent is DEET. It is widely used to block the insect's chemoreceptors sensing lactic acid and carbon dioxide (CO₂), and because of this extensive use, it has been widely detected in streams, drinking water, and sewage effluents (Tay *et al.* 2013). In activated sludge treatments, DEET is very poorly removed, whereas its removal in MBR plants ranged between 0% and 50% (Bernhard *et al.* 2006), where it was suggested that DEET removal is dependent on sludge retention time (Kim *et al.* 2007).

A large number of pharmaceuticals have been reported to be present in surface and groundwater, as well as sewage treatment plant effluents, including carbamazepine (anti-convulsant), ibuprofen (anti-inflammatory), and triclosan (antibiotic). They are poorly removed in coagulation and flocculation processes used typically in drinking water treatment systems, but are relatively significantly removed (>70% removal) in membrane treatment systems such as nano-filtration and reverse osmosis (Snyder *et al.* 2003). Some pharmaceutical compounds are characterized by low biodegradability; while others such as anti-inflammatory and anti-biotic drugs are reported to be highly removed through biological treatments (Snyder *et al.* 2003).

Carbamazepine is an anticonvulsant and anti-epileptic drug used primarily in mood-stabilizing and controlling seizures (Zhang *et al.* 2008). It has been widely identified in groundwater at concentrations reaching 610 n g L⁻¹, where carbamazepine as well as primidone, which is another antiepileptic drug, persisted in groundwater even after a travel time of 6 years (Drewes *et al.* 2002). It is one of the most dominant drugs in rivers, streams, and sewage treatment plants (STP) effluents,

reaching concentrations up to $6.3 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ (Ternes 1998), in even well-treated domestic effluents such as nitrification/de-nitrification plants as well as plants involving microfiltration (Drewes *et al.* 2002). This pharmaceutical passes untransformed through the CAS treatment systems (Radjenović *et al.* 2009), and has been observed to be recalcitrant with quite low biodegradability (Hai *et al.* 2011).

Ibuprofen is third highest consumed pharmaceutical worldwide being an anti-inflammatory drug for the treatment of fever, muscle aches, and menstrual cramps (Skoumal *et al.* 2009). For that, it has been widely detected, especially in sewage and rivers, reaching concentrations up to 85 μ g L⁻¹ (Farré *et al.* 2001), due to its low absorption and metabolism in the human body (Behera *et al.* 2012). Ibuprofen affects the growth of duck weed *Lemna minor* and exhibits toxicity to some microorganisms in the aquatic environment such as *Daphnia magna* reproduction. It is reported to be highly removed (>90%) in CAS, but the removal is dependent on the retention time in STPs, where less than 30% removal of ibuprofen was observed with shorter solids (< 5 days) and hydraulic (< 9 hours) retention times (Nakada *et al.* 2006). Its high removal is due to its high biodegradability but its principal metabolites, hydroxy- and carboxy-ibuprofen, are not both similarly removed, as hydroxy-ibuprofen is persistent (Heberer 2002). Moreover, its high initial concentration, often above the removal capacity of wastewater treatment plants, makes it a target organic pollutant.

Triclosan is an antibacterial pharmaceutically active compound largely used in toothpastes, soaps, cosmetics, and other personal care products (Nfodzo and Choi 2011). The potential estrogenic effects of triclosan and its toxicity to some aquatic organisms raised public and regulatory concern (Nfodzo and Choi 2011, Song *et al.* 2012). Due to the wide use of this antibacterial, it has been very widely detected at concentrations reaching to 21.9 μ g L⁻¹ (Sabaliunas *et al.* 2003). Triclosan removal in wastewater treatment plants is reported to largely vary from 10% to 95% depending on the treatment used. For instance, its removal depends on the oxygen levels and thus it is highly removed in activated sludge and MBR plants (>90%) where aeration is involved and when hydraulic retention times exceeding 15 hours (Thompson *et al.* 2005, Tadkaew *et al.* 2011).

X-ray contrast media such as diatrizoate and iopromide, which are tri-iodated benzene derivatives, are the most intensively used chemicals in hospitals for producing an enhanced image of the soft tissues (Moreau *et al.* 1989). Their world-wide annual consumption was estimated to be around 3,500 tons (Putschew *et al.* 2000) with 130 tons per year in Germany only (Steger-Hartmann *et al.* 1999). They have been detected in substantial quantities in hospital wastewater (Gartiser *et al.* 1996, Pauwels and Verstraete 2006), municipal wastewater (Oleksy-Frenzel *et al.* 2000), as well as in groundwater (Sacher *et al.* 2001), surface waters (Ternes and Hirsch 2000), and sewage treatment plants effluents

(Wischnack *et al.* 1998) with concentrations exceeding 1.0 mg L⁻¹ (Velo-Gala *et al.* 2013). Diatrizoate, for instance, has been reported to be a very persistent iodinated contrast media showing no or minimal degradation with activated sludge (Kalsch 1999, Haiß and Kümmerer 2006) or retention in soil filters (Tondera *et al.* 2013). Removal of diatrizoate was studied using membranes (Gur-Reznik *et al.* 2011), coagulation/flocculation (Seitz *et al.* 2006), as well as activated carbon (Velo-Gala *et al.* 2013) without any significant removal.

2.2 Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs) for Removal of Organic Compounds

The biological treatment technologies, such as activated sludge processes, are incapable of efficiently degrading persistent organic contaminants such as pesticides, dyes, diatrizoate, aniline, carbamazepine, and several phenolic compounds (Marrot *et al.* 2006). Chemical oxidation techniques such as ozonation and advanced oxidation processes (e.g., using Fenton reagent) have been studied for degrading pharmaceuticals and contrast media, reporting high removal capabilities (Huber *et al.* 2003, Wadley and Waite 2004).

Advanced oxidation processes are chemical oxidation techniques that are characterized by *in-situ* generation of highly reactive radicals, principally 'OH radicals, in order to oxidize organic and inorganic compounds in water treatment processes (Glaze *et al.* 1987). These technologies have attracted wide attention due to their promising ability and efficiency in the destruction and removal of trace organic contaminants (Matilainen and Sillanpää 2010). The main characteristic of the AOPs is that they do not collect or transfer pollutants into another phase but effectively degrade and possibly mineralize them, while operating near ambient conditions of temperature and pressure (Matilainen and Sillanpää 2010).

The oxidation ability of AOPs in the removal of recalcitrant and natural organic matter (NOM) is not sufficient to promote AOPs as independent "stand-alone" technologies (Brillas *et al.* 2009). AOPs are reported to be relatively inefficient to treat contaminated water with very high concentrations of organic matter ($> 5,000 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$), as most of such organic matter would be typically biodegradable, and cheaper to treat via the conventional processes. They are only applied when conventional oxidation treatments are not effective in removal of persistent organic pollutants. Thus, the need for coupling AOPs with conventional wastewater treatment technologies is inevitable (Pera-Titus *et al.* 2004).

2.2.1 Hydroxyl Radicals-based Advanced Oxidation Processes

The major oxygen-containing intermediates produced in AOPs are hydroxyl radicals, which are reported to be among the most powerful oxidants (Matilainen and Sillanpää 2010). With an oxidation potential of 2.38 - 2.80 V vs SHE (Parsons 2004), hydroxyl radicals are described to be non-selective reactive oxidants with a wide range of organic pollutants.

One of the most efficient AOPs is Fenton reagent, which consists of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) activated with ferrous ions (Fe²⁺). Fenton reaction shows that hydroxyl radicals can be generated by the reaction of Fe²⁺ with H_2O_2 while producing ferric ion (Fe³⁺) and hydroxide (**Eq. 2.1**).

(Eq. 2.1)
$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow OH + Fe^{3+} + OH^-$$

The major drawback of the Fenton process is that it is very pH-dependant and therefore requires large amounts of acids to control pH and maintain it ideally below pH 3. Besides pH, the removal rate is controlled by various operating parameters such as dosage of H_2O_2 and ferrous ions. Experimental results show that high initial concentrations of H_2O_2 and Fe^{2+} , as well as low initial pH are the optimal conditions. Hence, another drawback is the addition of large amounts of chemicals required, especially of iron salts, and these chemicals contribute to the formation of waste sludge that needs to be further treated.

Ozonation has been reported to successfully oxidize many persistent organic contaminants directly or via the formation of hydroxyl radicals (Huber *et al.* 2003, Huber *et al.* 2005). Ozone can be combined with TiO₂ in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (O₃ / H₂O₂ / TiO₂) or UV (O₃ / UV/ TiO₂) where both have proven to cause substantial generation of 'OH radicals (Matilainen and Sillanpää 2010). However, in dark heterogeneous catalysis, both O₃/TiO₂ and H₂O₂/O₃/TiO₂ showed lower oxidation with lower oxidation synergy observed in O₃/TiO₂ (Mosteo *et al.* 2009). Nevertheless, ozonation is a selective process, where ibuprofen in ozonation is highly persistent because of the absence of any functional groups in ibuprofen to react with ozone (i.e., its low kinetics with ozone (*k* = 9.1 M s⁻¹)). On the other side, although DEET and ozone both are electron-withdrawing, DEET is highly removed in wastewater treatments incorporating ozone (Westerhoff *et al.* 2005). This suggests that ozone is causing the removal of DEET via hydroxyl radicals intermediates not via direct oxidation. This was supported by Zhang and Lemley (2006) showing an effective removal using anodic Fenton treatment as well. Nonetheless, the removal of diatrizoate was studied using ozonation (Ternes *et al.* 2003, Huber *et al.* 2005), Fenton and photo-Fenton techniques (Real *et al.* 2009), as well as several other oxidative (Sugihara *et al.* 2013) and reductive techniques (Zwiener *et al.* 2009, Mu *et al.* 2010) including sequential reduction and oxidation process (Radjenovic *et al.* 2013). In almost all studies, diatrizoate was slightly removed with no complete mineralization observed, where the reported by-products were of higher toxicity compared to the original compound itself.

2.2.2 Sulfate Radicals-based Advanced Oxidation Processes

Hydroxyl radicals are not the only strong oxidizing agents that can be employed although 'OH-based AOPs are considered to be the most widespread. Sulfate radicals (SO₄[•]) are also very strong oxidizing agents that are characterized by an oxidation potential of E^{o} = 2.5 – 3.1 V vs SHE (Zhao *et al.* 2010), compared to 'OH (E^{o} = 2.4 – 2.8 V vs SHE). The high efficiency of the SO₄[•] in mineralizing organic pollutants has drawn a lot of attention recently in the areas of water treatment and in situ chemical oxidation (ISCO) for remediating soil and groundwater (Xiang-Rong Xu 2012). Sulfate radicals have been reported to be effective in the destruction of a wide range of organic compounds present in subsurface soils and groundwater, such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) (Anipsitakis and Dionysiou 2004); polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Liang and Bruell 2008); as well as volatile organic compounds (VOCs) (Block *et al.* 2004), and non-VOCs (Liang *et al.* 2003).

Pesticides and herbicides such as atrazine and 2,4-D have been reported to be significantly oxidized by sulfate radicals (Deng *et al.* 2012). Its oxidizing capability to degrade 2,4-D as well as its major by-product, 2,4-dichlorophenol (2,4-DCP), is considered a superiority over conventional AOPs because 2,4-DCP is a carcinogenic and toxic contaminant that is not removed in conventional AOPs (Anipsitakis and Dionysiou 2004). Moreover, its oxidation capabilities were also reported in the removal of many pharmaceuticals such as anti-bacterial agents (e.g. triclosan), antibiotics, and other drugs such as acetaminophen, carbamazepine, and sulfamethazole (Nfodzo and Choi 2011).

SO₄[•] radicals are described to be a more selective oxidizing agent than 'OH radicals because most reactions of SO₄[•] with organic pollutants involve electron transfer, whereas the non-selective 'OH radicals also react with organics by hydrogen abstraction or addition (Zemel and Fessenden 1978, Khursan *et al.* 2008, Matta *et al.* 2011). This selectivity was observed in the degradation of atenolol (Murugananthan *et al.* 2011), orange II (Chen and Chen 2006), as well as 2,4-DCP, atrazine, and naphthalene (Anipsitakis and Dionysiou 2003). In the latter work for instance, Anipsitakis and Dionysiou (2003) studied the removal of the three compounds, 2,4-DCP, atrazine, and naphthalene, using sulfate radicals or hydroxyl radicals at similar pH values and molar concentrations, and their results showed that 2,4-DCP and atrazine are more degraded with SO₄^{•-} radicals compared to 'OH

radicals, but not naphthalene which was not degraded by SO_4^{-} radicals. This indicates that SO_4^{-} radicals can be more effective than 'OH radicals depending on the structure of the target contaminant where they showed affinity towards atenolol, 2,4-DCP, and atrazine, whereas no role was observed in the oxidation of orange II and naphthalene.

Generation of sulfate radicals in most of these reported AOPs is accomplished through the chemical activation of peroxydisulfate ion, also known shortly as persulfate ($S_2O_8^{2-}$), or peroxymonosulfate (PMS), with both: its mono-anion form (HSO₅⁻, pH of 6 to 8), and its di-anion form (SO₅²⁻, pH \ge 11) (Guan *et al.* 2011, Zhang *et al.* 2014).

Persulfate (PS) is the most recent form of oxidizing agents employed in the field of environmental applications, where mineralization of organic contaminants is required for cyanide removal, dye oxidation, fibre whitening, and many other industrial applications (Serrano *et al.* 2002). Persulfate anion ($S_2O_8^{2-}$) with its potential of $E^o= 2.01V$ is a stronger oxidant than hydrogen peroxide ($E^o= 1.76$ V) and surpasses several strong oxidants for its easy storage and transport as well as high stability and solubility at ambient temperature, which promotes its use for remediating contaminated soils and groundwater because of its stability during travel time (Xiang-Rong Xu 2012).

However, at ambient temperature and pH, the oxidation kinetics of persulfate are relatively slow with most organic compounds compared to 'OH and SO₄^{•-} radicals (Latimer 1952, Brillas *et al.* 2009). Therefore, the need for activation steps to transform the $S_2O_8^{2-}$ ions into the more powerful oxidizing agent SO₄^{•-} radicals (E^o= 2.5 – 3.1 V vs SHE) is essential to accelerate its oxidation performance in environmental applications.

The production of sulfate radicals requires the activation of persulfate to induce its decomposition into sulfate radicals as well as other reactive intermediates under certain conditions, where every persulfate anion produces one or two SO_4^{\bullet} radicals depending on the activation conditions. Heat, high pH, UV radiation, as well as the addition of transition metals or H_2O_2 are the most commonly used activation factors (Zhao *et al.* 2010).

The term *activated persulfate* usually denotes the sum of several reactive intermediate species generated from the activation of persulfate, with SO_4^{-} radicals and 'OH radicals being the major generated intermediates (Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010).

2.2.2.1 Thermal activation and UV-light activation of PS and PMS

Persulfate can be activated to decompose into sulfate radicals by heat, and such thermal activation has been reported at temperatures ranging from 35°C to 130°C (Xiang-Rong Xu 2012). In addition, peroxymonosulfate produces both radicals, SO4⁻ and 'OH when the system is heated. The degradation efficiency order between PS and PMS is dependent on the structure of the oxidant being investigated (Antoniou *et al.* 2010, Yang *et al.* 2010). Thermally activated persulfate was reported with high efficiencies in oxidizing organic compounds such as chlorinated ethenes, trichloroethanes, BTEX, as well as several volatile organic carbons, VOCs (Xiang-Rong Xu 2012). In addition, the generation of sulfate radicals can also take place by the activation of persulfate or peroxymonosulfate via irradiating the system with UV radiation, mostly of wavelengths below 270 nm (Zhao and Li 2006, Li *et al.* 2008, Criquet and Leitner 2009, Guan *et al.* 2011). Yet, the thermal activation and UV-activation is very cost-intensive, requiring high energy input and not applicable for *in-situ* chemical oxidation of chemicals in natural systems and soils.

(Eq. 2.2)	$S_2O_8^{2-} + heat / hv$	\rightarrow	2 SO ₄ •-
(Eq. 2.3)	$HSO_5^-/SO_5^{2-} + heat / hv$	\rightarrow	SO_4 + OH

2.2.2.2 Alkaline activation (high pH)

Under acidic pH, the decomposition of $S_2O_8^{2-}$ into HSO_5^- and H_2O_2 also occurs, where these two oxidants are more reactive with some organic contaminants and are kinetically faster than persulfate. When high pH is combined with heat or UV radiation, both radicals can be generated: SO_4^{--} radicals are produced from PS and PMS, while H_2O_2 gets activated and breaks down into two 'OH radicals where both radicals contribute significantly to the higher organics oxidation.

(Eq. 2.4)	$S_2O_8^{2-} + H_2O$	\rightarrow	$SO_4^{2-} + H_2SO_5$
(Eq. 2.5)	$H_2SO_5 + H_2O$	\rightarrow	$H_2SO_4 + H_2O_2$
(Eq. 2.6)	$S_2O_8^{2-} + H_2O_2 + (heat/hv)$	\rightarrow	2 SO4 ^{•-} +2 •OH

Nonetheless, as pH increases, the activation of persulfate becomes more effective and the production of radicals increases. The buffering capacity (i.e., mole ratio of pH modifier to persulfate) should be taken into consideration as it plays an important role in the activation efficiency (Block *et al.* 2004). The mechanism of this alkaline activation of persulfate into sulfate free radicals was proposed by Furman *et al.* (2010).

(Eq. 2.7)
$$2S_2O_8^{2-} + 2H_2O \rightarrow SO_4^{-} + 3SO_4^{2-} + 4H^+ + O_2^{-}$$

Once the SO₄^{•-} radicals are generated, a large chain of reactions is initiated with strong kinetic competition. On one side, SO₄^{•-} radicals contribute to the formation of 'OH radicals, where this radical inter-conversion is very pH-dependent, and the 'OH formation increases substantially at high pH. On another side occurring simultaneously, SO₄^{•-} radicals initiate rapid oxidation reactions of organic contaminants existing in the aqueous solution (Liang *et al.* 2003). Moreover, the 'OH radicals also contribute to the rapid oxidation reactions of organic contaminants. Therefore, a strong kinetic competition takes place between (i) the 'OH formation via SO₄^{•-} radicals, (ii) the oxidation of organic contaminants via 'OH radicals.

(Eq. 2.8) All
$$pH: SO_4^{-} + H_2O \rightarrow SO_4^{2-} + OH + H^+$$
; k<2×10⁻³ s⁻¹ (Pennington and Haim 1968)

(Eq. 2.9) High pH:
$$SO_4^{-} + OH^{-} \rightarrow SO_4^{2-} + OH^{-}$$
; $k = 6.5 \times 10^7 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ (Hayon *et al.* 1972)

Hence, the major factors controlling this competition are the pH and the nature of organic contaminants. Under acidic and neutral pH conditions, the degradation of the organic contaminants occurs predominantly via SO₄⁻⁻ radicals, which are more dominant in the aqueous solution. This is mainly because the reaction rate constant of conversion of SO₄⁻⁻ radicals into 'OH radicals is only 2×10^{-3} s⁻¹ which is small compared to reaction rates of SO₄⁻⁻ with organic contaminants such as phenolic compounds (Norman *et al.* 1970). In addition, under alkaline conditions, the transformation of SO₄⁺⁻ into 'OH is very high with a reaction rate constant of 6.5×10^7 M⁻¹ s⁻¹, and thus 'OH radicals are more dominant for organic oxidation at high pH.

2.2.2.3 Transition metal activation

Sulfate radicals can be also generated from the decomposition of persulfate in the presence of transition metal activators such as iron, cobalt, silver, copper, manganese, and cerium at room temperatures (Huie and Clifton 1990, Watts and Teel 2006, Ahad and Slater 2008, Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010, Matta *et al.* 2011, Rivas *et al.* 2012). Ferrous ion (Fe²⁺) and cobalt ion (Co²⁺) are the most widely studied metal activators, with the former being used most.

(Eq. 2.10)
$$S_2O_8^{2-} + M^{n+} \rightarrow SO_4^{--} + SO_4^{2-} + M^{(n+1)+}$$

Higher removal of organic contaminants such as triclosan, sulfamethoxazole, and acetaminophen was reported in PMS/Fe ions compared to PS/Fe (Nfodzo and Choi 2011). However, substituting Fe²⁺ with Co²⁺ when employing HSO₅⁻ showed even higher removal of triclosan and sulfamethoxazole, as well as DEET (Tay *et al.* 2013), with both oxidants, where the optimum ratio was observed with concentration ratio 1:5:5 for triclosan: PMS: Co²⁺ (Nfodzo and Choi 2011, Nfodzo and Choi 2011).

The stoichiometric ratio of PS (or PMS) and metallic ions plays an important role (Zhao *et al.* 2010, Nfodzo and Choi 2011, Rivas *et al.* 2012). For instance, in the case of ferrous ion catalysis of persulfate, excess Fe^{2+} scavenges SO_4^{-} radicals and produces the undesired Fe^{3+} and SO_4^{2-} . Therefore, to avoid the combined loss of metal activator and scavenging of the SO_4^{-} radicals, ferrous ions should be added in small amounts and in a slow, gradual mode if possible (Huie and Clifton 1990, Watts and Teel 2006, Ahad and Slater 2008).

Moreover, pH is limited to the acidic values (i.e., pH < 3) when working with ferrous ions, due to the precipitation of iron hydroxide (Fe(OH)₃) or hydrous ferric oxide (Fe₂O₃ · nH₂O) at higher pH (Liang *et al.* 2009), and thus maintaining an acidic pH is required (Liang *et al.* 2009, Ahmad *et al.* 2011).

$$(Eq. 2.11) S_2O_8^{2-} + Fe^{2+} \rightarrow SO_4^{-} + SO_4^{2-} + Fe^{3+}$$

$$(Eq. 2.12) SO_4^{-} + Fe^{2+} \rightarrow SO_4^{2-} + Fe^{3+}$$

Zhao et al., (Zhao *et al.* 2010) and Tsitonaki et al. (Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010) investigated the production of the sulfate radicals in the presence of zero-valent iron (ZVI) at ambient temperature in ZVI-PS system and observed promising removal rates of organic contaminants. The zero valent iron is already a solid so its usage eliminates the concern associated with the iron precipitation and provides a larger pH window for the iron activation of persulfate.

 $(Eq. 2.13) \qquad \qquad S_2O_8^{2-} + Fe^0 \qquad \rightarrow \qquad 2SO_4^{2-} + Fe^{2+}$

2.2.2.4 Integrated activation systems

Coupling of persulfate UV photolysis with thermal activation or other activators such as high pH and/or transition metals have been reported to increase the activation efficiency (Xiang-Rong Xu 2012). When working in a combined system of high pH and /UV, the SO₄⁻⁻ and 'OH generated from peroxymonosulfate increases as pH increases in the range of 8 - 10. However, SO₄⁻⁻ concentration

decreases and 'OH concentration increases if the oxidation kinetics of the organic compound with the sulfate radical are low, especially with pH above 10 (Guan et al. 2011). Therefore, in these integrated systems, and when SO_4^{+} is stronger oxidant than 'OH, depending on the organic contaminants targeted in the oxidation process, it is essential to minimize the conversion reaction of SO_4^{+} into 'OH, in order to maintain higher degradation of the organic pollutants via maintaining the high concentrations of the stronger oxidant. For instance, the superiority of SO_4^{+} over 'OH for carbamazepine degradation was validated by Matta *et al.* (2011) who compared SO_4^{+} generated from PMS/Co²⁺ to 'OH generated from Fenton's reagent (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺), proving the former to be more efficient. This comparison promotes peroxymonosulfate as a better option than H₂O₂ due to its higher effectiveness in mineralization of organic pollutants, although it is not as environmentally friendly and as cheap compared to H₂O₂, and not easier to transport compared to H₂O₂.

2.3 Electrochemical processes for wastewater treatment

The electrochemical advanced oxidation processes (EAOPs) such as anodic oxidation (AO), have shown great capabilities in mimicking the performance of traditional AOPs and even surpassing them in water treatment (Chen 2004, Anglada *et al.* 2009, Brillas *et al.* 2009, Kapałka *et al.* 2010). The electrochemical advanced oxidation processes are defined as processes in which an electric current is supplied to the electrochemical reactor to trigger chemical reactions that generate *in-situ* reactive species (e.g., hydroxyl radicals, superoxide radicals) to drive oxidation and reduction (redox) reactions (Zhao and Li 2006, Garrido *et al.* 2007, Ahad and Slater 2008, Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010). The remarkable ability of these non-selective electrochemical processes to generate *in-situ* oxidizing species such as 'OH radicals from the feed water and/or electrolytes without the extensive addition of chemicals, provides these processes an advantage over conventional AOPs in the water treatment field, such as pharmaceuticals removal (Garrido *et al.* 2007, Yu *et al.* 2014), decontamination of dyes (Costa *et al.* 2009, Brillas and Martínez-Huitle 2015) as well as phenol destruction (Iniesta *et al.* 2001, Wang *et al.* 2009).

The advancement in the electricity production from solar and wind energy further endorses the EAOPs implementation because of the easy availability and accessibility of electric power generated from such energy resources in isolated locations and without the need to periodic chemicals transportation. The principal advantages and disadvantages of EAOPs for environmental applications compared to conventional AOPs are summarized in **Table 2.1** (Jüttner *et al.* 2000, Anglada *et al.* 2009, Sirés and Brillas 2012).

 Table 2.1 The major characteristics and drawback of electrochemical advanced oxidation processes

 (EAOPs) (Jüttner *et al.* 2000, Anglada *et al.* 2009, Sirés and Brillas 2012)

ELODs Characteristics	EAODa Drowboolya	
(1) Relative environmental compatility and	(1) Mass transfer initiations:	
minimal use of chemicals:	- its efficiency depends on the reactor	
- its main reagent is the electron which is a	design and size of electrode surface	
clean reagent, generating reactive species <i>in</i> -	area.	
situ.		
(ii) Versatility, robustness and easy handling:	(ii) Potential electrode fouling:	
- it is a simple operation and requires quite	- the formed by-products may	
basic equipment.	accumulate on the electrode surface	
- it is highly controllable with operational	causing an anode passivation and/or	
parameters easily modified to minimise side	cathode scaling	
reactions and to suit different contaminants	- this fouling can cause loss of activity,	
and wastewater characteristics.	lowered durability, and shortening of	
- it can be terminated easily by cutting off the	the long-term stability of electrode	
nower and restarted quickly after fixing the	material	
onerational issue	muonui	
operational issue.		
(iii) Safety and high energy efficiency:	(iii) Potential high operating cost:	
- it operates at ambient conditions of pressure	- it requires adding electrolytes +	
and temperature	regulating pH if conductance is low.	
- its operational parameters are easily	and high energy input for heavily	
modified to reduce nower losses	nolluted water	
mounted to reduce power rosses.		
(iv) Amenability to automation:	(iv) Batch mode operation:	
- its data acquisition, and process automation	- it usually works only in batch mode to	
are easily controlled by the current and	achieve high removal percentages.	
potential.		
(v) Compatibility and compact design:	(v) Formation of by-products:	
- it can be easily scaled up and combined with	- the potential production of more bio-	
existing treatment plants or applied in	recalcitrant and/or toxic by-products,	
isolated communities to chemically and	especially where high chlorine content	
pathogenically treat water sources.	is employed.	
F		

2.3.1 Mechanisms of electrochemical oxidation and importance of electrode material

The electrochemical oxidation reactions of the organic pollutants are reported to occur via different mechanisms, taking place either on the electrode surface, in the bulk solution, or simultaneously co-occurring in both (Rao and Venkatarangaiah 2014). The direct electrochemical oxidation, also known as "anodic oxidation", denotes the oxidation process taking place directly at or very close to the anode, whereas the indirect electrochemical oxidation refers to the electrochemical reactions occurring in the bulk solution. The electrode material is an important factor directing the mechanism, where high catalytic activity towards organic pollutant degradation and low activity towards oxygen evolution are the major desired electrode characteristics in electrochemical oxidation of organic compounds (Chen 2004, Anglada *et al.* 2009).

Electrodes are classified into two categories, active or non-active electrodes, depending on the interaction between the electrode and 'OH radicals (Martinez-Huitle and Ferro 2006). This electrode nature dictates the value of the oxygen overpotential which is defined as the difference between the thermodynamic value for oxygen production and the voltage at which oxygen evolution starts to take place at this electrode (Chen 2004).

The active electrodes are characterized by strong electrode-hydroxyl radical interaction, which signifies a low oxidation power anode (i.e., low overpotential for oxygen evolution). Examples of active electrodes are stainless steel, IrO₂, Pt, RuO₂, which are characterized by low concentration of active sites on the anode surface and high concentration of oxygen-vacancies in their oxide lattice (i.e., higher oxidation states are available for MO_{x+1}). Most of these active electrodes are characterized by low oxygen overpotential (**Table 2.2**), and have been reported to be ineffective for anodic oxidation of organic compounds at high current densities (Anglada *et al.* 2009).

In non-active electrodes, the electrode–'OH interactions are relatively weak, and these are therefore described as poor catalysts for O_2 generation because they possess a high overpotential for oxygen evolution. Among the most common non-active electrodes are PbO₂, SnO₂ and most importantly boron doped diamond (BDD). The BDD electrodes are typically non-active electrodes with a weak M–'OH interaction, where the major merit of BDD electrodes is that they possess a very high oxidation potential compared to other electrode materials (2.2 – 2.7 V vs. SHE, depending on the base material, Si or Ti).

This high oxidation potential combined with being very conductive materials and hence yielding high current efficiencies, promotes the outstanding performance of BDD for the fast and complete oxidation of organic contaminants. These non-active electrodes are preferred over active electrodes in the field of electrochemical wastewater treatments because they are capable of completely oxidizing and mineralizing organic compounds while generating less O₂, and thus enhancing the anodic process efficiency attributed to higher current efficiency for oxidation of organic pollutants, and minimizing energy losses.

The active electrode promotes the formation of the chemically-adsorbed active oxygen, leading to the partial oxidation of organic pollutants. In contrast, the formation of the physically-adsorbed active oxygen is dictated by the non-active electrode, leading ultimately to the complete oxidation and mineralization of organic pollutants into CO₂.

Table 2.2 The oxidation potential (V vs SHE) for oxygen evolution of different electrode materials in acidic media, as well as their trend of the adsorption type and anodic oxidation power (Chen 2004, Comninellis *et al.* 2008, Anglada *et al.* 2009, Comninellis and Chen 2010).

Electrode Material	Oxidation Potential, V vs SHE	Trend of Adsorption Type and Oxidation power
Si/BDD, Ti/BDD, DiaChem	2.2 – 2.7	More physically adsorbed active oxygen & higher anodic oxidation power
Pb – Sn (93:7)	2.5	$ \land \dot{ \sqcap} $
TiO ₂ (Ebonex ®)	2.2	
$SnO_2 - Sb_2O_5$	1.9 – 2.2	
PbO ₂	1.8 – 2.0	
Graphite	1.7	
IrO_2 - Ta_2O_5 , RuO_2	1.4 - 1.8	More chemically adsorbed active
Pt	1.3 – 1.6	oxygen & lower anodic oxidation power

2.3.1.1 Physisorbed active oxygen and chemisorbed active oxygen

The first stage in the electro-oxidation of pollutants occurs via the generation of the "active oxygen" transferred from water molecules to the surface of the electrode, denoted as (M), to form physicallyadsorbed 'OH radicals, denoted as M('OH), which is defined as a higher oxide anode. The reactivity of the M('OH) intermediate depends on the electrode nature being active or non-active, where the electrode nature plays a major role in determining the extent of the oxidation of the pollutants.

When the electrode is non-active, the interaction between the electrode and 'OH is weak, and further interaction beyond M('OH) is unfavored. Thus, direct mineralization of the organic pollutants takes place via the direct attack of M('OH) on the organic matter (R) to oxidize it completely into CO₂.

(Eq. 2.14)	$M+H_2O$	\rightarrow	$M(^{\bullet}OH) + H^{+} + e^{-}$
(Eq. 2.15)	M(' OH) + R	\rightarrow	$M + mCO_2 + nH_2O + H^+ + e^-$

If the electrode is active, the electrode-'OH interaction is strong and thus the overpotential for oxygen evolution is low. Thus, after the formation of the first higher oxide anode, M ('OH), the strong interaction between the electrode and 'OH encourages the further oxidation of M('OH) into a higher oxidation oxide anode, MO. The chemisorbed active oxygen is defined as oxygen in the oxide lattice, MO_{x+1} , where the physisorbed active oxygen, M('OH), is oxidized into a higher oxide anode, MO.

The chemisorbed active oxygen, MO, reacts with the organic species to transform it into an oxidation product (RO). It is noted that MO acts as a mediator and reacts in a selective manner, leading to partial oxidation of the reactants. The accumulation of the by-products leads to a 'poisoning effect' on the electrode surface.

Both physisorbed and chemisorbed active oxygen reactions are in competition with oxygen evolution side reactions which cause both active oxygen species, MO and M($^{\circ}OH$), to decompose. Evolution of oxygen (O₂) is considered unfavored limiting reaction because it decreases the efficiency of anodic process and results in energy loss. The different pathways of electrochemical oxidation in both active and non-active electrodes as well as the oxygen evolution side reactions of both cases and the poisoning effect of the active electrode cases are illustrated in **Figure 2.1**.

(Eq. 2.19)
$$M(^{\circ}OH) \rightarrow M + \frac{1}{2}O_2 + H^+ + e^{-2}$$

(Eq. 2.20) MO
$$\rightarrow$$
 M + $\frac{1}{2}$ O₂

2.3.1.1 Other indirect electrochemical oxidation besides 'OH

Besides OH, the indirect electrochemical oxidation takes place in the bulk of the solution, mainly in the vicinity of the electrode surface, by different mediated oxidation reactions, triggered through various electrochemically generated oxidants (Anglada *et al.* 2009). Anodes characterized with high overpotential for oxygen evolution reaction (OER) can generate stable *in-situ* generated chemical oxidants such as ozone, persulphate, percarbonate, and perphosphate, which play an important role in mediating the transfer of the electrons from the electrode surface and the organic compounds. As explained earlier, ozone is a strong oxidant widely used in water disinfection and can be generated electrochemically via anodic oxidation (Seitz *et al.* 2006). Its high oxidation potential allows intense oxidation of organic pollutants while disintegrating into oxygen molecules.
Percarbonate ($C_2O_6^{2-}$), perphosphate ($P_2O_8^{4-}$) and persulphate ($S_2O_8^{2-}$) are also powerful mediators in the indirect oxidation of organics, where persulfate is considered the next-generation AOP due to the formation of the very strong oxidizing sulphate radical (SO_4^{--}), receiving growing attention recently in the field of remediation of organically and inorganically contaminated groundwater as well as soils.

(Eq. 2.23)
$$2CO_3^{2-} \rightarrow C_2O_6^{2-} + 2e^{-1}$$

(Eq. 2.24)
$$2PO_4^{3-} \rightarrow P_2O_8^{4-} + 2 e^{-1}$$

(Eq. 2.25) $2SO_4^{2-} \rightarrow S_2O_8^{2-} + 2e^{-1}$



Figure 2.1 The different pathways of electrochemical oxidation in active and non-active electrodes in the anodic compartment, as well as the oxygen evolution side reactions and the poisoning effect (fouling) on the anode surface.

2.4 Electrochemical Formation of Persulfate

Peroxydisulfuric acid (H₂S₂O₈) or peroxydisulfate (S₂O₈²⁻) can be prepared electrochemically from sulfate anions on electrodes, characterized by high overpotential for oxygen evolution reaction such as BDD electrodes (Serrano *et al.* 2002, Khamis *et al.* 2010). The mechanism for the preparation of the persulfate has been explained to occur through direct oxidation on the BDD anode where it involves the oxidation of both species of sulfate, HSO₄⁻ and SO₄²⁻.

(Eq. 2.26)	2SO4 ²⁻	\rightarrow	$S_2O_8^{2-} + 2e^{-}$	$\dot{E} = 2.010 \text{ V vs. SHE}$
(Eq. 2.27)	$2HSO_4^-$	\rightarrow	$S_2O_8^{2-} + 2H^+ + 2e^-$	$E^{\circ} = 2.123 V vs. SHE$

Recent studies incorporated the SO₄⁻ radicals in the formation process, along with the contribution of the electrochemically generated hydroxyl radicals in the formation of the persulfate (Serrano *et al.* 2002, Khamis *et al.* 2010, Davis *et al.* 2014, Davis *et al.* 2014). To date, there is no spectroscopic evidence of electrochemical formation of 'OH or SO₄⁻ at a BDD anode (Marselli *et al.* 2003, Bejan *et al.* 2012). Yet, the 'OH radical readily formed at BDD anodes has been proposed to react with HSO_4^- and H_2SO_4 , leading to $S_2O_8^{2-}$ formation (Caro 1898, Palme 1920, Kolthoff and Miller 1951).

(Eq. 2.28)	H_2O	\rightarrow	$^{\bullet}\mathrm{OH} + \mathrm{H}^{+} + e^{-}$
(Eq. 2.29)	$^{\circ}\text{OH} + \text{HSO}_{4}^{-}$	\rightarrow	SO_4 + H_2O
(Eq. 2.30)	$OH + H_2SO_4$	\rightarrow	SO_4 + $H_2O + H^+$
(Eq. 2.31)	$HSO_4^- + SO_4^{\bullet-}$	\rightarrow	$S_2O_8^{2-} + 2H^+ + 2e^-$
(Eq. 2.32)	$SO_4^{\bullet} + SO_4^{\bullet}$	\rightarrow	$S_2O_8^{2-}$

Khamis et al. (2010) could not prove the existence of free SO₄⁻⁻ radicals via their spectroscopic study, but suggested the formation of the intermediate, surface-adsorbed BDD(SO₄⁻⁻) radicals, which reacts with sulfate ions SO₄²⁻ to produce S₂O₈²⁻ and denied any production of free sulfate radicals. Moreover, Davis et al. (2014) reported that persulfate can be electro-generated via two pathways, (i) oxidation of sulfate ions into SO₄⁻⁻ radicals which occurs on BDD surface even before the water oxidation (**Eq. 2.33** – **2.36**), and (ii) indirect oxidation of sulfate ions via 'OH radicals to form sulfate radicals (**Eq. 2.29** – **2.30**). These sulfate radicals would consequently undergo subsequent oxidation of sulfate ions (**Eq. 2.31**) or recombination (**Eq. 2.32**) to form persulfate. In their DFT model, Davis *et al.* (2014) determined that the most favorable energetic pathway for the formation of persulfate is via sulfate radicals.

(Eq. 2.33)	\mathbf{SO}_4^{2-}	\rightarrow	$SO_4^{-} + e^{-}$
(Eq. 2.34)	HSO_4^-	\rightarrow	$SO_4^{-} + H^+ + e^-$
(Eq. 2.35)	HSO_4^-	\rightarrow	$HSO_4 + e^{-1}$
(Eq. 2.36)	H_2SO_4	\rightarrow	$HSO_4 + H^+ + e^-$

Therefore, since this sulfate radical formed as an intermediate in the persulfate formation is a strong oxidant itself, it can act as an oxidizing agent to react with organic compounds as a side reaction to persulfate formation. However, despite all these extensive mechanistic studies, electrogenerated

persulfate has been considered to contribute only to a minor extent to bulk oxidation since persulfate has slow oxidation kinetics with organic compounds in the absence of an activator. Sulfate electrolytes have been generally considered inert, and thus BDD electrooxidation mechanisms in the presence of sulfate have typically been interpreted by the action of 'OH not SO4' (Brillas *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Sirés *et al.* 2014).

Hence, it is important to investigate the possible contribution of the sulfate-based oxidizing agents that are potentially electro-generated in BDD-based electrochemical oxidation systems employing electrolytic solutions that contain sulfate ions, and elucidate their role in the oxidation of persistent organic chemicals and under various operating conditions.

2.5 Concluding Summary and Thesis Objectives

There has been increasing interest in recent years in electrooxidation to remove persistent organic contaminants from wastewater (Oturan 2014), especially using BDD anodes. This is because a BDD anode has high electrocatalytic activity towards organic oxidation via generating 'OH radicals, which are capable of oxidizing organic contaminants (Comninellis 1994, Chen *et al.* 2003). Most literature on electrochemical advanced oxidation processes focuses on the efficiency of the oxidation of numerous organic contaminants via hydroxyl radicals and examines the different possible methods of interaction between these oxidants and the investigated organic compounds. However, despite the published knowledge on the persulfate electro-formation from sulfate ions via the participation of sulfate radicals, there are no extensive studies focusing on the possible contribution of these electro-generated sulfate radicals to the electrochemical oxidation of the organic contaminants.

Since persulfate has slow oxidation kinetics with organic compounds in the absence of an activator, electrogenerated persulfate has been considered to contribute only to a minor extent to the bulk oxidation, and BDD electrooxidation mechanisms in the presence of sulfate have typically been interpreted by the action of 'OH not SO4⁺ radicals (Brillas *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Sirés *et al.* 2014). However, SO4⁺⁻ are strong oxidants with similar redox potential as 'OH radicals, and both radicals have been reported to react with many pharmaceuticals at comparable oxidation rates (Neta *et al.* 1977, Buxton *et al.* 1988, Rickman and Mezyk 2010, Matta *et al.* 2011). Thus, electrolysis of sulfate ions to sulfate radical species (HSO4⁺, SO4⁺⁻) may have a significant effect on the oxidation kinetics and degradation pathways of contaminants in electrochemical treatment of wastewater. Given that sulfate can be present in municipal and industrial wastewaters at significant

concentrations of several hundred mg L⁻¹ up to g L⁻¹ level (United-Nations-Environment-Programme 1990, Tchobanoglous *et al.* 2002, Sgroi *et al.* 2014), it is important to elucidate the role of sulfate ions in the electrooxidation processes at BDD anodes.

Therefore, the objective of this PhD project is to address the potential electrochemical oxidation of organic contaminants in the presence of sulfate ions via *in-situ* produced sulfate-based oxidizing species. The presence of such sulfate-based oxidants would demonstrate that the sulfate solutions used as electrolytes in electrochemical systems, might not be inert in the electrooxidation processes, contrary to what is assumed in literature. The evidence of the presence of these *in-situ* produced sulfate reactive oxidizing species, most likely to be SO_4^{\bullet} radicals, would also contribute to further understanding of the mechanism for the electrochemical degradation of persistent organic compounds at BDD anodes, using SO_4^{2-} ions as electrolytes. Hence, this study aimed to investigate the role of sulfate ions in the electrochemical oxidation of contaminants at BDD anodes by:

- Elucidating the potential participation of electrogenerated sulfate-based oxidizing species in electrochemical oxidation of persistent organic contaminants such as pharmaceuticals and pesticides,
- (ii) Exploring the effect of operating conditions governing the sulfate-based electrooxidation process such as anolyte concentration/conductivity and volume, as well as applied current density, besides examining the reactive life-time of these sulfate-based oxidants, and
- (iii) Studying the impact of the chloride ions on the sulfate-based electrooxidation process, and on the formation of organic and inorganic chlorinated by-products.

Chapter 4 of this work investigated the role of the sulfate ions in the higher electrooxidation rates of persistent organics observed in electrochemical treatment of contaminated water at BDD anodes. The aim was to elucidate the potential participation of electrogenerated sulfate reactive oxidizing species in electrooxidation of persistent organic contaminants, by comparing different anolyte types as well as testing several persistent organic compounds. Probe compounds were also investigated to provide further evidence for the electro-formation of sulfate-based oxidizing agents.

Chapter 5 studied the influence of the operating conditions governing the generation and contribution of the electro-chemically generated sulfate-based oxidants in the removal of a model compound, diatrizoate. The main operating parameters investigated in this study were the concentration/conductivity of the anolyte as well as the anodic current density and the volume of the anolyte solutions.

The characteristics of these oxidants and their potential extended reactive life-time were explored in Chapter 6. By applying intermittent electric current, the ongoing reaction of these longer-lived oxidants in the bulk liquid could be utilised as an option to reduce energy consumption. Delayed onbench quenching with methanol was also tested to further confirm the longevity of the sulfate-based oxidizing agents and to identify some of the governing parameters in more detail.

In Chapter 7, the effect of the presence of chloride ions was examined in different electrolyte solutions. Using sulfate and nitrate (as an inert control) electrolytes, prepared with the addition of varying concentrations of chloride, the electrochemical treatment of resorcinol, as a surrogate of natural organic matter, was studied. The potential inhibition effect exerted by chloride on sulfate-based removal and mineralization of resorcinol was examined. Furthermore, the effect of sulfate on the formation of organic chlorinated by-products as well as inorganic by-products such as chlorate and perchlorate was also studied.

Chapter 3: Major Research Methodology

This chapter presents the major research approach for this study including the materials and methods, covering all the results chapters. It includes a detailed description of the Reactor Design and Specifications (Section 3.1) as well as Chemicals and Reagents (Section 3.2). This chapter also describes the all the Chemical Analyses (Section 3.3) used in this study, including Liquid Chromatography - Mass Spectrometry (Section 3.3.1), High Performance Liquid Chromatography (Section 3.3.2), Ion Chromatography (Section 3.3.3) and Adsorbable Organic Chlorides (Section 3.3.4). It also details the procedure for the quantification of persulfate and hydrogen peroxide (Section 3.3.5). Sampling Procedure and Data Analysis (Section 3.4) are defined as well in this chapter, in addition to the Energy Consumption Estimation (Section 3.5).

3.1 Reactor Design and Specifications

The experiments were performed in a laboratory-scale plate-and-frame electrolytic cell, divided by a cation exchange membrane (CEM). The CEM (Ultrex CMI-7000, Membranes International, Ringwood, NJ, U.S.A.) was introduced into the cell configuration to divide the solution into anode half-cell (anolyte) and cathode half-cell (catholyte), where only the cations diffusion is permissible and the anions diffusion is halted. This modified configuration enables the separate investigation of the oxidation reaction mechanisms and avoids the reduction of the oxidized species at the cathode. The inter-electrode distance between the two electrodes was 3.5 cm, and the dimensions of the anodic or cathodic compartment were $20 \times 5 \times 2$ cm, and thus the net volume of the anodic and cathodic compartment was 200 mL each. A schematic diagram of the utilized reactor with its two-compartment electrochemical system is shown in **Figure 3.1** (noting that reactor dimensions in the figure are not up to scale).

Working electrode was DIACHEM® BDD (polycrystalline, 5µm thick, 1000–4000 ppm boron doping on monocrystalline niobium plate from one side only) purchased from Condias (Itzehoe, Germany), and stainless steel was used as the counter electrode. The BDD electrode dimensions were 4.8×8.5 cm with a thickness of around 2 mm, and the stainless steel electrode had roughly the same surface area of ~ 40 cm².

When the anodic compartment is filled with the anolyte solution in the absence of any flow, the fraction of the volume in the region above the anode is 60 mL and that below the anode is 55 mL as per the reactor configuration. The anolyte volume surrounding the anode is 85 mL, with 75 ml being between the BDD anode surface and the cation exchange membrane (i.e., active surface of the BDD anode), thus leaving only 10 mL of the anolyte volume on the other side of the BDD anode (i.e., the inactive niobium layer).

Prior to the experiments, the BDD electrode was polarized anodically for 2 h in 0.1 M H₂SO₄ at constant anodic potential of 3.0 V vs Standard Hydrogen Electrode (SHE). The reference electrode was a 3M Ag/AgCl (+0.210 V vs SHE), supplied by BASi (West Lafayette, IN, U.S.A.), which was placed in the proximity of the working electrode. Chronopotentiometric electrolysis experiments were conducted using a VSP potentiostat/ galvanostat, using an external booster channel (BioLogic, Claix, France).



Figure 3.1 Schematic diagram of the utilized reactor with its two-compartment electrochemical system, using stainless steel as the cathode and boron doped diamond as the anode

All electrochemical oxidation experiments were conducted at room temperature $(23 \pm 2 \text{ °C})$ in batch mode with anodic and cathodic flow rates of 200 mL min⁻¹. The change in temperature was found in the preliminary experiments to be insignificant as the system was vented, and thus temperature was not an influencing factor in this study. Anodic glassware used in chemical and electrochemical oxidation experiments were protected from light to halt any possible degradation occurring to effect of light. During most experiments, no pH control was conducted unless pH effect was being examined. In all cases, no buffer solutions were employed to avoid any possible contribution of the buffer constituents. The anodic reactions took place in the acidic range because of the acidic nature of the electrolytic solution and because the pH dropped very quickly in the anodic department due to the oxygen evolution reaction which produce H^+ along with O_2 . The anode chamber contained the target organic compounds dissolved in the electrolyte solution (sodium sulfate, nitrate, or perchlorate) prepared at different characteristics (concentration, conductivity, and pH). The cathodic chamber in all experiments contained the same electrolyte solution as the anolyte solution, with the same characteristics, but without any organic compounds.

3.2 Chemicals and Reagents

The target organic compounds investigated in this work were diatrizoate, carbamazepine, N,Ndiethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET), iopromide, tribromophenol, triclosan. **Table 3.1** presents the seven persistent organic compounds along with their molar masses, octanol-water partitioning coefficient (log K_{ow}), pK_a, as well as their chemical structures. Analytical standards for these target organic compounds as well as nitrobenzene and resorcinol were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Sodium sulfate (Na₂SO₄), sodium chloride (NaCl), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), *tert*butanol, were also purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Sodium nitrate (NaNO₃), sodium perchlorate (NaClO₄), potassium chlorate (KClO₃), and sodium hydroxide (NaOH) were purchased from Chem-Supply (Gillman, Australia). Sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄, 98%), hydrochloric acid (HCl, 32%) and solvents for liquid chromatography (acetonitrile, methanol) were purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). Potassium persulfate (K₂S₂O₈), nitric acid (HNO₃, 69%) and formic acid were purchased from Ajax Finechem (Auckland, New Zealand). Sodium bisulfite (NaHSO₃) was purchased from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). All solutions were prepared using analytical grade reagents and Milli-Q water.

3.3 Chemical Analysis

3.3.1 Liquid Chromatography - Mass Spectrometry

The target persistent organic compounds investigated in this study were analysed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC–MS/MS) using negative and positive electrospray ionization mode (ESI), on a Shimadzu Prominence ultrafast LC (UFLC) system (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) coupled with a 4000 QTRAP MS equipped with a Turbo Ion Spray Source (Applied Biosystems-Sciex, Foster City, CA, U.S.A.). Diatrizoate, carbamazepine, DEET, and iopromide were detected and quantified using the positive mode; whereas tribromophenol, triclopyr, and triclosan were quantified using the negative mode. The limit of detection was 1.0 μ g/L for all compounds. **Table 3.2** displays the conditions of the LC separation method and its gradient for both methods.

Table 3.1 The recalcitrant organic compounds investigated in this study along with their molar masses, octanol-water partitioning coefficient (log Kow), pK_a, and chemical structure. (The values are reported from the EPI-Suite v4.11 software)

Chemical Name	Molecular formula	Molar mass (g/mol)	Log Kow	pKa	Chemical Structure
Carbamazepine (CBZ)	C ₁₅ H ₁₂ N ₂ O	236.27	2.25	13.9	H ₂ N O
N,N-Diethyl- meta-toluamide (DEET)	C ₁₂ H ₁₇ NO	191.27	2.26	1.95	H ₃ C CH ₃
[Sodium] Diatrizoate (DTR)	C ₁₁ H ₉ I ₃ N ₂ O ₄	613.91	1.37	3.4	H_3C NH H CH_3 H_3C H
Iopromide (IPM)	C ₁₈ H ₂₄ I ₃ N ₃ O ₈	791.11	-2.49	9.9	
Tribromophenol (TBP)	C ₆ H ₃ Br ₃ O	330.80	4.18	6.8	OH Br Br Br
Triclopyr (TCPA)	C7H4Cl3NO3	256.46	2.53	2.7	
Triclosan (TCN)	C ₁₂ H ₇ Cl ₃ O ₂	289.54	4.66	8.1	
Resorcinol (RES)	C ₆ H ₆ O ₂	110.1	0.80	9.43	НОСОН

LC Separation Column	Alltima C18 Column (250×4.6 mm, particle size 5 μ m) from Alltech Associates Inc. (Deerfield, IL, USA)		
Temperature of Operation	40 °C		
Positive Mode	Eluent A: Aceto	nitrile with 0.1% formic acid	
Mobile Phase Solutions	Eluent B: HPLC	grade water with 0.1% formic acid	
	Time (min)	Pump B concentration (%)	
Gradient Method	0.50	5	
	5.00	60	
	15.00	90	
	15.00	100	
	17.00	100	
	18.00	5	
	23.00	5	
Negative Mode	Eluent A: Aceto	nitrile and methanol (1:1; v/v)	
Mobile Phase Solutions	<i>Eluent B:</i> HPLC grade water with 1mM ammonium acetate		
Cardiant Mathed	Time (min)	Pump B concentration (%)	
Gradient Method	0.50	95	
	7.00	10	
	10.00	10	
	12.00	0	
	15.00	0	
	16.00	95	
	21.00	95	

Table 3.2 Conditions of liquid chromatography (LC) separation method with the details of the employed gradient

The source-dependent parameters in the mass spectrometer (MS) were as follows: curtain gas (CUR), 30 V; nitrogen collision gas (CAD), high; source temperature (TEM), 700°C; ion source gases GS1 and GS2, 62 V; ion spray voltage, 5500 V, and entrance potential (EP), 10 V. The settings for the compound-dependent parameters of each transition are summarized in **Table 3.3**.

Q1 Mass (Da)	Q3 Mass (Da)	DP	CE	СХР
237.2	193.3	61	47	12
237.2	194.2	61	27	16
192.2	91.2	61	45	6
192.2	119.1	61	25	8
615	361	80	30	10
615	233.1	85	33	10
791.88	773.87	120	35	10
791.88	572.9	125	54	10
326.7	79	-90	-72	-10
328.7	81	-92	-72	-12
256.01	198	-55	-30	-10
254.01	196	-55	-30	-10
287	35.4	-40	-35	-7
289	37.4	-40	-35	-7
	Q1 Mass (Da) 237.2 237.2 192.2 192.2 615 615 791.88 791.88 326.7 328.7 256.01 254.01 287 289	Q1 Mass (Da)Q3 Mass (Da)237.2193.3237.2194.2192.291.2192.2119.1615361615233.1791.88773.87791.88572.9326.779328.781256.01198254.0119628735.428937.4	Q1 Mass (Da)Q3 Mass (Da)DP237.2193.361237.2194.261192.291.261192.2119.16161536180615233.185791.88773.87120791.88572.9125326.779-90328.781-92256.01198-55254.01196-5528735.4-4028937.4-40	Q1 Mass (Da)Q3 Mass (Da)DPCE237.2193.36147237.2194.26127192.291.26145192.2119.161256153618030615233.18533791.88773.8712035791.88572.912554326.779-90-72328.781-92-72256.01198-55-30254.01196-55-3028735.4-40-3528937.4-40-35

Table 3.3 The optimized compound-dependent mass spectrometry (MS) parameters: declustering potential (DP), collision energy (CE) and cell exit potential (CXP) for each compound and each transition of the negative and positive mode

3.3.2 High Performance Liquid Chromatography

Nitrobenzene and resorcinol were analysed by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) equipped with a diode array UV-detector (SPD-M10AVP) purchased from Shimadzu, Japan. An Alltima C₁₈ column (5 μ m; 4.6 × 250 mm) was operated at 35°C, with an isocratic mobile phase of methanol/water to elute the target compounds. Nitrobenzene was eluted using 1:1 methanol/water (v/v) at 1 mL min⁻¹, and detected at 254 nm; whereas, 0.125:0.875 methanol/water (v/v) was employed at 0.7 mL min⁻¹ to elute resorcinol which was detected at 266 nm. The injection volume in both methods was 40 μ L.

3.3.3 Ion Chromatography

The concentrations of NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, Cl⁻, ClO₃⁻, and ClO₄⁻ were determined by ion chromatography (IC) using Dionex ICS-2100 (Sunnyvale, CA), equipped with a DS6 heated conductivity detector (35° C). A potassium hydroxide (KOH) eluent was applied at flow rate of 1 mL min⁻¹, starting with 20 mM KOH for the first 6 minutes, then it was raised to 60 mM over 2 min, kept at 60 mM for 12 min, and then lowered straight to 20 mM and kept at 20 mM for 4 min (total analysis time 24 min). The injection volume was 25 µL and the separation was achieved with a Dionex IonPac AG19 (4 × 50 mm) guard and an IonPac AS19 separating column (4 × 250 mm), heated to 30°C.

3.3.4 Adsorbable Organic Chlorides (AOCl)

The total organic chlorides were determined by measuring the adsorbable organic halide (AOX) using AQF-2100H Shimadzu system (Japan) which involved an automatic quick furnace followed by a gas absorption unit and ending with IC system. The 30 mL samples were acidified with 10 µL of 70% nitric acid, unless already at pH 2. Then 10 mL of the sample was used to flush/purge the system, before concentrating another 10 mL of the sample on two consecutive activated carbon cartridges (40 mg activated carbon per glass column with 2 mm inner diameter; CPI International, California, USA) using the Mitsubishi TX-3AA Adsorption Module. The enriched cartridges were then washed with 10 mL of 8.2 g L⁻¹ potassium nitrate (KNO₃; \geq 99% purity; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) and 1 mL MilliQ water to remove inorganic halides, followed by drying the cartridge via injecting 5 mL air into the cartridges. Then the enriched activated carbon collected after the Adsorption Module step was combusted into hydrogen chloride gas in the automatic quick furnace AQF-2100 in the presence of oxygen for 4 - 5 min at 1000°C. The produced halide gas was absorbed in the gas adsorption unit GA-210 with 10mL hydrogen peroxide solution (50 µL) to reduce chloride gas to chloride ions, which were then measured in a Dionex ICS-2100 ion chromatograph (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Australia). The measured concentration of Cl⁻ corresponds to the total adsorbable organic chlorides (AOCl). A Dionex Eluent Generator Cartridge III with 30–75 mM KOH with a flow rate of 1 mL min⁻¹ was used to elute the Cl⁻ over a Dionex IonPac AS11-HC column and AG11-HC guard column.

3.3.5 Hydrogen Peroxide and Persulfate Quantification

In regard to the potential interferences in the generally applied methods, the chemical analysis of H_2O_2 and persulfate $S_2O_8^{2-}$ was conducted using two different methods.

Both $S_2O_8^{2-}$ and H_2O_2 have been reported to from in electrochemical systems (Saracco *et al.* 2000, Serrano *et al.* 2002). Persulfate has also been described to possibly decompose to hydrogen peroxide in strongly acidic aqueous solutions (Kolthoff and Miller 1951). But both oxidants are expected to react with reducing agents like potassium iodide (Saracco *et al.* 2000, Lin *et al.* 2014) or ferric ions (Fe²⁺) which is a widely known activator for these oxidants to produce their corresponding radicals (Cao *et al.* 2008, Velo-Gala *et al.* 2014). Therefore, it was crucial to develop a quantification method capable of measuring each oxidant while accounting for any potential interference.

Hydrogen peroxide concentration was quantified in this study with ammonium metavanadate (Nogueira *et al.* 2005), yielding a linear regression of R^2 =0.9998 for H₂O₂ concentrations of 1 – 60 mM (**Figure 3.2**). This method was tested for different concentrations of H₂O₂ in the presence and absence of persulfate (S₂O₈²⁻), where 1 mL ammonium metavandate was added to 9 mL of the aqueous sample containing hydrogen peroxide prepared with the corresponding concentration. Further investigation for any possible interferences of S₂O₈²⁻ in the measurement was conducted by adding different concentrations of S₂O₈²⁻ (1 – 60 mM) to a fixed concentration of H₂O₂ solution (0.6 mM; 20 mg L⁻¹), **Figure 3.3**.

Results show that the ammonium metavanadate method was found to be insensitive to the presence of $S_2O_8^{2-}$ in the investigated concentration range (i.e., from 1 to 60 mg L⁻¹ $S_2O_8^{2-}$). Thus, this method was used for the measurement of H_2O_2 concentration in the solution.



Figure 3.2: Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the metavanadate method for 1 - 60 mM solution of hydrogen peroxide in the absence of any persulfate



Figure 3.3 Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the metavanadate method for 1 - 60 mM solution of persulfate in the presence of 0.6 mM hydrogen peroxide

The ferrous/thiocyanate method was used to detect both oxidants by dissolving 0.1 mL of the aqueous sample into 10 mL H₂SO₄ and adding 0.9 mL water and 0.1 mL of 0.4 M ferrous ammonium sulfate then mixed for 40 min before adding 0.2 mL of 0.6M ammonium thiocyanate (NH₄SCN) to colour the sample (Huang *et al.* 2002). Results show that persulfate was detected with the ferrous/thiocyanate method, but was found to be susceptible to H₂O₂ interference. The addition of H₂O₂ in the range of 1.0 mg L⁻¹ to 60 mg L⁻¹ without any addition of S₂O₈²⁻ ions significantly coloured the solution and reported a linear increase in the absorbance, similar to that of S₂O₈²⁻ without any addition of H₂O₂ (**Figure 3.4**).



Figure 3.4 Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the ferrous/thiocyanate method for 1 - 60 mM solutions of hydrogen peroxide (\blacklozenge) or persulfate (\blacktriangle)

Moreover, the absorbance values reported for H_2O_2 (0.6 mM; 20 mg L⁻¹) significantly increased from 1.42 to 2.27 as concentration of added $S_2O_8^{2-}$ increased from 0 to 60 mg L⁻¹ (**Figure 3.5**), signifying that both oxidants were detected. Thus, this method was used for determining a combined concentration of H_2O_2 and $S_2O_8^{2-}$ in the solution.



Figure 3.5 Absorbance measured at 460 nm using the ferrous/thiocyanate method for 0.6 mM solution of hydrogen peroxide with the addition of 1 - 60 mM persulfate concentrations

3.4 Sampling Procedure and Data Analysis

The kinetic study involved periodic sampling by taking aqueous samples from the anolyte solution containing the target organic compound along with the electrolytic ions over a period of up to 8 hours. During periodic sampling, samples were collected and were frozen or immediately quenched with methanol (MeOH) to halt any oxidizing activity of the radicals on the organic contaminants, unless mentioned otherwise. For the analytical quantification, 1.0 ml samples were prepared by quenching an aqueous sample of 750 μ L by 250 μ L MeOH. The concentrations of the target organic compounds or analytic ions were then measured using LC-MS, HPLC, and/or IC.

For data processing, measured concentrations (*C*) were normalized against the initial concentration (*C*₀) of target organic contaminant. All the concentration ratios values (*C*/*C*₀) from duplicate or replicate experiments were then fitted with a pseudo-first order kinetic relationship because the concentration of the formed radicals were expected to be in high excess compared to that of the

organic compounds being studied. The best-fit values of a pseudo-first order kinetic decay rate were determined by a nonlinear parameter estimation routine in Aquasim 2.1d (Reichert 1994), and these values were expressed with estimates of error at the 95% confidence level. The confidence limits were calculated using a standard error estimated by Aquasim and an appropriate *t*-value for the respective number of degrees of freedom (DOF > 10) of the duplicate experiment. In all results, the values are expressed as the mean of at least two experiments, with their standard deviations.

3.5 Energy Consumption Estimation

The energy consumption calculations for the electrochemical oxidation of target persistent organic compounds investigated in this study were based on the average cell voltage. Since the degradation reactions of target contaminants was observed to be of first order kinetics, it was decided to express the consumption of energy input per order of pollutant reduction. Thus, electric energy per order (E_{EO}) was used as a more appropriate parameter to estimate energy consumption of the electrochemical system. It primarily estimates the electric energy, kWh m⁻³, consumed to reduce the concentration of the organic contaminant by one order of magnitude in a unit volume of treated solution.

The electric power was calculated from the applied current (I, A) and the average cell voltage (U, V) per volume of treated solution (V, L), then multiplied by the reaction time (t, h) required to achieve the corresponding order of magnitude of removal as per the following formula (Bolton *et al.* 2001).

(Eq. 3.1)
$$E_{EO} = \frac{U \cdot I \cdot t}{V \cdot \log \frac{C_o}{C}}$$

Chapter 4: Role of Sulfate Electrolyte in Electrochemical Oxidation of Recalcitrant Organics at Boron-doped Diamond Anodes

This chapter presents the results of investigating the effect of sulfate anolyte in the electrochemical oxidation of contaminants at BDD anodes. It presents the outcomes of the study on the effect of anolyte nature on electrooxidation rates of persistent organic contaminants (Section 4.3.1), as well as the electro-generation of persulfate and its potential role in the diatrizoate electrooxidation (Section 4.3.2). It also elucidates the potential role of electro-generated sulfate radicals in the electrooxidation of diatrizoate (Section 4.3.3) and describes the effect of specific radical quenchers on the electrooxidation of diatrizoate (Section 4.3.4), and the electrooxidation of nitrobenzene in Na₂SO₄ anolyte (Section 4.3.5). Moreover, the electric energy consumption and potential savings were further reported in this Chapter (Section 4.3.6).

This chapter is an edited version of the following publication:

 Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2015). Removal of Persistent Organic Contaminants by Electrochemically Activated Sulfate. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2015, 49 (24), pp 14326–14333. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.5b02705.

4.1 Introduction

In environmental applications, boron-doped diamond (BDD) anodes have attracted a lot of interest in electrochemical oxidation processes for removing persistent organic contaminants from wastewater, because of their ability to electro-generate hydroxyl radicals ('OH) capable of mineralizing organic contaminants (Chen *et al.* 2003, Oturan 2014). Besides 'OH as well as ozone and hydrogen peroxide, BDD anodes can also produce peroxy species (e.g., $C_2O_6^{2-}$, $P_2O_8^{4-}$ and $S_2O_8^{2-}$) in the presence of their corresponding ions (Saha *et al.* 2003, Cañizares *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Meas *et al.* 2011), where persulfate has been reported to possess slow oxidation kinetics with organic compounds in the absence of an activator. Thus, BDD electrooxidation mechanisms in the presence of sulfate have typically been interpreted by the action of 'OH, while considering sulfate an inert anolyte (Brillas *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Sirés *et al.* 2014).

However, persulfate formation is considered to occur via oxidation of sulfate ions to sulfate radicals $(SO_4^{\bullet-})$ and recombination of two $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ to yield $S_2O_8^{2-}$ (Serrano *et al.* 2002, Cañizares *et al.* 2009, Davis *et al.* 2014). Yet, as in the case of 'OH generated at a BDD anode (Marselli *et al.* 2003, Bejan *et al.* 2012), there is no spectroscopic evidence of electrochemically formed $SO_4^{\bullet-}$. The principal pathway for the formation of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ is reported to occur by advanced oxidation processes, where $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ are produced via heat, UV, alkaline, or metal-catalyst activation of persulfate ($S_2O_8^{2-}$) or peroxymonosulfate (HSO_5^{-}) (Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010). Sulfate radicals are strong oxidants with a redox potential $E^o(SO_4^{\bullet-}/SO_4^{2-}) = 2.5 - 3.1$ V (Neta *et al.* 1988, Zhang *et al.* 2014), which is similar to the redox potential of hydroxyl radicals at acidic pH ($E^o(^{\bullet}OH/H_2O) = 2.7$ V) (Buxton *et al.* 1988, Wardman 1989).

Both radicals have been reported to react with many pharmaceuticals at comparable oxidation rates (Neta *et al.* 1977, Buxton *et al.* 1988, Rickman and Mezyk 2010, Matta *et al.* 2011). Yet, SO4^{•-} tends to react primarily via electron transfer mechanisms, and 'OH is more likely to react via addition to unsaturated bonds and H-abstraction (Anipsitakis and Dionysiou 2004). Thus, electrolysis of 'assumed inert' sulfate ions to sulfate radical species (HSO4[•], SO4^{•-}) may have a significant effect on the oxidation kinetics and degradation pathways of contaminants in electrochemical treatment of wastewater, rendering it not an inert anolyte solution. Given that sulfate can be present in municipal and industrial wastewaters at significant concentrations of several hundred mg L⁻¹ up to g L⁻¹ level (United-Nations-Environment-Programme 1990, Tchobanoglous *et al.* 2002, Sgroi *et al.* 2014), it is important to elucidate the role of sulfate ions in electrooxidation at a BDD anode.

The objective of this study was to investigate the role of sulfate and persulfate ions in the electrochemical oxidation of contaminants at BDD anodes and elucidate the participation of electrogenerated sulfate radical species in electrooxidation of persistent organic contaminants. We have quantified the rates of electrooxidation of several organic contaminants at BDD anode, including diatrizoate, carbamazepine, N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET), iopromide, tribromophenol, triclosan and triclopyr. These contaminants were selected due to their high persistence to chemical oxidation, e.g., by ozone or 'OH. Experiments are performed in sulfate anolyte, and compared with inert nitrate and perchlorate anolytes. To determine the major participating oxidants, electrooxidation experiments were performed with the iodinated contrast media (ICM), diatrizoate, as a model contaminant, in the presence of the radical scavengers, *tert*-butanol and methanol. In an attempt to further segregate the effects of 'OH and SO4', the study also examined electrooxidation of nitrobenzene at a BDD anode, as a typical 'OH probe compound.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Experimental Setup

All specifications and operating conditions of the laboratory-scale CEM-divided electrochemical reactor are described in the **Cell Design and Reactor Specifications (Section 3.1)**. To investigate the effect of sulfate-based anolyte in electrooxidation at BDD anode, experiments were performed with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻², using sodium sulfate anolyte (Na₂SO₄, pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹, 40 mM) and compared with sodium nitrate anolyte (NaNO₃, pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹, 60 mM), unless stated otherwise. The experiments were performed with seven persistent organic contaminants: diatrizoate, carbamazepine, DEET, iopromide, tribromophenol, triclosan, and triclopyr, each tested separately with an initial concentration of 2 μ M. To confirm the inertness of nitrate ions in electrooxidation at a BDD anode, preliminary experiments compared electrooxidation rates of diatrizoate as a model compound in nitrate (60 mM) and perchlorate anolytes (74 mM) prepared at pH 2 and 9.0 mS cm⁻¹.

Persulfate can decompose to hydrogen peroxide in strongly acidic aqueous solutions (Kolthoff and Miller 1951), To determine the maximum amount of H_2O_2 and $S_2O_8^{2-}$ generated at the BDD anode in Na₂SO₄ (40 mM, pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹), chronopotentiometric experiments were performed at the highest applied current density (i.e., 200 A m⁻²) without added organic, and the concentrations of H_2O_2 and $S_2O_8^{2-}$ were measured. Then, to investigate the contribution of chemical oxidation of $S_2O_8^{2-}$ to electrooxidation, 2 µM solutions of each persistent organic was prepared in Na₂SO₄ (40 mM, pH

2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹), followed by adding $K_2S_2O_8$ to a final concentration of 0.55 mM. The mixture was left to react chemically in the absence of any electric current while periodically collecting samples for the analysis of target organic contaminant.

Diatrizoate was also selected to further study the effect of the addition of radical scavengers, *tert*butanol or methanol (0.1 mM). This study was conducted in Na₂SO₄ anolytes (36 mM; pH 2; 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻². Additional experiments at lower sulfate concentration and conductivity were conducted to further investigate the effect of the radical scavengers.

Given the lack of a suitable SO_4^{-} probe compound, electrooxidation experiments were performed with nitrobenzene, a common 'OH probe compound (Liang and Su 2009), at 200 A m⁻², in Na₂SO₄ (35 mM) or NaNO₃ anolytes (54 mM). Due to the poor sensitivity of the employed analytical method, nitrobenzene was added at a higher initial concentration (i.e., 400 μ M).

In all experiments, the pH of the Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes was adjusted to pH 2.0 \pm 0.1 with concentrated H₂SO₄ and HNO₃, respectively. This pH was chosen as both radicals exhibit similar redox potentials at acidic pH, and because the production of protons at the anode did not lead to further lowering of the pH that remained constant in all experiments. The selected pH was above the second pK_a of sulfuric acid (pK_a (HSO₄⁻/SO₄²⁻)= 1.92) (Kotz *et al.* 2011), and thus SO₄²⁻ ions were the dominant species in the solution. The conductivity of the anolytes was similar in both Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ solutions in all experiments, where it was mostly fixed at 9.0 \pm 0.5 mS cm⁻¹.

4.2.2 Chemical Analysis

The concentrations of the target organic contaminants were analysed using LC-MS/MS; whereas nitrobenzene concentrations were quantified by using HPLC. Details of the two analytical methods are summarized in **Chemical Analysis Section 3.3.1** and **Section 3.3.2**. In order to measure the concentrations of the electro-generated H_2O_2 and $S_2O_8^{2-}$, the ammonium metavanadate method (Nogueira *et al.* 2005), as well as the ferric/thiocyanate method (Huang *et al.* 2002), were used to overcome the interferences in the quantification of H_2O_2 and $S_2O_8^{2-}$ (See **Section 3.3.5** for more details).

Energy consumption was expressed as electric energy per order (E_{EO}) as a more appropriate parameter to estimate energy efficiency of the electrochemical system since target contaminants are present at low concentrations. It primarily estimates the electric energy, kWh m⁻³, consumed to reduce the concentration of the organic contaminant by one order of magnitude in a unit volume of treated solution (See Section 3.5 for more details).

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 Effect of anolyte on electrooxidation rates of persistent organic contaminants

Nitrate and perchlorate ions are known to not react with 'OH (Pignatello *et al.* 2006). Moreover, both ions are usually considered as inert in electrooxidation at a BDD anode (Sirés *et al.* 2014). In the present work, this was confirmed in preliminary experiments comparing electrooxidation of diatrizoate in NaNO₃ and NaClO₄ anolytes (**Figure 4.1**). The apparent rate constants for oxidation of diatrizoate were observed to be 0.94 ± 0.07 h⁻¹ and 1.9 ± 0.07 h⁻¹ in the nitrate and perchlorate anolytes, respectively. Since both inert electrolytic solutions were similar in their slower removal of DTR as compared to sulfate, it was decided to test only NaNO₃ as an inert background anolyte for subsequent comparison with Na₂SO₄ anolyte because nitrate is more used in literature and is not as toxic as perchlorate, where it is easier to handle in the lab.



Figure 4.1 Disappearance of diatrizoate in electrooxidation in NaNO₃ (\blacktriangle), NaClO₄ (\diamondsuit), and Na₂SO₄ ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) anolytes of same initial pH and conductivity (pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹), at 200 A m⁻² of applied current density

In all the experiments (including with NaNO₃ and NaClO₄ anolytes as noted above), the disappearance of each organic contaminants could be described by pseudo-first order rate kinetics. Table 4.1 summarizes the apparent rate constants for the electrooxidation of target organic contaminants in NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolyte of the same initial conductivity and pH (9.0 mS cm⁻¹, pH 2). The lowest rate constants were observed for the ICM, i.e., iopromide and diatrizoate, in NaNO₃ anolyte (k_{NaNO3}, h^{-1}) with 0.83 ± 0.15 and 0.94 ± 0.07 h⁻¹, respectively. ICM have been reported to be recalcitrant in various oxidation processes (Ternes et al. 2003, Dickenson et al. 2009, Sugihara et al. 2013). For example, transformation of diatrizoate and iopromide have been observed to be slow in ozonation (Ternes et al. 2003), with some improvement in the presence of UV light (Huber et al. 2003), or H₂O₂ (Westerhoff et al. 2005, Ning and Graham 2008), that induces the formation of 'OH radicals. Similar to ICM, halogen groups in triclopyr, triclosan and tribromophenol exhibit a negative inductive effect that decreases the electron density at the benzene ring, thus increasing persistence to oxidation. Oxidation of other model contaminants yielded k_{NaNO3} constants of the same order of magnitude (Table 4.1). Note that the experimental conditions (i.e., applied current density, anolyte conductivity and pH, and recirculation flow rate) were identical with both NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolytes.

Electrooxidation of all the organic contaminants was substantially faster in Na₂SO₄ anolyte than in NaNO₃ anolyte. That is, apparent rate constants were 10 - 15 times higher in sulfate anolyte than in nitrate anolyte. The highest removal rates in sulfate anolyte solutions were reported for triclosan (66.0 \pm 8.5 h⁻¹), followed by tribromophenol (40.9 \pm 3.0 h⁻¹) then carbamazepine (29.4 \pm 2.1 h⁻¹), with the lowest being iopromide (11.9 \pm 0.72 h⁻¹). Similar trend was observed in the absence of sulfate anions. Electrochemical degradation of tribromophenol reported the highest difference between sulfate and nitrate anolytes with 15 folds, followed by the iodinated compounds, diatrizoate and iopromide, as well as DEET, whereas the lowest was trichlopyr.

Significantly higher electrooxidation rates of target contaminants in the sulfate anolyte may be explained by the: *i*) formation of SO_4^{\bullet} at the anode surface, and/or *ii*) persulfate formation and its acid-catalyzed hydrolysis to hydrogen peroxide, which may activate persulfate to SO_4^{\bullet} (Kolthoff and Miller 1951, Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010).

		Electrooxidation rate constants		
Organic compound	Organic compound Chemical structure		k_{NaNO_3} (h ⁻¹)	
Carbamazepine	H ₂ N O	29.4±2.1	2.4±0.37	
DEET	H ₃ C CH ₃	14.4±1.2	1.0±0.13	
Diatrizoate	H ₃ C NH CH ₃	13.7±1.8	0.94±0.07	
Iopromide	$HO \longrightarrow HO \longrightarrow$	11.9±0.72	0.83±0.15	
Tribromophenol	Br Br Br	40.9±3.0	2.7±0.56	
Triclopyr		13.6±1.6	1.3±0.11	
Triclosan	CI OH CI CI	66.0±8.5	5.4±1.3	

Table 4.1 Apparent rate constants (h⁻¹) for oxidation of target organic contaminants in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes (pH 2; 9.0 mS cm⁻¹; and 200 A m⁻²).

4.3.2 Persulfate electro-generation and potential role in the electrooxidation

Peroxymonosulfate and hydrogen peroxide are oxidants that are also believed to be generated in the sulfate-based electrochemical process from the persulfate-formation/hydrolysis route, where HSO_5^- is reported to be the intermediate in the decomposition of $S_2O_8^{2-}$ into H_2O_2 (Michaud *et al.* 2000, Serrano *et al.* 2002, Canizares *et al.* 2003). In these published studies, the produced concentrations were very low, and only small traces of HSO_5^- and H_2O_2 were detected. Yet, it was not explained whether the H_2O_2 was possibly decomposing in the anodic compartment, or it was being insignificantly produced in the first place.

Previously, electrooxidation of coumaric acid at Pt anode was attributed to the formation of persulfate from sulfate ions and its acid-catalyzed hydrolysis to H₂O₂, which decomposes to 'OH radicals in the presence of dissolved iron (Kolthoff and Miller 1951, Saracco *et al.* 2000). Saracco *et al.* (2000) attributed the coumaric acid removal to the bulk oxidation with H₂O₂, which was quantified at 6 mM after 30 min when 100 mM sodium sulfate was used as electrolyte. However, the authors quantified only H₂O₂ without measuring $S_2O_8^{2-}$ in their work, where it is noticed that H₂O₂ was measured using the iodimetric titration method which quantifies both $S_2O_8^{2-}$ and H₂O₂, assuming that H₂O₂ was being produced in significant amounts, whereas $S_2O_8^{2-}$ would possibly have been the actual peroxide specie being produced (Saracco *et al.* 2000). Moreover, H₂O₂ was reported to activate persulfate to generate SO_4^{+-} in advanced oxidation processes for applications such as *in-situ* chemical oxidation (ISCO) of groundwater (Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010).

(Eq. 4.1)
$$S_2O_8^{2-} + H_2O \rightarrow SO_5^{2-} + H_2SO_4 = E^\circ = 1.81 V$$

(Eq. 4.2) $SO_5^{2-} + H_2O \rightarrow H_2O_2 + SO_4^{2-} = E^\circ = 1.77 V$

The oxidation powers of pure $S_2O_8^{2-}$ and H_2O_2 with the seven surrogate compounds was studied under same operating conditions (40 mM Na₂SO₄ electrolyte; pH 2; 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in chemical oxidation tests without any applied electric current. In order to identify the starting concentrations of $S_2O_8^{2-}$ and H_2O_2 , oxidation of sulfate (40 mM) on BDD was run in the absence of any organic compounds, and the concentrations of $S_2O_8^{2-}$ and H_2O_2 were quantified. Taking into consideration that all recalcitrant compounds were oxidized completely in only 15 minutes with sulfate electrolytes, the concentrations of persulfate and peroxide were chosen to be more than what would be produced after even 30 minutes. The results showed no electrochemical formation of H_2O_2 (< LOD=1 mg L⁻¹) in NaNO₃ anolyte solution, suggesting that the recombination of two 'OH radicals into H_2O_2 is not significant despite the thermodynamic feasibility. This also indicated that any potential electrochemical formation of H_2O_2 in Na₂SO₄ anolytes would be generated from the decomposition of the electro-produced persulfate. However, no H_2O_2 electrogeneration (< LOD=1 mg L⁻¹) was also detected in Na₂SO₄ anolyte, which only reported persulfate formation in this work. The measured concentration of electrogenerated persulfate, in the absence of organic contaminants, reached 0.2 mM at the highest applied charge density, i.e., after 60 min of oxidation, during electrooxidation in 40 mM Na₂SO₄ anolyte where 0.1 mM S₂O₈²⁻ was formed after 30 min (**Figure 4.2**).

Nonetheless, in order to investigate the oxidation power of $S_2O_8^{2-}$ and H_2O_2 with the seven surrogate compounds, higher concentrations of these oxidants were examined in the the chemical oxidation tests in the absence of any electric current. Despite that H_2O_2 was not quantified in the sulfate oxidation into persulfate, we accounted for a scenario where H_2O_2 might still theoretically be formed in the system, but probably followed by its rapid decomposition, although no known activators were present in the system to activate its decomposition. Thus, the H_2O_2 concentration tested with the seven surrogate compounds was selected to be 6.4 mM which is higher than that reported by Saracco *et al.* (2000) after 30 minutes. For persulfate, the experiments were conducted with 0.6 mM $S_2O_8^{2-}$, which was selected as 6 folds higher than the 0.1 mM persulfate formed after 30 minutes in the absence of any persistent organic compounds.



Figure 4.2 Electrochemical generation of the oxidants: persulfate ions (●) and hydrogen peroxide (♦) in electrooxidation in Na₂SO₄ anolyte (40 mM, pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) at 200 A m⁻²

Results of the chemical oxidation show that these surrogate compounds reported no or very minimal degradation compared to the electrochemical degradation rates, **Table 4.2**. Given that persulfate has slow oxidation kinetics with organic compounds (Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010), it was unlikely to cause the higher electrooxidation rates in sulfate anolyte without activation by UV, heat, alkaline conditions or metal catalysts. And this was confirmed by chemical oxidation experiments with persulfate that yielded significantly lower rate constants compared to the apparent rate constants obtained in electrooxidation displayed in **Table 4.1**. Only less than 10% removal was observed after 30 minutes with pure $S_2O_8^{2-}$ or H_2O_2 , corresponding to less than 0.09 h⁻¹ oxidation rates which is more than 240 times slower than the rates of the electrochemical oxidation with sulfate ions (i.e., $11.9 - 66.0 \text{ h}^{-1}$). Addition of both oxidants to diatrizoate, to investigate synergistic effect of these oxidants, similarly reported minimal removal (<10% removal; < 0.09 h⁻¹).

Table 4.2 Apparent rate constants (h⁻¹) for chemical oxidation of the seven target organic contaminants with non-activated K₂S₂O₈ or H₂O₂ prepared in Na₂SO₄ solutions (pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹, 40 mM) in the absence of any applied electric current

Target Persistent Organic compound	Oxidation rate constant $k_{S_2SO_8}^{2-}$, h ⁻¹	Oxidation rate constant $k_{H_2O_2}$, h ⁻¹
Carbamazepine	0.026	0.061
DEET	0.010	0.071
Diatrizoate	0.022	0.089
Iopromide	0.043	0.006
Tribromophenol	0.014	0.054
Triclopyr	0.061	0.019
Triclosan	0.005	0.087

Thus, it is unlikely that the higher observed removal rates of the electrooxidation of these surrogate compounds are instigated primarily by pure $S_2O_8^{2-}$ or H_2O_2 , without the involvement of other strong oxidizing agents such as sulfate radicals that can potentially be produced in such sulfate-based electrochemical systems. Therefore, the activation of the formed persulfate by H_2O_2 was also discarded as possible causes of the enhanced electrooxidation of organic contaminants in Na₂SO₄. Furthermore, electrochemical oxidation experiments using persulfate as anolyte solution, as will further be described in Chapter 6, showed similar removal as nitrate and further indicated the minimal role that persulfate would potentially play in these processes.

4.3.3 Potential role of electro-generated SO4⁻⁻ in the electrooxidation of diatrizoate

Even though the mechanism of the formation of persulfate on BDD anodes has been described with a direct oxidation of sulfate ions on the BDD surface (**Eq. 4.3**), recent studies incorporated SO₄^{•-} in the formation process (**Eq. 4.4** – **4.8**) (Serrano *et al.* 2002, Khamis *et al.* 2010, Davis *et al.* 2014, Davis *et al.* 2014). Khamis *et al.* (2010) could not prove the existence of free SO₄^{•-} radicals via their spectroscopic study, but explained persulfate formation via surface-adsorbed BDD(SO₄^{•-}) radicals.

(Eq. 4.3)	$2SO_4^{2-}$	\rightarrow	$S_2O_8^{2-}$
(Eq. 4.4)	SO 4 ²⁻	\rightarrow	$SO_4^{\bullet-} + e^{-}$
(Eq. 4.5)	$HSO_4^- + OH$	\rightarrow	$SO_4^{\bullet-} + H_2O$
(Eq. 4.6)	$H_2SO_4 + OH$	\rightarrow	$HSO_4 + H_2O$
(Eq. 4.7)	$HSO_4^- + SO_4^{\bullet-}$	\rightarrow	$S_2O_8^{2-} + 2H^+ + 2e^-$
(Eq. 4.8)	$SO_4^{\bullet-} + SO_4^{\bullet-}$	\rightarrow	$S_2O_8^{2-}$

In electrooxidation at a BDD anode, sulfate is considered to be oxidized to persulfate in two stages (Serrano *et al.* 2002, Cañizares *et al.* 2009, Davis *et al.* 2014). The first stage is direct with oneelectron oxidation of SO_4^{2-} to SO_4^{-} radical which occurs on BDD surface even before the water oxidation (**Eq. 4.4**), or indirect oxidation of H_2SO_4 or HSO_4^{-} via the electrogenerated 'OH to form sulfate radicals (**Eq. 4.5** – **4.6**). The second stage follows with these sulfate radicals consequently undergoing subsequent oxidation of sulfate ions (**Eq. 4.7**) or recombination (**Eq. 4.8**) to form persulfate (Davis *et al.* 2014). According to modelling of persulfate production at a BDD anode using density functional theory (DFT), electrogenerated SO_4^{--} may react with active sites at the electrode surface to form chemisorbed intermediates which can then stabilize sulfate radical species (Davis *et al.* 2014). In their DFT model, they determined that the most favorable energetic pathway for the formation of persulfate is via sulfate radical recombination (i.e., oxidation of sulfate ions to SO_4^{--}). Therefore, since sulfate radical formed as an intermediate in the persulfate formation is a strong oxidant itself, it can act as an oxidizing agent in the presence of organic compound instead of forming persulfate. Similar to anodically formed 'OH (Bejan *et al.* 2012), and chlorine radical species (e.g., Cl_2^{-}) (Park *et al.* 2009), it is possible that the formed sulfate radicals could contribute to oxidation of persistent organic contaminants. The resulting anode potential (E_{AN}) at 200 A m⁻² was relatively constant at 2.8 – 3.1 V and 3.0 – 3.6 V vs SHE in both NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolytes, respectively. Thus, the formation of both 'OH and SO₄⁻⁻ radicals at a BDD anode was thermodynamically possible in these experiments.

Although less is known about the oxidation reaction kinetics of organic contaminants with SO₄⁻, reaction rates are generally assumed to be comparable to that of oxidation by 'OH (Rickman and Mezyk 2010, Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010, Matta *et al.* 2011). Target organic contaminants have similar bimolecular oxidation rates in the order of $10^8 - 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ by homogeneously formed 'OH and SO₄⁻ radicals, with 'OH being in the range of $10^8 - 10^{10} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, and SO₄⁻⁻ ranging from < $10^6 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (for aromatic compounds with nitro-groups) to $10^8 - 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (for chloro- substituted and bromosubstituted aromatic compounds), except for iopromide which was reported with only $1 - 2 \times 10^4 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Chan *et al.* 2010), **Table 4.3**. For instance, the second-order reaction rate constants of carbamazepine with 'OH radicals ($8.8 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Huber *et al.* 2003)) which is slightly higher than with SO₄⁺⁻ radicals ($1.92 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Matta *et al.* 2011)). Whereas diatrizoate, which is considered less reactive towards ozonation or 'OH (Huber *et al.* 2005), has slightly higher rate constant with SO₄⁺⁻ radicals ($6.6 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$) compared to 'OH radicals ($5.4 - 6.6 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Real *et al.* 2009, Velo-Gala *et al.* 2014)).

However, studies comparing the removal of carbamazepine (Matta *et al.* 2011) and diatrizoate (Velo-Gala *et al.* 2014) with chemically generated 'OH radicals and SO₄^{•-} radicals show higher removal with SO₄^{•-} radicals despite the similar reactivity rates. The probable differences were explained by the higher concentration of the generated SO₄^{•-} radicals as compared to 'OH radicals. Kinetics models reported by De Laat *et al.* (2004) and Truong *et al.* (2004) suggest that the concentration of sulfate radicals is much higher than that of 'OH radicals when they co-exist at pH less than 2. They explain in their models that the distribution of radicals as a function of pH is predominant with SO₄^{•-} radicals in the acidic medium. In their work, the calculated equilibrium concentrations suggest that more hydroxyl radicals react with sulfate ions, producing sulfate radicals under pH 2 when increasing sulfate ions concentration in solution.

	k_{SO_4} , M ⁻¹ s ⁻¹	Ref.	$k^{\bullet}_{OH},$ M ⁻¹ s ⁻¹	Ref.
Carbamazepine	1.92×10 ⁹	(Matta <i>et al</i> . 2011)	8.80×10 ⁹	(Huber et al. 2003)
DEET	1.90×10 ⁹	(Tay <i>et al.</i> 2013)	5.00×10 ⁹	(Song <i>et al.</i> 2009)
Diatrizoate	6.59×10 ⁸	(Velo-Gala et al. 2014)	5.40×10 ⁸	(Real et al. 2009)
Iopromide	2.00×10 ⁴	(Chan et al. 2010)	3.30×10 ⁹	(Huber et al. 2003)
Tribromophenol	-		-	
Triclopyr	-		1.20×10 ⁹	(Armbrust 2000)
Triclosan	-		9.60×10 ⁶	(Lee and Von Gunten 2012)

Table 4.3 Bimolecular rate constants (k, M⁻¹ s⁻¹) for oxidation of target organic contaminants with homogeneously generated 'OH and SO4' radicals.

Using the same calculation method as in Matta *et al.* (2011), the concentration of SO₄⁻⁻ radicals in the carbamazepine oxidation in sulfate in our system (assuming the oxidation process is completely executed via sulfate radicals without the involvement of persulfate and the co-existing 'OH radicals) is calculated to be 5.12×10^{-12} M, compared to 'OH radicals concentration in the carbamazepine oxidation in nitrate (1.13×10^{-13} M). Similarly, for diatrizoate, SO₄⁻⁻ concentration is two orders of magnitude higher than concentration of 'OH radicals with 1.12×10^{-11} M versus 3.79×10^{-13} M.

Moreover, electrogenerated SO_4 may have contributed significantly to electrooxidation due to their continuous regeneration at the anode surface. After reacting with the organic compound, SO_4 are reduced to sulfate ions, which are attracted to the positively charged anode and can be oxidized again to reactive sulfate radical species, in the presence of an anodic potential above 2.1 V.

Given that all experiments were performed at pH 2, hydrolysis of potentially formed sulfate radicals to hydroxyl radicals was excluded because it is reported to be insignificant at pH < 9 (Liang *et al.* 2007, Yang *et al.* 2015). Thus, efficient formation of SO_4^{*-} at the BDD anode and their reaction with the organic contaminants simultaneously with the formed 'OH radicals may have yielded significantly higher electrooxidation rates in sulfate compared to nitrate anolyte. Participation of radical species in electrooxidation was also confirmed in the experiments conducted with the addition of specific radical quenchers, as explained further below.

Electrooxidation rate of iopromide in sulfate anolyte was higher than the one expected based on its reactivity with the homogeneously formed SO_4^{\bullet} and 'OH (Huber *et al.* 2003, Chan *et al.* 2010). This further indicates the generation of a higher concentration of the SO_4^{\bullet} radicals as compared to 'OH radicals. It could also be possible that iopromide may have been partly adsorbed to the anode surface, which would enhance its reactivity with the heterogeneously formed SO_4^{\bullet} , although that was also expected to be similar with 'OH radicals in NaNO₃.

In addition, enhanced electrooxidation at a BDD anode in the presence of sulfate may also be due to the formation of more reactive organic radicals. Homogeneously formed SO₄⁻⁻ are known to react with organic compounds primarily via direct electron transfer (Neta *et al.* 1977, Tsitonaki *et al.* 2010), while 'OH also reacts via hydrogen abstraction or addition to double bonds (Bossmann *et al.* 1998).

4.3.4 Effect of specific radical quenchers on electrooxidation of diatrizoate

In an attempt to discern the contributions of electrogenerated SO₄⁻⁻ and 'OH in sulfate anolyte, electrooxidation of diatrizoate was conducted with the addition of specific alcohol quenchers, methanol and *tert*-butanol. Methanol has relatively similar reactivity with 'OH and SO₄⁻⁻ with oxidation rate constants of $9.7 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $1.0 \times 10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively (Buxton *et al.* 1988, Clifton and Huie 1989). However, alcohols with no α -hydrogen such as *tert*-butanol are known to react much slower with sulfate radicals, the reaction rate with 'OH ($3.8 - 7.6 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$) being approximately 1000 times greater than that with SO₄⁺⁻ ($4 - 9.1 \times 10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Buxton *et al.* 1988, Clifton and Huie 1989). Thus, addition of methanol should have a more pronounced effect on the electrooxidation than when *tert*-butanol is added. Nevertheless, similar pseudo-first order electrooxidation rates of diatrizoate were observed for both quenchers in Na₂SO₄ anolyte in the presence of 0.1 mM methanol ($10.2 \pm 0.55 \text{ h}^{-1}$) or *tert*-butanol ($11.2 \pm 0.7 \text{ h}^{-1}$), as shown in **Figure 4.3**. When investigating lower concentrations of sulfate ions (4.5 mS cm^{-1}), similar results were also reproduced.



Figure 4.3 Disappearance of diatrizoate during electrooxidation in Na₂SO₄ anolyte (40 mM, pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 100 μ M methanol (\blacklozenge) or t-butanol (\diamondsuit), with an applied current density of 200 A m⁻²

This result may indicate that a significant role in the generation of SO_4^- at BDD anode was played by the 'OH. By scavenging the 'OH, added *tert*-butanol affects the yield of SO_4^- (Eq. 4.2 and 4.3). In addition, both alcohols are oxidized at BDD anodes directly or via 'OH and other reactive oxygen species (Chang *et al.* 2006, Chaenko *et al.* 2011), which will limit their reactivity with SO_4^- and 'OH radicals. Therefore, addition of specific alcohol quenchers could not elucidate between sulfate and hydroxyl radicals' contributions to electrooxidation of diatrizoate. Nevertheless, the observed decrease in the removal rates in the presence of alcohol quenchers indicates a significant contribution of radical oxidant species to electrooxidation of diatrizoate at BDD anode. The similar results could also be indicating that very high concentrations of sulfate radicals are being produced, and suggesting that higher concentrations of the quenchers are required in order to achieve a clearer differentiation of the radicals. Previous experience with higher concentrations of quenchers has led to the deactivation of the active surface of the BDD anode, and the risk was assessed to be quite high, thus further increase in quencher's concentration was discarded.

4.3.5 Electrooxidation of nitrobenzene in Na₂SO₄ anolyte

Being a specific 'OH probe compound, nitrobenzene was selected for the differentiation of sulfate radicals and hydroxyl radicals because of its high reactivity with hydroxyl radical (k_{HO} = $3.9 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$) compared to sulfate radical (k_{SO4} $\leq 10^6 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Neta *et al.* 1977, Buxton *et al.* 1988). Therefore, the electrochemical removal rate of nitrobenzene was evaluated in the presence of sulfate and nitrate at pH 2 and 9.0 mS cm⁻¹ (**Figure 4.4**).

The apparent rate constants for oxidation of nitrobenzene in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolyte were 0.55 \pm 0.03 h⁻¹ and 0.38 \pm 0.02 h⁻¹, respectively. The results show that sulfate electrolyte reported slightly higher removal rate than nitrate despite the lower reactivity of sulfate radicals. Nevertheless, on the contrary to the target organic contaminants (**Table 4.1**), electrooxidation of nitrobenzene was not several folds higher in the presence of sulfate in the anolyte.

These results further advocate findings of De Laat *et al.* (2004) that the distribution percentage of radicals in the sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems using BDD anodes is largely dominated by sulfate radicals rather than 'OH. Thus, it attributed the higher removal in sulfate to the formation of much higher concentrations of the electro-generated SO_4 . compared to 'OH in these sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems using BDD anodes. The higher concentration of the electro-generated sulfate radicals in such sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems using BDD anodes. The higher concentration of the electro-generated sulfate radicals in such sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems employing BDD anodes may compensate for their lower reactivity with the surrogate organic compound present, and their significant contribution to its oxidation.



Figure 4.4 Disappearance of nitrobenzene during electrochemical oxidation in 60 mM NaNO₃ (♦) and 40 mM Na₂SO₄ (●) anolytes at similar operating parameters (pH 2, 9.0 mS cm⁻¹, and 200 A m⁻²)

4.3.6 Energy Consumption

The energy consumption of the electrochemical system was estimated as the electric energy per order (E_{EO}), kWh m⁻³, required to reduce the concentration of the organic contaminant by one order of magnitude in a unit volume of treated solution, as described in **Chapter 3** (Section 3.5).

As shown is **Table 4.1**, electrooxidation of all the organic contaminants being substantially faster in Na₂SO₄ anolyte than in NaNO₃ anolyte by 10 - 15 folds. This resulted in a drastic decrease in the electrolysis time and a lower electric energy per order (E_{EO}) required for the anodic oxidation process (**Table 4.4**). For example, removal of diatrizoate required only 8.5 minutes and 2.44 kWh m⁻³ in sulfate anolyte, compared to 180 minutes and an energy consumption of 45.6 kWh m⁻³ for the electrooxidation in nitrate anolyte.

The highest energy savings were reported for the sulfate-based electrochemical decomposition of the iodinated compounds, diatrizoate (18.7 folds) and iopromide (12.4 folds), as compared to nitrate, followed by the amidated compounds, DEET (11.5 folds) and carbamazepine (10.4 folds), then the chlorinated compounds, triclosan (9.0 folds) and triclopyr (8.2 folds), with the brominated contaminant, tribromophenol reporting the lowest with only 3.8 folds.

Table 4.4 Electric energy consumption per order (E_{EO}), expressed as electric energy, kWh m⁻³, to reduce the concentration of the organic contaminant via electrooxidation in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes (pH 2; 9.0 mS cm⁻¹; and 200 A m⁻²) by one order of magnitude in a unit volume of treated solution.

	Electric energy consumption per order (E_{EO}), kWh m ⁻³			
Organic compound	$E_{Na_2SO_4}$	E _{NaNO3}		
Carbamazepine	1.26	13.1		
DEET	3.07	35.2		
Diatrizoate	2.44	45.6		
Iopromide	3.09	38.4		
Tribromophenol	4.56	17.2		
Triclopyr	2.66	21.8		
Triclosan	0.92	8.32		

4.4 Concluding Remarks

In conclusion, the sulfate-based solutions such as Na₂SO₄ have been widely used as supporting electrolytes for electrochemical degradation of contaminants using a BDD anode (Sirés et al. 2014). Electrooxidation pathways have been widely explained by the role of 'OH and other reactive oxygen species, while the participation of sulfate radical species has been largely neglected. Results of this work advocate that sulfate species cannot be considered as inert at high current densities and potentials typically applied in electrochemical treatment using a BDD anode. In this work, the electrooxidation rates of seven persistent organic contaminants were 10 - 15 folds faster in Na₂SO₄ anolyte than in NaNO₃ anolyte suggesting the formation of sulfate-based oxidants. With the slow kinetics of persulfate with these persistent contaminants, sulfate radicals are most likely to be the sulfate-based reactive oxidants in such BDD-based electrochemical systems. Regardless of the nature of the main oxidant species formed in these sulfate-based treatment, electrooxidation kinetics were significantly enhanced compared to sulfate-free electrolytes. Thus, activation of sulfate at BDD electrodes at high anode potential may have significant implications in the treatment of sulfatecontaining waters. Therefore, investigating the impact of the operating parameters governing the electrochemical oxidation systems is crucial to further elucidate the characteristics of these oxidizing agents, as will be presented in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5: Effect of Operating Parameters on the Electrooxidation Rates of Diatrizoate

This chapter presents a detailed investigation on the influence of the operating conditions that govern the sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems. Such operating conditions include the concentrations and conductivity of the anolyte solution (Section 5.3.1), and the applied current density (Section 5.3.2). It also includes the results of the effect of a combined scenario of low sulfate concentration and low current density on electrochemical oxidation of diatrizoate (Section 5.3.3), as well as the effect of the anolyte volume (Section 5.3.4)

Most of the results of this chapter have also been published in the following publication:

 Farhat, A., Tait, S., Keller, J., Radjenovic, J. (2015). Removal of Persistent Organic Contaminants by Electrochemically Activated Sulfate. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2015, 49 (24), pp 14326–14333.
DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.5b02705.
5.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter, the roles of sulfate and persulfate ions in the electrochemical oxidation of contaminants at BDD anodes were elucidated, suggesting the participation of electrogenerated sulfate radical species in electrooxidation of persistent organic contaminants. Investigating different operating conditions governing the electrochemical generation of these species thus becomes of importance, in order to explore a potential saturation effect or a possible limited range of the high sulfate performance.

Therefore, the electrolyte solution concentration/conductivity, applied current density, as well as other operating conditions such as anolyte volume were studied with both electrolytes, sulfate and nitrate, to identify the influence of these factors on the oxidation rate of the investigated organic contaminant, which was continued to be chosen as diatrizoate because of the high persistence of this organic contaminant reported.

The electrolytic concentration is a primary factor influencing the production of the radicals and thus the extent of the destruction of the persistent organic compounds. Although it is expected that the higher concentrations would induce higher production of radicals and higher oxidation rates, it is important to examine if the oxidation rates at high concentrations would stop increasing after a certain concentration threshold of sulfate and nitrate, and if these two anolytes would produce a similar removal rate after a certain saturation stage.

The effect of applied current density is also crucial for the energy consumption economical study, besides its significance for the radical production and the extent of oxidation reactions. Anodic potential above the oxidation potential of sulfate radicals (i.e., 2.8 - 3.1 V) are required to be achieved under all tested current densities. It is expected that the higher applied current density will lead to a higher radical production as well as higher organic oxidation.

The effect of the electrolyte solution volume treated in the electrochemical system was also investigated in order to examine if the mass transfer limitations inside the reactor affect the oxidation of organic compounds by sulfate and hydroxyl radicals. This would also anticipate for a possible effect of the higher ratio of 'active volume' -to- the total volume of the electrolyte solution, where the active volume can be defined as the portion of the solution volume being actively in contact with the anode surface and within the double layer embracing it.

5.2 Materials and Methods

To investigate the effect of operating conditions in electrooxidation at BDD anode, experiments were performed using sodium Na₂SO₄ anolyte and compared with NaNO₃ anolyte at different operating conditions. The electrochemical oxidation experiments were performed using diatrizoate as a model compound with an initial concentration of 2 μ M using the CEM-divided electrochemical reactor as described in the **Cell Design and Reactor Specifications (Section 3.1)**.

Sulfate concentrations of 5, 15 and 40 mM were examined to explore the effect of anolyte concentration, and compared to different concentrations of nitrate anolyte (8, 18, and 60 mM). Concentrated H₂SO₄ and HNO₃ were used to adjust the pH of the sulfate and nitrate anolytes to pH 2.0 ± 0.1 , respectively. Thus, the solutions of nitrate and sulfate were prepared by adding a combination of nitric acid and sodium nitrate salt for the nitrate anolyte solution, and sulfuric acid and sodium sulfate salt for the sulfate anolyte solution. Higher concentrations of nitrate were used because it was decided that the two anolyte systems were to be prepared with similar conductivity values, and for that, more nitrate was required in order to achieve similar conductivities. The conductivity of the anolytes was 9.0 ± 1.0 mS cm⁻¹ in the 40 mM Na₂SO₄ and 60 mM NaNO₃ solutions, whereas it was 4.3 ± 1.0 mS cm⁻¹ (5 and 15 mM sulfate as well as 8 and 18 mM nitrate).

The two anolytes were not compared at similar concentrations, but were rather compared at the same initial conductivity and pH value in order to minimize their effect on the activity of the anode surface, and the electrochemical activity and speciation of the surrogate compounds. Electrolyte conductivity is believed to affect the distribution of electrode potential and thus the activity of its surface. Therefore, it was chosen as the fixed parameter over the electrolyte concentration in order to alleviate the inhomogeneous distribution of potential across the anode surface (Sonoyama and Sakata 1999).

In all of these electrochemical oxidation experiments investigating the effect of the anolyte concentration, the applied current density was fixed at 200 A m⁻² in both SO_4^{2-} and NO_3^{-} anolyte, and the volume of the anolyte and catholyte solutions was 500 mL each.

The effect of the applied current density was explored by testing the diatrizoate electrooxidation at 100, 150, and 200 A m⁻² in both anolytes. These experiments were conducted at fixed concentrations of SO_4^{2-} anolyte (40 mM) and NO_3^{-} anolyte (60 mM) at pH 2 and with 500 mL anolyte volume. Both anolytes concentrations and pH values corresponded to a fixed conductivity of 9.0 ± 0.5 mS cm⁻¹.

Furthermore, the effect of volume of the anolyte solution was also studied in this work with four different volumes (250, 500, 1000, and 2000 mL) being compared in sulfate and nitrate anolytes. The same applied current density of 200 A m⁻² was employed in all these experiments, while comparing fixed concentrations of sulfate anolyte (40 mM) and nitrate anolyte (60 mM) at same pH value of 2.

One further experiment using lower sulfate concentration was conducted with 1.56 mM sulfate (150 mg L⁻¹), which is in the order of typical sulfate concentrations in municipal wastewater, although sulfate has also been detected in many surface and ground waters at concentrations of up to 630 and 230 mg L⁻¹, respectively (United-Nations-Environment-Programme 1990, Tchobanoglous *et al.* 2002, Sgroi *et al.* 2014). To prevent further addition of sulfate in the case of 1.56 mM Na₂SO₄ anolyte, pH was adjusted to pH 2 with concentrated HNO₃. The conductivity of this prepared solution was within the 4.3 ± 1.0 mS cm⁻¹ range as in the previous experiments, and an applied current density of 100 A m⁻² was employed in this test.

The flowrate was not changed throughout all the experiments of this thesis because it is expected to create a higher or lower turbulence inside the anodic chambers if changed, and thus leading to different mixing patterns of the anolyte solution inside the reactor.

5.3 Results and Discussion

5.3.1 Effect of anolyte concentration and conductivity on diatrizoate electrooxidation

When comparing relatively equivalent concentrations of sulfate and nitrate, the results show that diatrizoate is completely oxidized at a higher rate in the systems employing sulfate electrolytes, where the reaction rates plots were fit to pseudo-first order models. With sulfate concentrations of 5 mM, diatrizoate is removed 6 times faster than in similar nitrate concentrations (8.51 mM), **Table 5.1**. Increasing the sulfate concentration to 15 mM, the apparent rate constants for oxidation of diatrizoate were 10 times higher than the rate constants in NO_3^- anolyte (18 mM) at the same conductivity and pH.

When taking into consideration the ionic strength of both electrolytic solutions, sodium sulfate has a higher ionic strength than sodium nitrate with a factor of 3. Therefore, correcting for the concentrations of these solutions requires incorporating this factor, which leads to the comparison of 5.0 mM SO_4^{2-} solution and 18 mM NO_3^{-} solution (which is even more than 3 times higher). The comparison still shows that SO_4^{2-} solution with the corrected concentration yielded 4.2 folds higher

diatrizoate removal rate than NO₃⁻. Even nitrate concentration of 60 mM, being 12 times higher than the SO₄²⁻ (5.0 mM), yielded lower apparent removal rate constant by several folds even though the NO₃⁻ solution was prepared at a higher conductivity (9.0 mS cm⁻¹) compared to that of the 5.0 mM SO_4^{2-} (4.5 mS cm⁻¹).

Table 5.1 Apparent rate constants (k, h⁻¹) for oxidation of diatrizoate at different anolyte concentrations of NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ prepared at similar conductivity values (pH 2; 500 mL anolyte volume; and 200 A m⁻²)

NaNO ₃ (mM)	Na ₂ SO ₄ (mM)	k (h ⁻¹)
8.5	-	0.75 ± 0.04
18	-	1.06 ± 0.09
60	-	0.94 ± 0.07
-	5.0	4.49 ± 0.71
-	15	10.4 ± 0.86
-	40	13.7 ± 1.82

The effect of conductivity on electrooxidation kinetics was noted to be minor, as the rate constants obtained for NaNO₃ anolytes of different molarities were very similar. During nitrate experiments tested at 9.0 mS cm⁻¹, it was observed that the conductivity increased from 9.0 to ~18 mS cm⁻¹ over 3 hours which is the time needed to completely remove diatrizoate in nitrate. And despite this high conductivity, no acceleration in the diatrizoate removal rate was observed, and the linearity pattern of diatrizoate removal was not affected, which further advocates the insignificant effect of conductivity. It is noted that in sulfate, conductivity was measured to only increase from a starting value of 9.0 mS cm⁻¹ to a maximum value of 11 mS cm⁻¹ in 15 minutes which was enough to oxidize diatrizoate completely.

Increasing degradation rates of diatrizoate at higher sulfate concentrations further explicates the higher concentration of sulfate radicals suggested in the previous chapter (Sections 4.3.3 - 4.3.5). The anolyte composition and nature of electroactive species can affect the exchange current density of electrochemical reactions, where, for example, the presence of specifically adsorbed ions such as fluoride ions inside the inner Helmholtz layer of an electrode/electrolyte interface may catalyse the oxygen evolution reaction (OER) at the anode surface (Hwang *et al.* 2014). Whereas, the presence of chloride anions can affect the rates of electrochemical reaction, through electrostatic effects and shielding of the anode surface, hindering the OER (Ferro *et al.* 2000).

The sulfate ions in anodic oxidations has been described to adsorb on the anode surface, which reduces the anode active sites for 'OH radicals formation and increases the formation of SO_4 ' patches (Smit and Hoogland 1971, Smit and Hoogland 1971). The high sulfate adsorption was reported on various electrode materials such as platinum and bismuth by (Smit and Hoogland 1971, Samec *et al.* 1997, Jäger *et al.* 2008). Sulfate oxidation into persulfate is considered another side reaction occurring besides OER, and thus, it is most likely expected to be in competition with the oxygen evolution for the active sites on the BDD surface. Therefore, increasing the concentration of sulfate would lead to higher sulfate adsorption on the anode. Higher sulfate adsorption will reduce the active sites for 'OH radicals formation and increase the formation of adsorbed sulfate patches, on which $S_2O_8^{2-}$ is produced, leading to OER inhibition (Smit and Hoogland 1971, Smit and Hoogland 1971, de Souza *et al.* 2013). Moreover, the increased current density is also expected to cause faster oxidation of sulfate ions mainly because it potentially causes alleviation in the mass transfer limitations, and thus accelerates the anode surface oxidation of sulfate ions, which increases the formation of persulfate (Davis *et al.* 2014).

Therefore, the presence of sulfate in the anolyte appeared to be the single most determinant factor for the measured rate constants. This superiority with even very low sulfate concentration suggests that even the possibility of a potential generation of higher concentrations of 'OH radicals in sulfate than nitrate is unlikely to occur. The oxidizing species that are electro-generated in the sulfate electrolytes are most likely to be different in nature and certainly have stronger oxidation potential compared to the nitrate electrolytes which electro-generate only 'OH radicals in these BDD-based electrochemical systems. This advocates that sulfate electrolyte is not inert but actually reactive, and suggests that the oxidizing species formed are sulfate-based oxidizing species, possibly sulfate radicals. These radicals are generated in addition to 'OH radicals in these sulfate-based BDD-EAOPs, and are characterized by a strong oxidizing capabilities.

5.3.2 Effect of applied current density on electrooxidation rates of diatrizoate

Since the oxidation of the aromatic organic contaminants is affected by the current density of the electrochemical system, lower current densities were investigated to assess if this superiority of sulfate can still be observed at lower current densities. The results of diatrizoate removal at various current densities (100, 150, and 200 A m⁻²) for both electrolytes are shown in **Figure 5.1**.

As expected, the decrease in current density yielded lower electrooxidation rates in NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolytes, which is similar to what was observed by Davis *et al.* (2014). Yet, electrooxidation rate was still 12 - 16 times higher in the latter case compared to nitrate. The results demonstrated that the lowest current density (100 A m⁻²) led to 16–fold faster diatrizoate removal rates in sulfate electrolyte ($6.49 \pm 0.70 \text{ h}^{-1}$) compared to nitrate ($0.41 \pm 0.02 \text{ h}^{-1}$). When comparing higher current densities (150 and 200 A m⁻²), the ratio was still 12 - 15 folds higher in sulfate. With its lowest reaction rate constant ($6.49 \pm 0.70 \text{ h}^{-1}$), the sulfate electrolyte still yielded 7–fold faster removal rates than the nitrate case employing the highest current density of 200 A m⁻² ($0.94 \pm 0.07 \text{ h}^{-1}$). This indicated that the current density is likely to be another factor affecting the electro-generation of these sulfate-based oxidizing species, and further demonstrated that sulfate anolytes generate sulfate-based oxidizing agents characterized by strong oxidizing power.



Figure 5.1 The apparent electrooxidation rate constants (h⁻¹) of diatrizoate in 60 mM NaNO₃ and 40 mM Na₂SO₄ anolyte at different applied anodic current densities (pH 2; 9.0 mS cm⁻¹; 500 mL anolyte volume)

At all applied current densities, the resulting anode potential was in the range of 2.8 - 3.1 V and 3.0 - 3.6 V in NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolytes, respectively. At lower applied currents, charge transfer limitations were expected to become more pronounced, leading to slower electrooxidation of diatrizoate. However, given that the anode potential was above the thermodynamic potentials for SO₄⁻ and 'OH in both anolytes, both species could have participated in electrooxidation.

Investigating the effect of current density in the nitrate cases, where the removal rate constants of diatrizoate were very similar when comparing 4.5 to 9.0 mS cm⁻¹ or 150 to 200 A m⁻², unlike with sulfate, it can be suggested that increasing the current density above a certain threshold might be possibly instigating a "shielding effect", probably due to higher oxygen gas evolution reaction occurring as a consequence of such increase. In BDD-based electrochemical oxidation systems operating at a potential above 2.3 V vs. SHE, the surface reaction starts with the adsorption of the hydroxyl radical on the BDD surface through the formation of complex BDD('OH) from water discharge. These formed 'OH radicals will react with the organic or inorganic compounds present in the solution, and the side reaction occurring would be the reaction of 'OH radicals leading to oxygen evolution.

Increase of current density in nitrate would probably lead to an increase in the concentration of BDD('OH) formed, triggering the increase in the evolution of the oxygen gas. This is mainly because the mass transfer limitations restrict the access of organic molecules to reach the BDD electrode in order to react with the formed 'OH radicals. In the case of sulfate, it is most likely that the sulfate ions are adsorbed to the BDD electrode where they react with BDD('OH) to form another complex, BDD(SO4⁺), which competes with BDD('OH) for more active sites on BDD surface. This is expected to reduce the oxygen formation at the anode surface because of the lower formation of BDD('OH) compared to nitrate. Thus, in a sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems using BDD, increasing the current density would increase the formation of this BDD(SO4⁺) and potentially reduce the concentration of BDD('OH), therefore leading to higher diatrizoate oxidation.

Therefore, higher oxidation of the organic compounds reported at increased sulfate concentrations and current densities can be explained due to higher formation of SO_4^{\bullet} radicals which are the main intermediates in the formation of persulfate. An increase in sulfate concentration or current density will enhance the oxidation of sulfate ions leading to higher formation of SO_4^{\bullet} radicals which are strong oxidants and are capable of degrading organic compounds, hence increasing oxidation rates. On the other side, increasing the anolyte concentration or current density in the case of nitrate will mostly lead to higher OER without considerably increasing the oxidation rates.

5.3.3 Effect of combined low sulfate concentration and current on diatrizoate removal

The removal rates of diatrizoate were further investigated at much lower sulfate concentration within the range detected in water systems using higher concentration of diatrizoate, and applying the lower scenario of applied current density to explore the effectiveness of sulfate system at low operating conditions. Thus, the electrochemical removal of 10 μ M diatrizoate was tested using 150 mg L⁻¹ of sulfate concentration (1.56 mM), and compared to a nitrate anolyte with the similar concentration and conductivity, while employing an applied current density of 100 A m⁻².

Results show that even such low Na₂SO₄ concentration of 1.56 mM was observed to yield a high removal rate constant of $1.48 \pm 0.152 \text{ h}^{-1}$, which is still substantially higher than that of 1.56 mM nitrate (0.354 ± 0.0155 h⁻¹) and also higher than all those removal rate constants observed in all previous NaNO₃ anolyte concentrations (i.e., k_{NaNO3} = 0.75 – 1.06 h⁻¹), including the highest tested nitrate concentration of 60 mM. This scenario of low operating conditions further confirms the formation of sulfate-based oxidizing agents, that are different in nature and stronger in oxidation power than the conventionally reported 'OH radicals.

Since sulfate concentration of 1.56 mM (150 mg L⁻¹) is in the order of typical sulfate concentrations in municipal wastewater, this electrochemical activation of sulfate ions at BDD anodes may have significant implications in the treatment of sulfate-containing waters, especially that sulfate has also been detected in many surface and ground waters at concentrations of up to 630 and 230 mg L⁻¹, respectively, (Tchobanoglous *et al.* 2002, Sgroi *et al.* 2014).

5.3.4 Effect of anolyte volume on diatrizoate removal rates

To assess the effect of active volume ratio, the volume of the anolyte solution was varied for the electrooxidation of diatrizoate. The mass transfer limitations would potentially be a controlling factor which significantly affects the rate of the oxidation reaction, especially in the absence of any adjustments on the flow rate of the influent. The results of diatrizoate electrooxidation with 40 mM sulfate solutions of four different volumes (0.25, 0.5, 1.0, and 2.0 L) are displayed in **Figure 5.2**.

The results show that as the volume of the solution increased from 0.25 L up to 2.0 L, the rate of diatrizoate removal decreased by more than 5 folds in sulfate anolyte solutions from $32.46 \pm 3.37 \text{ h}^{-1}$ to $7.00 \pm 0.73 \text{ h}^{-1}$. In the case of nitrate anolyte, the differences in the oxidation rates at different solution volumes followed the same trend where diatrizoate removal rate decreased as the anolyte volume was increased from 1.49 h⁻¹ (0.25 L) to only 0.19 h⁻¹ (2.0 L).



Figure 5.2 The apparent electrooxidation rate constants (h⁻¹) of diatrizoate in sulfate at different solution volumes of 0.25, 0.5 1.0 and 2.0 L (pH 2; 9.0 mS cm⁻¹; and 200 A m⁻²)

The anolyte volume is 200 mL, where the active volume in the vicinity of the anode surface is approximately 75 mL as per the reactor configuration. So, the ratio of the active volume to the total anolyte volume is expected to play a significant role in determining the removal rates of diatrizoate (at the fixed flow rate of 200 mL min⁻¹). The hydraulic residence time for all solution volumes in the anodic compartment is similar at fixed flow rate, but since the inflow solution is being recirculated indefinitely after being exposed to the BDD anode surface, the exposure time of the anolyte containing the organic compound to the active BDD anode surface is the dominant factor when the anolyte volume is varied. Therefore, as the ratio of the active volume to the total anolyte volume increases (i.e., at lower anolyte volumes), higher diatrizoate removal rates are expected because of the larger exposure time of the anolyte containing the organic compound to the association of the active BDD anode surface surface are expected because of the larger exposure time of the anolyte containing the organic compound to the association of the organic compound to the association of the active BDD anode surface are expected because of the larger exposure time of the anolyte containing the organic compound to the association of the association of the active BDD anode surface.

The removal rate constant of diatrizoate was reduced by relatively around 2 folds as the analyte volume increase from 0.25 L ($32.46 \pm 3.37 h^{-1}$) to 0.5 L ($13.7 \pm 1.8 h^{-1}$). However, increasing the analyte volume from 0.5 L to 1.0 L and then to 2.0 L induced removal rate constants that were not proportional to the 2–fold reduction in the analyte volume, but higher than expected.

This suggests that the oxidation reaction of diatrizoate was not only occurring via sulfate radicals in the vicinity of the electrode but might also be potentially taking place in the bulk solution. Assuming sulfate radicals have a very short life-time of microseconds similar to other electro-chemically generated radicals, sulfate-based 'longer lifetime' oxidizing species can possibly be also generated, besides SO_4 . radicals, where these oxidants can travel into the bulk of the solution after being electrogenerated and further contribute to the overall diatrizoate oxidation process (Burns *et al.* 2012). Without corrections for flow rates, in larger volumes, these sulfate-based long-life oxidizing species have to travel more in the bulk solution to be able to react with diatrizoate; whereas, the traveling distance would certainly be shorter in the small volumes, and thus the oxidation would be faster, as presented in **Figure 5.2**. The possible electro-generation of sulfate-based 'longer lifetime' oxidizing species will be further discussed in **Chapter 6**.

5.4 Concluding Remarks

The superiority of sulfate-based electrochemical systems using BDD anodes was investigated over a wide range of various operating conditions, where results indicated higher removal rates than nitrate in all the examined cases. The removal rate of diatrizoate was faster at the lowest concentration of sulfate (5 mM) compared to the rate measured with a 12-fold higher concentration of nitrate. Even when the applied current density was halved to 100 A m⁻², sulfate anolyte yielded a significantly higher electrochemical oxidation rate than nitrate.

Even the lowest investigated sulfate concentration of 1.56 mM (i.e., ~150 mg L⁻¹), reported up to 4 times higher apparent rate constants for diatrizoate degradation in a sulfate-based anolyte, compared to the inert nitrate electrolyte of the same concentration and was still higher than the rate achieved with the highest nitrate concentration studied in this work (i.e. 60 mM). Since sulfate concentrations have been detected in many surface and ground waters at concentrations up to 630 mg L⁻¹, this activation of sulfate at BDD electrodes polarized at a sufficiently high anode potential may have significant implications in the treatment of sulfate-containing wastewaters.

The results from testing different volumes fell within the same scheme, where 2.0 L of diatrizoate were treated by sulfate faster than 0.25 L of diatrizoate being treated in the absence of sulfate. This suggested that the reaction of diatrizoate oxidation was not only occurring via SO_4 . radicals in the vicinity of the electrode but might also be potentially taking place in the bulk of the anolyte solution.

The potential electro-generation of sulfate-based oxidizing species characterized by a 'longer lifetime' is worth investigating, and will be further discussed in **Chapter 6**.

Chapter 6: Long-life Oxidizing Species in Sulfate-based Electrochemical Systems

Chapter 6 explores the potential extended reactive life time of the sulfate-based oxidizing agents in electrochemical systems. Early on during experimental work of the thesis, it became apparent that these oxidizing agents may have oxidising capacity beyond when the applied current is stopped. This chapter examines the extended reactive life time of oxidizing agents by delayed quenching experiments (Section 6.3.1), and pulse electric current applications (Section 6.3.2). It also studies the effect of off-line diatrizoate oxidation without applied current by pre-oxidized sulfate anolyte (Section 6.3.3). An extended working lifetime could be greatly advantageous from an applications perspective, because it may allow alternative operational strategies with current on-off cycling to conserve energy.

6.1 Introduction

The previous chapter focused on the influence of the operating conditions such as the concentrations and conductivity of anolyte solutions, as well as the applied current density and the anolyte volume on the electrochemical oxidation of diatrizoate in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes. Besides the results of anolyte volume effect, in the final sets of experiments in Chapter 5, an unfamiliar but noteworthy phenomenon was observed. Several replicate experiments of the 1.56 mM sulfate yielded 'largely different' removal rates despite repetitions, with the lowest removal rate being 1.48 ± 0.152 h⁻¹, and the highest being > 4.5 h⁻¹ (above that which was observed in 5 mM sulfate concentration). Although in all our sampling procedure, ~ 1.0 ml samples were collected from the electrochemical reactor then quenched with 250 µL methanol, it was observed that a delay of several minutes in the quenching procedure might possibly alter the results of the concentrations of the target organic compounds measured using LC-MS. A plausible analytical method could not be found, except that quenching agent was added to samples after different times following the sampling event.

The preliminary observations suggested that the oxidation reaction did not actually stop after the sample was taken out of the reactor (i.e. in the absence of electrical current). These findings suggested that these sulfate-based electrochemical systems might be possibly capable of producing long-life oxidizing agents that are strong enough to further degrade diatrizoate to a substantial extent. This was contrary to the common assumption that that the oxidation reaction of chemical compounds stops when the electric current is not applied anymore (except where chlorine is formed).

The possibility of the formation of long-life sulfate-based oxidizing species was only reported from disinfection studies using 'chlorine-free' sulfate-based electrochemical systems, carried by Bergmann group (Bergmann and Rollin 2007, Bergmann *et al.* 2009) and few other authors (Gusmão *et al.* 2010, Li *et al.* 2010, Gómez-López *et al.* 2013). In their work, a sulfate solution was electrolyzed in the absence of any chloride or organic matter, and then added to a solution containing microorganism such as E. coli, resulting in significant disinfection of the microbial solution, where the extent of this sulfate-based electrochemical disinfection reached up to 50% in some cases (Gusmão *et al.* 2010).

Thus, the objectives of this Chapter 6 were to explore the possibility of formation of long-life sulfatebased oxidizing agents and their ability to oxidize chemicals even after the applied current is stopped. The extended reactive life-time of such oxidants could be of significant importance from an applications perspective as it may induce large potential savings in the electric energy consumption resulting from alternative operational strategies.

6.2 Materials and Methods

The CEM-divided electrochemical reactor described in the **Cell Design and Reactor Specifications** (Section 3.1) was used. The preliminary experiments involved the electrochemical oxidation of 2 μ M carbamazepine using 40 mM sulfate prepared with pH 2 and 9.0 mS cm⁻¹, and operated with 200 A m⁻². These experiments were performed using the delayed quenching approach further described below in Section 6.2.1.

In order to assess the occurrence of the phenomenon of the extended reactive lifetime of the sulfatebased oxidants in another compound having different structure than carbamazepine, the electrochemical oxidation of 10 μ M diatrizoate was performed in 3 different anolyte solutions. Sodium sulfate, nitrate, or persulfate solutions of 500 mL were prepared at salt concentrations of 1.56 mM (pH 2 and 4.75 ± 0.3 mS cm⁻¹). All anolyte solutions were prepared by first adjusting pH to 2 using nitric acid, then adding 1.56 mM of the corresponding salt ion, thus yielding relatively similar solution conductivity. Note that the total concentration of nitrate was higher than that of sulfate and persulfate because of adding nitric acid. The applied current density in this study was 100 A m⁻².

6.2.1 Delayed Quenching Experiments

Control experiments were conducted by periodically taking two oxidized samples for every specific time *t*. One sample was immediately quenched using methanol without any delays and within less than 5 seconds of the actual sampling. The other sample was left on the bench at room temperature without quenching or freezing for a certain time (e.g., 30 minutes), then the same quenching procedure was applied. The concentrations of the instant-quenching samples were then compared with those of the 'on-bench *delayed-quenching*'. The purpose of these experiments was to exclude any effect of the actual anode surface in terms of if the oxidizing agents are possibly adsorbed on the anode surface and are able to oxidize the organic compound even without any applied current (i.e., after the current is stopped).

In the preliminary experiments testing carbamazepine, samples were collected from the reactor at 3 different time points (Sample t-1, Sample t-2, and Sample t-3). At every sampling time, t, 6 samples were collected, then quenched with methanol after a delay of 0, 10, 20, 30, 40, 60, or 90 min. This test was mainly conducted to explore the extent of the reactive life-time of the additional oxidation reaction occurring in these systems.

After conducting the preliminary experiments, electrooxidation of diatrizoate control experiments were conducted along with the delayed quenching experiments. However, the resting time on the bench in the delayed quenching step was defined to be 30 min in these tests.

6.2.2 Pulse Electric Current Experiments

A second set of experiments were performed at similar conditions to the *delayed-quenching* experiments, but with an intermittent current mode instead of a continuous current. The intermittent mode was designed to apply the electric current for x minutes (e.g., 5 minutes) followed by no current for y minutes (e.g., 15 minutes), then applying the current again for x minutes and stopping it for y minutes in a cyclic mode for up to 80 minutes. In all experiments, the samples were left after the 80 minutes for an extra 10 min designated as an extra resting time. To keep the reactor mixed, the circulation of anolyte continued during the no-current period.

The samples were periodically collected for analysis at the end of electrolysis time (i.e., x) and resting time (i.e., y), and immediately quenched with methanol. The first 'electrooxidation time – resting time' mode was a 10 - 10 min scenario, which was then compared to a 5 - 15 min scenario. This procedure of both scenarios is illustrated in **Figure 6.1**.

Results of the first two modes were then further compared to 1 - 19 min and 1 - 9 min, where electrooxidation time in the latter two studies was reduced to 1 min, to investigate the effect of introducing a spiked current. In these later experiments, the current was first applied for 5 min then stopping for 15 min to activate the system, followed by spiking a current for 1 min then stopping for 19 min or 9 min. Samples were not collected after electrolysis time and were taken only after resting time (i.e., every 10 or 20 min without including any sampling after the spike minute itself).

6.2.3 Off-line Diatrizoate Oxidation Experiments

To study the potential possibility of catalysis by the by-products of the contaminant being oxidized, a new approach was tested by electrolysing a pure sulfate solution without any organic matter inside the reactor, and then adding an aliquot of the electrolysed sulfate onto a diatrizoate solution prepared outside of the reactor.



Figure 6.1 The procedure for the different modes of intermittent electric current application tested with the electro-chemical oxidation of diatrizoate, where the electric current was applied intermittently every x min and stopped for y min in a cyclic pattern. Sampling points are marked with dotted arrows

Thus, only sulfate anolyte was oxidized (0.5 L; pH 2; and 100 A m⁻²) inside the reactor for 120 min. Meanwhile, four bottles (50 mL) of 10 μ M diatrizoate were prepared and stored outside of the reactor. Every 30 min, a 5 mL aliquot of the electro-oxidized sulfate was added to the 50 mL diatrizoate bottle and left to react over 1 h, while taking samples every 30 min. The procedure is schemed in **Figure 6.2**. These experiments were conducted with 3 different sulfate concentrations of 7.5, 25, or 40 mM.



Figure 6.2 The procedure for the off-line oxidation of diatrizoate by pre-oxidized sulfate anolyte (0.5 L; pH 2; and 4.5 mS cm⁻¹). Sampling points are marked with dotted arrows.

After 120 min of electrooxidation of SO_4^{2-} , an aliquot of 5 mL diatrizoate (10 μ M) was added to the reactor solution (i.e., final DTR concentration inside the reactor is 0.1 μ M after addition). The mixed solution was electro-oxidized for 1 hour so that the activated sulfate inside the reactor would degrade the diatrizoate completely. Then 5 mL aliquot of the electro-oxidized sulfate was taken and added to a 50 mL bottle of diatrizoate prepared outside of the reactor as in the previous procedure and were left to react for 60 min. This experiment was run in 3 replicates.

6.3 Results

The preliminary results collected in these sulfate systems (before designing the experimental plan of diatrizoate) showed that the oxidation of carbamazepine continued to a significant extent reaching 20% additional removal in a medium where the electric current was not being applied anymore. This extended oxidation was occurring over an active period of time reaching 60 - 90 min, but the largest extent of the prolonged oxidation was between 20 to 30 min, after which the removal was only slightly changing. Therefore, the resting time used in designing further experimentations on the long-life oxidants was selected to be in the range of 20 - 30 min (**Figure 6.3**).



Figure 6.3 The additional removal (%) of the delayed quenching during the sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation of carbamazepine in three samples (t-1, t-2, and t-3), as a function of resting time (min) in order to explore the extent of prolonged oxidation (40 mM SO₄²⁻; pH 2; and 9.0 mS cm⁻¹; 200 A m⁻²; and 0.5 L)

6.3.1 Effect of Delayed Quenching on Oxidation of Diatrizoate

Table 6.1 shows the results of the control experiments for nitrate, persulfate and sulfate anolytes employed for the electrochemical removal of diatrizoate. Within 90 min, the removal of diatrizoate was almost complete in sulfate anolyte, achieving 99% removal, whereas in the other anolytes, the same time of treatment yielded partial removal at 40% and 42% in nitrate and persulfate anolytes, respectively.

The electrooxidation rates of diatrizoate in nitrate and persulfate anolytes were relatively similar with $0.36 \pm 0.05 \text{ h}^{-1}$ and $0.34 \pm 0.01 \text{ h}^{-1}$, respectively, being 8-folds lower as compared to sulfate anolyte $(2.90 \pm 0.1 \text{ h}^{-1})$. This finding further advocates that, in the absence of an activator, persulfate ions cannot be considered to be among the main sulfate-based oxidizing agents that are electrochemically generated in the BDD-based electrooxidation systems employing sulfate ions as anolyte.

Time (min)	NO ₃ -	$S_2O_8^{2-}$	SO4 ²⁻
0	0%	0%	0%
15	12%	15%	16%
30	16%	22%	47%
45	22%	26%	80%
60	34%	28%	89%
90	40%	42%	99%
120	49%	47%	100%

Table 6.1 Removal percentages (%) of electrochemical oxidation of 10 μ M diatrizoate in 1.56 mM anolyte, comparing the three anolytes (nitrate, persulfate, and sulfate) prepared as 500 mL with pH 2, and 4.75 ± 0.3 mS cm⁻¹ and operated with an electric current density of 100 A m⁻²

Results of the on-bench *delayed quenching* experiments showed that no significant prolonged oxidation of diatrizoate was observed when employing NO_3^- and $S_2O_8^{2-}$ anolytes (**Figure 6.4**). All observed differences between delayed-quench samples and instantaneous-quench samples were lower than 10%, generally being within the analytical measurement error range.

However, only when SO_4^{2-} analyte was employed, the on-bench *delayed quenching* showed a significant additional oxidation, reaching approximately 29 - 36% in the samples collected at electrolysis time, t = 10 - 45 min. Whereas, this additional oxidation decreased to only 7 - 13% as the remaining diatrizoate concentration was lowered to below 20% of its initial concentration, which is not unexpected because diatrizoate is almost completely removed by this stage.

This additional oxidation indicates that energy consumption in such systems can be largely optimized, to induce massive savings. For instance, treating an influent of 10 μ M diatrizoate can be conducted for 15 minutes, thus achieving a removal of 16%, then discharged outside the reactor, where the removal is expected to exceed 50% within the next 30 minutes. The energy savings from such a procedure exceed 50%, and can achieve higher values with a proper optimization.



Figure 6.4 Diatrizoate removal (%) during the electrochemical oxidation and the delayed quenching, in nitrate (top), persulfate (middle), and sulfate (bottom) anolyte. The grey fraction signifies the removal % in instant-quench samples and the white fraction signifies the removal % of diatrizoate in delayed-quench samples. The error bars represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements

6.3.2 Effect of the Pulse Electric Current Modes on Diatrizoate Oxidation

These results suggest that an extended oxidation of diatrizoate is occurring after the sample was taken out of the reactor (i.e., after the electric current has been stopped), where this phenomenon is exclusively observed in the sulfate anolytes. This observed extended oxidation indicates that controlling the applied current density, such as the application of intermittent electric current or pulse electric current, can be expected to prompt substantial energy savings in these sulfate-based electrochemical systems using BDD anodes.

Results of the pulse electric current modes showed that the off-periods when current was switched off gave substantial further oxidation by an additional removal ranging from 9 - 10 % up to 16% (**Figure 6.5**). With both 10 - 10 min and 5 - 15 min scenario, diatrizoate removal exceeded ~ 75% after applying a live electric current for only 25 - 30 min, compared to 45 min of continuous electric current required to accomplish similar diatrizoate removal. When testing the removal of diatrizoate via the 1 - 19 and 1 - 9 min modes, the additional removal was smaller and in the range of 2 - 8 %, and suggest that a shorter electrolysis time can still yield further oxidation of diatrizoate. Therefore, the electrolysis time in such pulse electric current scenarios is of high importance and would require optimization.

In the case of nitrate and persulfate, no additional oxidation was observed when pulse electric current modes were tested. The final removal of diatrizoate after applying a live electric current for 40 min in nitrate was 19% which falls in accordance with the removal in the continuous current mode at t= 30 - 45 min (16 - 22%). Similar results were observed for persulfate with 23% removal, similar to the 22 - 26% (at t= 30 - 45 min).

The total applied current required to reach 75% removal was reduced from 45 min when continuously applying the current to 30 min in the 10 - 10 min scenario and 25 min in the 5 - 15 min scenario. Such savings in the electric energy consumption from the lower electrolysis time to achieve 75% reached 33.33% in the 10 - 10 min, and up to 44.44% in the 5 - 15 min scenario.



Figure 6.5 Diatrizoate removal (%) during the sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation using different intermittent electric current modes. The grey fraction signifies the removal % during applying the electric current, and the white fraction signifies the additional removal occurring during the resting time when the current is stopped

6.3.3 Effect of Off-line Diatrizoate Oxidation by pre-Oxidized Sulfate Anolyte

In order to examine the possibility of catalysis via the by-products of the organic contaminants being oxidized, electrolysing a pure sulfate solution without any organic matter inside the reactor and then adding it to a diatrizoate solution outside of the reactor was tested. The results showed that the removal % of diatrizoate was insignificant as it was obtained at less than 10% of the initial concentrations. These results suggest that the organic matter have an important role to play in the formation and activity of the long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents.

When aliquot of 5 mL diatrizoate was added to the reactor solution after 120 min of electrooxidation of SO_4^{2-} , and left to electro-oxidize for 1 hour and then added to diatrizoate outside the reactor, the removal of diatrizoate reached up to $18 \pm 2\%$ after injecting the system with diatrizoate. Results further indicate that the presence of organic matter is an important factor influencing the long-life time of the sulfate-based oxidizing agents, and suggest that the presence of even a very small concentration of organic matter inside the reactor would enhance the production of the sulfate-based oxidizing agents. Further optimization of the concentration of injected diatrizoate as well as the electrolysis time would further elucidate the roles of these factors in this activation method.

6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Possible Mechanisms of the Formation of Long-life Sulfate-based Oxidants

In the absence of any chloride ions in the system, no long-life chlorine is expected to be playing any role in these experiments. Thus, the possibility of a potential contribution of other long-life oxidants such as ozone, hydrogen peroxide, or persulfate to the removal of diatrizoate can be argued since the production of these oxidants has been reported in literature (Cañizares *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Meas *et al.* 2011). However, hydrogen peroxide and persulfate ions were both shown to be unlikely candidates (**Chapter 4**, **Section 4.3.2**, **Table 4.2**), and diatrizoate is reported to be very recalcitrant to ozone (Ternes *et al.* 2003, Huber *et al.* 2005).

The possibility of ozone and hydrogen peroxide being formed in the solution for a very short time, followed by their quick decay, where they dissociate into 'OH or other radical species which might activate persulfate or directly oxidize diatrizoate is also not possible. This is because the pH of the medium is highly acidic at pH 2, where ozone is not expected to report any decomposition to 'OH at such acidic pH (Huber *et al.* 2005), not to mention that the life-time of 'OH is $0.2 - 40 \,\mu$ s (Burns *et al.* 2012). Moreover, Davis *et al.* (2014) previously ruled out the possibility of the electrochemical formation of ozone or H₂O₂ in sulfate systems employing BDD anodes using a careful method, despite that the production of these oxidants has been earlier reported elsewhere in literature (Cañizares *et al.* 2009, Panizza and Cerisola 2009, Meas *et al.* 2011).

An anolyte sample collected from the electrochemical reactor is expected to contain only residues and by-products of diatrizoate oxidation, besides the sulfate and persulfate ions, which have been dismissed as viable long-life oxidants. The results of the off-line diatrizoate oxidation by pre-oxidized sulfate suggested that the diatrizoate residues and by-products may play a role in the extended reactive lifetime of the sulfate-based oxidants. This might be attributed to a potential activation by quinones or other organic by-products formed during the electrooxidation of the organic contaminants (Fang *et al.* 2013). Yet, the contribution of long-life oxidants was also observed for the oxidation of other compounds such as carbamazepine by up to 20% additional removal (as shown in the preliminary results) although carbamazepine possesses completely different functional groups as compared to the iodinated diatrizoate. This adds to the ambiguity of the long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents being produced in addition to the sulfate radicals in electrochemical treatment systems using sulfate anolytes and BDD anodes.

6.4.2 Energy Savings Induced by the Sulfate-based Oxidants

The electric energy consumption per order (E_{EO}) as well as the energy savings (%), for the four different pulse current modes, 10 - 10 min, 5 - 15 min, 1 - 9 min, and 1 - 19 min are described in **Table 6.2.** This table also compares their electric energy consumption to that for the delayed-quench experiment of sulfate (data point t = 30 min) and the control experiment of continuous electric current application.

	Electric Energy Consumption per order (KWh m ⁻³)	Energy Savings (%)
Control Exp.	9.2	-
Delayed quench	6.7	27%
10 – 10 min	6	35%
5 – 15 min	5.9	36%
1 – 9 min	6.1	34%
1 – 19 min	5.3	42%

Table 6.2 Electric energy consumption per order (E_{EO}), expressed as electric energy, kWh m⁻³, to decrease the diatrizoate concentration in Na₂SO₄ by one order of magnitude in a unit volume of treated solution for the different current application scenarios

Calculations show that the delayed quench experiment yielded 27% energy savings with only 6.7 kWh m⁻³ compared to the continuous electric current requiring 9.2 kWh m⁻³. Whereas, the energy consumption of the electrochemical system using the different pulse current modes was reduced by 34 to 42% from 9.2 to as low as 5.3 kWh m⁻³.

Being able to reduce the electric energy consumption by more than one fourth in delayed quench and more than one third in pulse current application is of high significance and advocates the potential application of such sulfate-based electrochemical treatment systems.

6.5 Concluding Remarks

This chapter explored the formation of long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents and reported their ability to oxidize chemicals even after the applied current is stopped. This finding suggested large savings in electrical energy consumption in the novel current applications of these sulfate-based electrochemical systems in the removal of persistent organic contaminants. The on-bench delayed quenching as well as the application of intermittent electric current using several different pulse modes provided solid evidence of the formation of these long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents. The 'organics-free' electrochemical oxidation of sulfate ions followed by its addition to the diatrizoate prepared outside the reactor with and without spiking with a small concentration of diatrizoate suggested that the presence of the organic matter at the time of the electrolysis of sulfate ions is an important factor governing the formation of these long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents. The possibility of a potential contribution of ozone, hydrogen peroxide, or persulfate was ruled out, and the similar results obtained for other organic compounds added to the ambiguity of the nature of these long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents being produced in addition to the sulfate radicals in electrochemical treatment systems using sulfate anolytes and BDD anodes. Regardless of the nature of the oxidizing agents being produced, this work further confirmed the formation of long-life sulfatebased oxidizing agents, capable of significantly oxidizing persistent organic contaminants such as diatrizoate and carbamazepine, while inducing large energy savings due to their extended reactive lifetime.

Chapter 7: Impact of Chloride on Resorcinol Oxidation by Electro-Activated Sulfate

This chapter presents the results of investigating the influence of the presence of chloride ions on the performance of BDD electrooxidation of resorcinol as a surrogate for natural organic matter (NOM), in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolyte. Resorcinol was chosen instead of diatrizoate because it acts as a surrogate for natural matter and also because of the impracticality of using large initial concentrations of diatrizoate (~ 100 mg L⁻¹), several order of magnitude higher than what is being detected in water bodies. The electrochemical removal of resorcinol (Section 7.3.1), and its mineralization (Section 7.3.2), were compared in sulfate and nitrate solutions at various chloride concentrations in this Chapter. It also investigated the formation of chlorinated organic by-products measured as adsorbable organic chlorine (Section 7.3.3), as well as of the toxic inorganic by-products such as chlorate and perchlorate (Section 7.3.4). The effect of sulfate addition on chloride-based electrooxidation of resorcinol was also presented in this chapter (Section 7.3.5), as well as the performance of these systems at acidic pH and neutral pH (Section 7.3.6).

7.1 Introduction

One of the main limitations of electrooxidation processes is the formation of toxic chlorinated organic and inorganic by-products in the presence of chloride (Bergmann and Rollin 2007). Anodic oxidation of Cl⁻ generates reactive chlorine species such as chlorine (Cl₂) and hypochloric acid (HOCl), which react rapidly with unsaturated bonds and electron-rich moieties to form chlorinated organic byproducts (Deborde and Von Gunten 2008). In addition, chloride ions are also electrochemically oxidized to chlorine radicals (Cl[•] and Cl₂[•]) (Park *et al.* 2009, Cho and Hoffmann 2014). Although the exact mechanisms of the reaction of chloride ions with 'OH and SO₄[•] electrogenerated at the BDD anode have not been explained yet, they can be assumed as analogous to their reaction with the homogeneously formed radical species. While 'OH reacts with Cl⁻ via ClOH^{•-} intermediate to form Cl[•] and Cl₂^{•-} radicals (**Eqs. 7.1–7.4**), SO₄^{•-} directly forms Cl[•] radicals (**Eq. 7.6**), k = 3.0×10^8 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ (Das 2001).

(Eq. 7.1)	$Cl^- + OH$	\leftrightarrow	ClOH
(Eq. 7.2)	$ClOH^{-} + H^{+}$	\leftrightarrow	$Cl^{\bullet} + H_2O$
(Eq. 7.3)	$ClOH^{-} + Cl^{-}$	\leftrightarrow	$Cl_2^{\bullet} + OH^{\bullet}$
(Eq. 7.4)	$Cl^{-} + Cl^{\bullet}$	\leftrightarrow	Cl ₂ •-
(Eq. 7.6)	$SO_4^{\bullet-} + Cl^-$	\leftrightarrow	$\text{Cl}^{\bullet} + \text{SO}_4^{2-}$

Compared to 'OH (E^0 = 2.38 V) and SO₄⁻ (E^0 = 2.43 V), the chloride radical (Cl⁺, E^0 (Cl⁺/Cl⁻) = 2.41 V) (Schwarz and Dodson 1984, Wardman 1989) reacts with aromatics at similar second-order rate constants ranging from 10⁸-10⁹ M⁻¹ s⁻¹ (Neta *et al.* 1988). Cl⁺ is converted into a weaker oxidant, namely dichloride radical ion (Cl₂⁻⁻, E^0 (Cl₂⁻⁻/2Cl⁻⁻) = 2.09 V) (Schwarz and Dodson 1984, Wardman 1989), in the presence of higher chloride concentrations. Both radical species react via hydrogen abstraction and electron transfer, as well as addition to double bonds, with the latter resulting in the formation of toxic organochlorines (Costa *et al.* 2009, Grebel *et al.* 2010). It is noteworthy to mention that redox potential values often cited in literature are in fact of limited information mainly because reactions are principally driven by kinetics rather than by thermodynamics.

In addition, the presence of chloride may yield toxic chlorate, and also perchlorate, at higher current densities typically applied in electrooxidation at BDD anode (Bergmann *et al.* 2009). While chlorate can be formed chemically and electrochemically, perchlorate generation is strictly electrochemical and limited to further oxidation of chlorate at the anode surface (Bergmann and Rollin 2007). In Chapter 4, we have observed electrochemical activation of sulfate, which yielded 10-15 folds-higher

removal rates of several persistent organic contaminants as compared to 'OH-based anodic oxidation, i.e., oxidation at the BDD anode in the absence of SO_4^{2-} . The presence of SO_4^{2-} and its presumed activation to SO_4^{-} at the BDD anode may have a significant impact on the electrooxidation of organic matter as well as on the electrogeneration of both organic and inorganic chlorinated compounds.

Therefore, the objective of this study was to investigate the performance of BDD electrooxidation of resorcinol as a surrogate for natural organic matter (NOM), in Na₂SO₄ anolyte and in the presence of chloride, and compare it to inert NaNO₃ anolyte. The potential scavenging effect of Cl⁻ on the removal of resorcinol was investigated primarily at acidic pH 2, which yields the same redox potentials for SO₄⁺ (i.e., 2.5 - 3.1 V) and 'OH (i.e., 2.38 - 2.7 V) and minimises the hydrolysis of SO₄⁺ into 'OH, which is expected to occur at high pH (Buxton *et al.* 1988, Neta *et al.* 1988, Wardman 1989, Zhang *et al.* 2014). Given that pH has a different effect on the respective scavenging of Cl⁻ by 'OH and Cl⁻ by SO₄⁺⁻, a set of experiments was also performed at neutral pH. This work investigated the removal of resorcinol and total organic carbon (TOC), as well as the formation of chlorinated organic by-products measured as adsorbable organic chlorine (AOCl), and the inorganic by-products chlorate and perchlorate.

7.2 Materials and Methods

7.2.1 Experimental Setup

The same CEM-divided electrochemical reactor as described in the **Cell Design and Reactor Specifications (Section 3.1)** was used for all pH 2 experiments. The reactor was modified for the experiments at neutral pH to an undivided one-chamber cell, having the same volume as the anodic chamber of the divided cell and thus maintaining the same active vs. total volume ratio in all experiments. The solution pH in the undivided cell was controlled at pH 6.96 \pm 0.3 using a *Liquisys M* pH controller from Endress+Hauser (Switzerland). All experiments were conducted with 2 L solutions of 100 mg L⁻¹ resorcinol, pumped at 200 mL min⁻¹ at room temperature (23 \pm 2 °C). Chronopotentiometric experiments were performed during 6 h at the applied current density of 200 A m⁻² (resulting anode potential was 3.1 \pm 0.1 V vs SHE). In periodic sampling, 26 mL samples collected every hour were immediately quenched with 260 µL of 1.0 M sodium bisulfite (NaHSO₃).

To investigate the effect of chloride on sulfate-based electro-oxidation at BDD anode, the removal of resorcinol was studied with 0, 5, 10, 20, and 40 mM of NaCl in Na₂SO₄ or NaNO₃ anolytes (pH 2 \pm 0.1 and 8.7 \pm 1.0 mS cm⁻¹). In order to prepare all anolyte solutions at similar initial pH and

conductivity while containing different chloride concentrations (0 – 40 mM), sulfate or nitrate solutions were adjusted to pH 2 by adding concentrated H₂SO₄ or HNO₃, respectively. The final SO₄²⁻ concentration in all cases was fixed at 20 mM, whereas the NO₃⁻ concentrations needed to prepare the anolyte solutions with pH 2 and ~ 9.0 mS cm⁻¹ was 40.9 ± 8.3 mM, except in the absence of chloride where NO₃⁻ concentrations needed was 60 mM. A set of experiments was designed at fixed 10 mM Cl⁻, while varying the sulfate concentration (0, 5, 10, and 20 mM). In the neutral pH experiments, the employed electrolytes were Na₂SO₄ (20 mM) and NaNO₃ (80 mM) in the presence of 10 mM NaCl (pH 6.96 ± 0.3 and 9.1 ± 0.2 mS cm⁻¹), where the pH was adjusted by adding concentrated NaOH.

7.2.2 Chemical Analysis

Total organic carbon (TOC) was measured using a Shimadzu TOC-L CSH Analyser (Japan). Highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC) equipped with a diode array UV detector (SPD-M10AVP) from Shimadzu, Japan was employed to measure resorcinol. The concentrations of Cl⁻, ClO_3^- , and ClO_4^- were determined using Dionex ICS-2100 ion chromatography (IC) (Sunnyvale, CA), equipped with a DS6 heated conductivity detector. The measurement of free chlorine was not possible during electrolysis in Na₂SO₄ anolyte, due to the interference of the formed persulfate in the N,N'-diethyl-p-phenylenediamine (DPD) method. For this reason, we could not compare the residual chlorine in NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolyte. Adsorbable organic chloride (AOCl) was determined using AQF-2100H Shimadzu system (Japan) for a limited number of samples only, due to cost limitations. Details of the analytical methods are summarized in Chapter 3 (**Section 3.3**).

7.3 Results and Discussion

7.3.1 Effect of chloride addition on the electrooxidation of resorcinol

The apparent electrooxidation rate constants of resorcinol in NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolyte and with the addition of different chloride concentrations are summarized in **Table 7.1**. In the absence of chloride, electrooxidation of resorcinol was approximately 8-fold faster in Na₂SO₄ anolyte due to electrochemical activation of sulfate, which is in agreement with the results obtained in previous chapters. Addition of incremental amounts of chloride to NaNO₃ background anolyte increased the apparent rate constants for resorcinol oxidation from 0.26 ± 0.03 h⁻¹ (0 mM Cl⁻) to 1.2 ± 0.13 h⁻¹ (40 mM Cl⁻). Chloride has an inhibiting effect on the degradation of organic contaminants by the homogeneously formed 'OH, particularly at low pH, due to the formation of radical chlorine species (Cl[•], Cl₂^{•-}) which are weaker oxidants than 'OH (Pignatello 1992, Kiwi *et al.* 2000, Seiss *et al.* 2001, Maciel *et al.* 2004, Moraes *et al.* 2004, Afzal *et al.* 2012). The enhancing effect of chloride observed in NaNO₃ anolyte can be ascribed to an increased generation of free available chlorine (Cl₂/HOCl) by the electrolysis of chloride at BDD anode (Bergmann and Rollin 2007). Resorcinol (pK_{a1} = 9.43, pK_{a2} = 11.21) is an electron-rich compound susceptible to electrophilic aromatic substitution by chlorine, particularly at pH 2 where its reactivity with chlorine is exponentially increased (k= 8.6 × $10^6 \text{ M}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Rebenne *et al.* 1996). Thus, electrooxidation of resorcinol in NaNO₃ anolyte and in the presence of chloride concentrations seems to be dominated by electrochlorination.

The addition of chloride gradually decreased the apparent rate constant of resorcinol removal in Na₂SO₄ from 2.4 \pm 0.18 h⁻¹ (0 mM Cl⁻) to 0.61 \pm 0.06 h⁻¹ (20 mM Cl⁻). This inhibiting effect of chloride could be a consequence of more pronounced scavenging of Cl⁻ and conversion of SO₄^{•-} to less reactive halogen radicals (**Eq. 7.6**). Yang et al. observed a greater impact of Cl⁻ on the SO₄^{•-}- based oxidation than in the case of 'OH-based oxidation at neutral pH (Yang *et al.* 2014). They explained this by the direct formation of Cl⁻, compared to reactions involving ClOH^{•-} intermediate in the latter case (**Eqs. 7.1–7.2**). Although acidic pH causes the balance of the **Eq. (7.2**) to move to the right, the formation of Cl⁻ from 'OH remains a two-step process.

Addition of chloride in excess to sulfate slightly increased the apparent rate constant of resorcinol from 0.61 ± 0.06 h⁻¹ to 0.81 ± 0.11 h⁻¹ at 40 mM Cl⁻, probably due to chlorine being generated in more significant amounts at the anode and thus enhanced contribution of electrochlorination to the removal of resorcinol. It is important to note that the impact of halides on SO4⁻-based oxidation seems to depend on the target contaminant removed, and it can either inhibit or promote their degradation (Liang *et al.* 2006, Fang *et al.* 2012, Yang *et al.* 2014). Thus, while it may be possible to extrapolate the results obtained here to electron-rich compounds of similar structure to resorcinol, the effect of chloride on electrooxidation in the presence of sulfate may differ for other contaminants, and particularly for electron-deficient molecules.

Table 7.1 Apparent first-order rate constants (±error at 95% confidence level) for electrooxidation of resorcinol (k_{RES} , h^{-1}) in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes at pH 2 and 9 mS cm⁻¹ in the presence of 0 – 40 mM NaCl.

$k_{RES} (h^{-1})$	0 mM Cl ⁻	5 mM Cl ⁻	10 mM Cl ⁻	20 mM Cl ⁻	40 mM Cl ⁻
NaNO ₃	0.26 ± 0.03	0.27 ± 0.04	0.44 ± 0.03	0.77 ± 0.19	1.2 ± 0.13
Na ₂ SO ₄	2.4 ± 0.18	1.1 ± 0.18	0.60 ± 0.09	0.61 ± 0.06	0.81 ± 0.11

7.3.2 Effect of chloride addition on TOC removal

In terms of TOC removal, Na₂SO₄ anolyte yielded 2.7-fold higher degradation rate compared to NaNO₃ anolyte in the absence of chloride (**Table 7.2**). Addition of chloride to NaNO₃ anolyte did not have a significant effect on the mineralization of resorcinol, and the apparent rate constant for TOC removal remained relatively constant at around 0.062 - 0.076 h⁻¹. This is in accordance with the abovementioned assumption of electrochlorination being the dominant mechanism of resorcinol oxidation in the absence of sulfate. Electrophilic substitution of resorcinol with chlorine and/or addition of chloride radicals to a benzene ring are likely to lead to its transformation to chlorinated aromatic by-products, rather than mineralization. Thus, a higher concentration of anodically formed chlorine present in excess is not expected to have a substantial effect on the TOC removal efficiency of the process. Previously, removal of TOC in sulfamethoxazole electrooxidation at BDD anode was found to be current-controlled (i.e., proportional to the supplied charge) and independent of chloride concentration (Boudreau *et al.* 2010).

In addition, in the presence of high chloride concentration, most of the electrogenerated 'OH can be expected to be scavenged by the Cl⁻ and converted to chlorine radicals (Cl[•], Cl₂^{•-}) (Park *et al.* 2009), which are also capable of bond breakage, albeit that chlorine radicals are weaker oxidants than 'OH (Cho *et al.* 2014). The Cl⁻ scavenging of 'OH leads to the formation primarily of Cl₂^{•-}(E⁰(Cl₂^{•-}/2Cl⁻) = 2.09 V) (Schwarz and Dodson 1984, Wardman 1989), in the presence of excess chloride (Kiwi *et al.* 2000, Yang *et al.* 2014). Formation of a stronger oxidant of Cl[•], (E⁰ Cl[•]/Cl⁻) = 2.41 V) (Schwarz and Dodson 1984, Wardman 1989), can be expected only for chloride-to-substrate ratios lower than 1 (Gilbert *et al.* 1988, Buxton *et al.* 2000), which was not the case in the present study because the initial concentration of resorcinol was only 0.91 mM (100 mg L⁻¹). Similar to 'OH, Cl₂^{•-} reacts with aromatics via hydrogen abstraction, electrophilic addition, and direct electron transfer mechanisms, and was likely responsible for bond breakage and organic matter degradation in the presence of Cl⁻ (Park *et al.* 2009).

Yet, Cl⁻ exhibited an inhibiting effect on the resorcinol mineralization in Na₂SO₄ anolyte. For example, the apparent TOC removal rate constant was halved from 0.19 ± 0.02 h⁻¹ to 0.09 ± 0.01 h⁻¹ after addition of 40 mM Cl⁻ (**Table 7.2**). Similar to what was observed for the apparent rate constants of resorcinol removal in the presence of Cl⁻, this result is likely a consequence of a more efficient scavenging of SO₄^{•-} by Cl⁻, compared to an 'OH-initiated oxidation. Nevertheless, TOC removal was still higher in Na₂SO₄ than in NaNO₃ anolyte for all investigated chloride concentrations, demonstrating again a stronger oxidizing capacity of BDD electrolysis in the presence of SO₄²⁻.

Chloride concentration	k_{TOC} (h^{-1})	
(mM)	NaNO ₃	Na_2SO_4
0	0.068 ± 0.007	0.19 ± 0.02
5	0.066 ± 0.003	0.14 ± 0.02
10	0.062 ± 0.003	0.11 ± 0.01
20	0.072 ± 0.006	$0.081{\pm}0.004$
40	0.076 ± 0.006	0.090 ± 0.006

Table 7.2 Apparent rate constants (±error at 95% confidence level) for the TOC removal (k_{TOC} , h^{-1}) in the electrooxidation of resorcinol in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes at pH 2 and 9 mS cm⁻¹ in the presence of 0 – 40 mM NaCl.

7.3.3 Effect of chloride addition on the formation of chlorinated organics

The formation of chlorinated organic by-products, measured as AOCl for the final samples at t= 6 h from the electrolysis experiments is presented in **Figure 7.1**. These results suggested, as expected, that higher concentration of Cl^- yielded more chlorine-based oxidants formed at the anode, and thus increased the formation of AOCl in both anolytes. AOCl generation was enhanced in NaNO₃ anolyte due to the prevailing role of anodically formed chlorine in electrochlorination, which is a long-lived oxidant able to diffuse away from the anode surface into the bulk liquid. The enhanced electrochlorination of resorcinol in NaNO₃ anolyte is also evident from the observed faster disappearance of resorcinol with increasing Cl⁻ concentrations (**Table 7.1**). Yet, AOCl was formed in lower amounts in Na₂SO₄ anolyte compared to NaNO₃ anolyte, particularly for [SO₄^{2–}]:[Cl⁻]>1. Given the more efficient conversion of Cl⁻ to Cl₂⁻⁻ in sulfate anolyte, electrochlorination of resorcinol may have been more dominated by the short-lived radical chlorine species rather than chlorine, compared with nitrate anolyte. Thus, in Na₂SO₄ anolyte the formation of chlorinated organics would be confined to the vicinity of the anode surface, thus subjecting the process to mass transfer limitations.

In addition, based on the previously discussed data for TOC removal, electrolysis in the presence of sulfate at low chloride concentrations seems to have higher oxidizing capacity than the equivalent system with NaNO₃ as background anolyte. In experiments using less than 20 mM NaCl (i.e., $[SO_4^{2^-}]:[Cl^-]>1$), AOCl appeared to form at much lower concentrations in Na₂SO₄ compared to NaNO₃ (**Figure 7.1**). This could be expected from a more efficient degradation of resorcinol and its chlorinated organic by-products by the electrogenerated SO₄⁻⁻. This is in accordance with results of

Chapter 4, where electrolysis rates of several poly-halogenated compounds (e.g., triclopyr, triclosan, tribromophenol, and X-ray contrast media) at BDD anode were 10 - 15 fold higher in SO₄²⁻ than in NO₃⁻. The difference between the formed AOCl in SO₄²⁻ and NO₃⁻ appeared to become less pronounced for [SO₄²⁻]:[Cl⁻]≤1, probably due to a greater scavenging of SO₄⁺⁻, and thus less efficient degradation of organic matter.



Figure 7.1 Formation of adsorbable organic chlorine (AOCl, in mgCl⁻ L⁻¹), after 2.4 Ah L⁻¹ of specific electrical charge supplied in the electrooxidation of resorcinol in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes (pH 2 and 9 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 5 – 40 mM NaCl

7.3.4 Effect of chloride addition on the formation of chlorate and perchlorate

Chlorate and perchlorate concentrations measured in each of the relevant experiments showed that the differences and trends discussed in this chapter were significant (**Figure 7.2**). The formation of chlorate was directly proportional to the concentration of Cl⁻, where chloride addition enhanced the anodic generation of chlorate in both anolytes. Similar results have been previously reported by other authors (Jung *et al.* 2010, Li and Ni 2012). In anodic oxidation, chlorate is formed either electrochemically, by the subsequent electrolysis of Cl⁻, OCl⁻, and ClO₂⁻ ions (Bergmann and Rollin 2007), or by a purely chemical reaction of HOCl with ClO⁻ in the bulk solution (**Eqs. 7.6 – 7.7**) (Garcia-Segura *et al.* 2015):



Figure 7.2 Concentrations of chlorate (A) and perchlorate (B) (in mgCl⁻ L⁻¹), after 2.4 Ah L⁻¹ of specific electrical charge supplied in the electrooxidation of resorcinol in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes (pH 2 and 9 mS cm⁻¹) in the presence of 5 – 40 mM NaCl

(Eq. 7.6)	$2HOCl + ClO^{-}$	\leftrightarrow	$ClO_3^- + 2Cl^- + 2H^+$
(Eq. 7.7)	$3Cl_2+6OH^-$	\leftrightarrow	$6Cl^- + ClO_3^- + 3H_2O$

Given that chemical formation of ClO_3^- is favored in the pH range 6 – 9, it was unlikely to contribute to the chlorate formation in the experiments conducted at pH 2 (Gordon and Tachiyashiki 1991). Thus, increasing the initial concentration of chloride ions enhanced their direct electrolysis and yielded higher concentrations of ClO_3^- . However, an increasing amount of chloride did not increase the formation of perchlorate in both NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolyte. Similar results were reported by Bergmann *et al.* (2009) who observed less ClO_4^- formed for higher initial Cl^- content. This was explained by the adsorption of Cl^- at the anode surface, which limits the available active sites for further ClO_3^- oxidation. The formation of perchlorate at BDD anode is considered to be purely electrochemical (Bergmann and Rollin 2007). Direct electrolysis of ClO_3^- is the rate-determining step in the multistep pathway of oxidation of Cl^- to ClO_4^- at the BDD anode (Bergmann and Rollin 2007). The mechanism was postulated to proceed as a two-step process involving direct electrolysis of $ClO_3^$ at the BDD surface to form ClO_3^+ radicals (**Eq. 7.8**), and their subsequent solution-phase reaction with the electrogenerated 'OH to yield ClO_4^- (**Eq. 7.9**) (Azizi *et al.* 2011). Thus, given that the first step is a surface-based reaction, the presence of high concentrations of competitive ions such as Cl^- may decrease the formation of ClO_4^- .

In terms of the analyte effect, both chlorate and perchlorate were formed in higher amounts in Na₂SO₄ analyte compared to the NaNO₃, for the same initial chloride concentration (**Figure 7.2**). This could be a consequence of a greater effect of NO₃⁻ adsorption at the anode surface. The ionic mobility (u_i) of NO₃⁻ and SO₄²⁻ ions was estimated using the Nernst–Einstein relationship (**Eq. 7.10**) to be 7.67 × 10^{-13} and 4.30×10^{-13} m² mol J⁻¹ s⁻¹, respectively (Moon *et al.* 2004).

(Eq. 7.10)
$$u_i = \frac{Di}{R \times T},$$

where D_i is the diffusion coefficient of species *i* in the solution (m² s⁻¹), R is the gas constant number (8.314 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹), and T is temperature (298 K). The estimated ionic mobility (u_i) of Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, and HSO₄⁻ ions in dilute solution (**Table 7.3**), allow for the elimination of the ionic mobility of species *i* (i.e., u_i , m² mol J⁻¹ s⁻¹), as an independent parameter. Higher mobility of NO₃⁻ ions compared to SO₄²⁻ ions leads to their greater adsorption at the active sites at the anode surface and thus higher inhibition of the multi-step reactions of electrochemical formation of ClO₃⁻ and ClO₄⁻. Nevertheless, this phenomenon was not contributing significantly to the observed enhanced resorcinol oxidation in Na₂SO₄, where the differences in its removal rates were not reflected by the difference between the ionic mobilities of NO₃⁻ and SO₄²⁻ ions. Resorcinol oxidation rate was 8-fold higher in Na₂SO₄ compared to SO₄²⁻ ion. In addition, electrooxidation rate constants of the seven persistent organic contaminants in NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolytes were one order of magnitude higher in sulfate despite that the higher or lower nitrate concentration used.

Ion species (i)	Diffusion coefficient (Di), 10 ⁻⁹ m ² s ⁻¹	Ionic mobility (ui) at 298 K, 10 ⁻¹³ m ² mol J ⁻¹ s ⁻¹
Cl	2.03	8.19
NO_3^-	1.90	7.67
SO_4^{2-}	1.066	4.30
$\mathrm{HSO_4}^-$	1.39	6.60

Table 7.3 Estimated ionic mobility (u_i) of Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, and HSO₄⁻ ions in dilute solution using the Nernst–Einstein relationship.

The enhanced oxidation rate of chloride ions by SO₄⁻⁻ formed at the anode surface may also contribute to the higher concentrations of ClO₃⁻⁻ and ClO₄⁻⁻ observed in Na₂SO₄ anolyte because of the competition reactions with 'OH. For example, in the presence of 40 mM NaCl, chloride was oxidized at rate of 0.066 ± 0.004 h⁻¹, in Na₂SO₄ anolyte, and 0.038 ± 0.007 h⁻¹ in NaNO₃ anolyte, as shown in **Table 7.4**, where the rates of chloride oxidation were calculated based on chloride loss as measured by IC. Electrolysis of chloride at BDD anode in Na₂SO₄ anolyte seems to favor the multi-step oxidation of Cl⁻ to ClO₃⁻ and ClO₄⁻ over its oxidation to Cl₂. Electrogenerated 'OH and SO₄⁺⁻ can possibly react with HOCl to form ClO₂⁺ and other oxychlorine radicals. Both radical species can react further with ClO₂⁺ with bimolecular rate constants in the order of 10^9 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ to form ClO₃⁻⁻ (**Eqs. 7.11** – **7.12**) (Lutze *et al.* 2015, Qian *et al.* 2016):

(Eq. 7.11)	$OH + ClO_2$ -	→	$ClO_3^- + H^+$
(Eq. 7.12)	$SO_4^{\bullet-} + ClO_2^{\bullet} + H_2O =$	→	$ClO_{3}^{-} + 2H^{+} + SO_{4}^{2-}$

Table 7.4 Apparent rate constants (h⁻¹) of chloride oxidation in Na₂SO₄ versus NaNO₃ anolyte, and in the presence of 5, 10, 20, and 40 mM NaCl at pH 2, except where mentioned pH 7 (10 mM NaCl).

Cl ⁻ (h ⁻¹)	Na ₂ SO ₄	NaNO ₃
5 mM	0.130 ± 0.009	0.094 ± 0.007
10 mM	0.096 ± 0.014	0.066 ± 0.009
20 mM	0.077 ± 0.016	0.039 ± 0.001
40 mM	0.066 ± 0.004	0.038 ± 0.007
10 mM (pH=7)	0.086 ± 0.004	0.072 ± 0.014
Previous studies reported stoichiometric conversion of Cl^- to ClO_3^- in SO_4^+ -based oxidation processes at acidic pH (Lutze *et al.* 2015, Qian *et al.* 2016). Although the reactions above were investigated for the homogeneously formed radical species, ClO_2^+ can also be formed at the BDD anode and was postulated to be an intermediate in the anodic generation of chlorate (Hubler *et al.* 2014). Thus, higher amounts of oxidizing species (i.e., SO_4^+) formed at the BDD anode in sulfate anolyte yielded higher amounts of formed chlorate than in the case of nitrate anolyte.

7.3.5 Effect of sulfate addition on chloride-based electrooxidation of resorcinol

The strong reactivity of sulfate radicals with active chlorine species was further evidenced with elevated sulfate concentrations (0, 5, 10, and 20mM) at a fixed 10 mM chloride concentration (**Table 7.5**). Results further confirmed that higher sulfate concentration yielded faster removal of resorcinol and TOC. While the effect of higher Cl⁻ concentrations has been shown to increase the formation of AOCl, ClO_3^- and ClO_4^- , the effect of higher SO_4^{2-} concentrations at fixed Cl⁻ concentration led to lower AOCl formation, yet yielded higher generation of ClO_3^- and ClO_4^- . This indicated the strong oxidation of sulfate radicals, where higher concentrations of sulfate would generate more SO_4^+ which would oxidize resorcinol and AOCl at a higher rate, leading to lower accumulation of AOCl compounds. More SO_4^+ would also react with chloride ions to produce more chloride radicals that will be further oxidized to produce more chlorate and subsequently perchlorate.

Table 7.5 Reaction rate constants (h ⁻¹) for the removal of TOC and resorcinol, along with the
formation of AOCl (mgCl ⁻ L ⁻¹), at different sulfate concentrations (0, 5, 10, and 20 mM) (pH 2;
200 A m ⁻² ; and 10 mM Cl ⁻)

	Reaction Rate	e Constants	Formed chlorinated compounds			
	(h ⁻¹)		(mg-Cl L ⁻¹)			
SO4 ²⁻ (mM)	TOC	Resorcinol	AOCI	ClO ₃ ⁻	ClO_4^-	
0	0.063±0.002	0.44±0.02	65±3.8	47±0.4	21±0.5	
5	0.077 ± 0.002	0.58 ± 0.04	61±1.9	61±4.2	27±0.7	
10	0.082±0.003	0.60±0.02	56±3.1	68±2.1	31±0.7	
20	0.108 ± 0.005	0.76 ± 0.04	35±3.5	70±4.2	69±1.2	

7.3.6 Impact of chloride on the electrooxidation of resorcinol at neutral pH

Electrooxidation of resorcinol was investigated at neutral pH in the presence of 10 mM Cl, and compared for NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ electrolyte. Increase in pH to pH 7 did not affect significantly the rates of resorcinol and TOC removal in NaNO₃ and Na₂SO₄ anolytes, and very similar rate constants were obtained to electrolysis at acidic pH (**Table 7.6**). For example, the apparent removal rate constant of resorcinol in Na₂SO₄ anolyte at neutral pH was 0.66 ± 0.03 h⁻¹, similar to that observed at pH 2 (0.60 ± 0.09 h⁻¹). At pH 7, hydrolysis of SO₄⁺⁻ radicals to 'OH is expected to be slow (10^7 M⁻¹ s⁻¹) (Moad and Solomon 2005), and electrogenerated SO₄⁺⁻ are still expected to participate in the electrooxidation of resorcinol. Higher pH is expected to favour the oxidation of water over chloride, thus enhancing the formation of 'OH, and consequently SO₄⁺⁻ radicals (Martínez-Huitle *et al.* 2015). Yet, enhancement in the formation of 'OH and possibly SO₄⁺⁻ at neutral pH may be counteracted by the less intense electrochlorination of resorcinol, as explained further in the text.

Table 7.6 Apparent rate constants (h⁻¹) for TOC and resorcinol removal (±error at 95% confidence level), in Na₂SO₄ and NaNO₃ anolytes at pH 7 and 9 mS cm⁻¹ in the presence of 10 mM NaCl as well as the formed concentrations of AOCl, ClO₃⁻, and ClO₄⁻ (in mgCl⁻ L⁻¹), measured after 2.4 Ah L⁻¹ of supplied specific electrical charge in the resorcinol electrooxidation

	Apparent Removal Rate (h^{-1})		Chlorinated by-products (mgCl ⁻ L ⁻¹)			
	Resorcinol	тос	AOCI	ClO ₃ ⁻	ClO ₄ ⁻	
NaNO3	0.39 ± 0.02	0.061 ± 0.002	28 ± 4.6	58 ± 4.9	24 ± 3.5	
Na ₂ SO ₄	0.66 ± 0.03	0.096 ± 0.004	17 ± 4.0	79 ±0.7	34 ± 2.8	

Increasing the pH to pH 7 seemed to reduce AOCl formation in NaNO₃ (from 66 to 28 mgCl⁻ L⁻¹), and also in Na₂SO₄ (from 36 to 17 mgCl⁻ L⁻¹). A lower amount of AOCl formed at neutral pH would likely be the consequence of the lower oxidizing power of active chlorine (HOCl and OCl⁻). While chlorine is present in the form of Cl₂ and HOCl at acidic pH, the dominant species at pH 7 are HOCl and OCl⁻. Thus, electrochlorination at neutral pH is expected to proceed at a lower rate than the acid-catalysed electrochlorination due to the lower redox potential of OCl⁻ (E⁰= 0.89 V) compared to Cl₂ (E⁰= 1.36 V) (Martínez-Huitle and Brillas 2009). Similar results on the higher concentration of

chlorinated organic by-products at lower pH, have been previously reported for electrooxidation of acid black 210 at BDD anode (Costa *et al.* 2009).

In terms of chlorate and perchlorate formation, neutral pH yielded somewhat higher concentrations of ClO₃⁻ compared to acidic pH, which is similar to previous studies (Jung et al. 2010, Li and Ni 2012). The most affected was the formation of ClO₄⁻ during electrolysis in Na₂SO₄ electrolyte, as increasing the pH from pH 2 to pH 7 lowered the final concentration of ClO₄⁻ from 67 to 34 mgCl⁻ L⁻¹ (Table 7.3, Figure 7.2). Nevertheless, the effect of pH on the formation of chlorate and perchlorate in the presence of sulfate should be further investigated by accounting for the impact of current density and flow rate. Previously, lower current densities and higher flow rates were reported to reduce the perchlorate formation at BDD anodes (Bergmann et al. 2009). Also, pH was found to affect differently the formation of chlorate at BDD anode depending on the current density applied (Garcia-Segura et al. 2015). The formation of chlorate and perchlorate is also dependant on the presence of organics and their reactivity with the formed 'OH. For example, organic compounds reacting faster with 'OH at the anode surface were found to minimize the amount of ClO_4^- formed at the BDD anode (Donaghue and Chaplin 2013). Applied current/potential and mixing regime are also likely to have a pronounced effect on the participation of chlorine radicals in the formation of halogenated organic by-products in the presence of sulfate, and may be optimized to minimize the toxicity of a treated effluent.

7.4 Concluding Remarks

This study investigated the implications of chloride ions to the electrooxidation of a natural organic matter surrogate resorcinol, in the presence of sulfate. The electrooxidation in sulfate yielded up to eight-fold enhancement in the removal of resorcinol and TOC at both acidic and neutral pH. Chloride addition to Na₂SO₄ inhibited the resorcinol oxidation and mineralization, whereas it enhanced resorcinol oxidation in NaNO₃. Furthermore, sulfate inhibited the electrogeneration of chlorinated organics by ~ 2 – 4 folds compared to nitrate at low Cl⁻ concentrations (i.e., $[SO_4^{2^-}]:[Cl^-]>1$). Although increasing pH from pH 2 to pH 7 yielded two folds lower amounts of chlorinated organics, the electrooxidation in Na₂SO₄ enhanced the generation of undesired chlorate and perchlorate at both acidic and neutral pH.

Chapter 8: Conclusions and Implications

The sulfate-based solutions such as Na₂SO₄ have been widely used as 'inert' supporting electrolytes for electro-degradation of contaminants at BDD anodes, where the electrooxidation pathways have been widely explained by the role of 'OH and other reactive oxygen species. At the same time, the electrochemical production of persulfate from sulfate ions has also been reported and typically explained via the formation of sulfate radicals (SO₄⁻) from SO₄²⁻ either directly or through the reaction with 'OH radicals. Similar to 'OH, SO₄⁺⁻ are known to be strong oxidants in chemical oxidation processes, reporting high degradation rates when employed for the removal of organic contaminants.

Therefore, in this work, the role of sulfate ions in the electrooxidation of organic contaminants at BDD anodes was re-examined. The electrochemical removal of several persistent organic pollutants was performed in sulfate anolytes and compared to other electrolytic solutions such as nitrate (Chapter 4). The effect of different operating conditions was explored including the anolyte concentration and volume as well as the applied current density (Chapter 5). To further characterize the reactivity properties of the oxidizing agents and the potential energy savings, intermittent modes of electric current application were tested (Chapter 6). Investigating the effect of matrix components such as chloride ions on the performance of sulfate systems was also conducted (Chapter 7).

Role of sulfate ions in the electrooxidation of recalcitrant organics at BDD anodes

Results of this study showed that electrooxidation kinetics of seven persistent organic contaminants at BDD anode were quantified to be significantly enhanced by 10 - 15 folds in the presence of sulfate ions compared to sulfate-free electrolytes. This finding, reported in Chapter 4, was particularly noteworthy because it indicated that a sulfate solution cannot be considered as an inert electrolyte in such systems, especially not at high current densities and potentials, typical of electrochemical treatment using BDD electrodes.

The superiority of sulfate-based electrochemical systems using BDD anodes was apparent over a wide range of various operating conditions where higher removal rates of organic contaminants compared to nitrate was observed in all the examined cases (Chapter 5). At the lowest concentration of sulfate (5 mM), diatrizoate removal rate was faster compared to the rate measured with a 12-fold higher concentration of nitrate (60 mM). A significantly higher electrochemical oxidation of diatrizoate was still reported in sulfate anolyte even at half the applied current density (100 A m⁻²) compared to nitrate (200 A m⁻²). Moreover, the treatment of 2.0 L of diatrizoate in sulfate was faster than electrooxidizing only 0.25 L diatrizoate in nitrate. Even the lowest investigated sulfate concentration of 1.56 mM (i.e., ~150 mg L⁻¹) operated with the lowest current density (100 A m⁻²), yielded higher degradation rate for diatrizoate than nitrate electrolyte with higher concentration and current density (i.e. 60 mM and 200 A m⁻²).

Since the inert systems employing nitrate anolytes are expected to oxidize these persistent organic contaminants primarily via their electrogenerated 'OH radicals, this superiority of sulfate anolyte, by one order of magnitude, advocates the possible formation and participation of electrochemically generated sulfate-based oxidizing species in the electrooxidation of these persistent organic contaminants. These oxidizing species are possibly characterized by a strong oxidation capacity, similar or higher than 'OH radicals.

Possible mechanisms for the electrochemical activation of sulfate

The mechanism of the electrochemical formation of persulfate ($S_2O_8^{2-}$) from sulfate ions has been widely investigated. Such studies can potentially provide some evidence on the nature of the main sulfate-based oxidizing species contributing to the higher electrooxidation rate. Persulfate ion was suggested by many authors to be the main sulfate-based oxidizing specie in the electrooxidation process because $S_2O_8^{2-}$ is recognized as a strong oxidant in the presence of known activators such as metal ions as well as high pH and temperature. Moreover, sulfate radical species (SO₄^{•-}) are also strong oxidants that can potentially be contributing to the higher electrooxidation rate and they are formed as an intermediate in the electrochemical production of $S_2O_8^{2-}$. Therefore, the most likely sulfate-based species present in such electrochemical oxidation systems are to be in the form of persulfate ($S_2O_8^{2-}$) and/or sulfate radical species (SO₄^{•-}).

Role of persulfate ions and hydrogen peroxide in the sulfate-based electrooxidation process

The role of persulfate ions in sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems was elucidated in Chapter 4 by conducting chemical oxidation reactions of persulfate with the seven persistent organic contaminants in the absence of electric current, and in the absence of an activator such as metal ions, heat or high pH. Results revealed that persulfate have slow oxidation kinetics when reacting with these persistent organic contaminants in the absence of any known activator.

The potential role of hydrogen peroxide was also explored because H_2O_2 has been reported to be formed in electrooxidation systems, and has also been considered to be a potential activator of persulfate ions by several works (Chapter 4). Results in this work showed that H_2O_2 was not detected (< LOD = 1 mg L⁻¹) in either sulfate or nitrate electrochemical systems. Furthermore, its chemical oxidation kinetics with the seven persistent organic contaminants were very slow in the absence or presence of persulfate. Therefore, the possibility of electrogeneration of hydrogen peroxide and its potential oxidation capabilities in directly degrading these persistent organic contaminants or its potential catalysis of persulfate activation were ruled out.

Thus, the possible additional oxidation of these organic contaminants in the bulk of the solution via persulfate ions or hydrogen peroxide could be largely discounted. Furthermore, electrolysis of diatrizoate investigated in the presence of persulfate as anolyte showed much slower removal rates than with sulfate present, suggesting a similar removal mechanism as in nitrate being via 'OH since no known activators were present in the system (Chapter 6).

Role of sulfate radicals in the sulfate-based electrooxidation process

Without any direct spectroscopic evidence of electrochemical formation of 'OH or SO_4 ' at BDD anodes to date, it can only be speculated that SO_4 ' are likely to be these active, sulfate-based oxidizing species in such processes. The radical scavengers, such as *tert*-butanol and methanol, have been employed previously to attempt to segregate the effects of 'OH and SO_4 ' in chemical oxidation

systems. Thus, in order to determine the major participating oxidants at a BDD anode, this study also compared the electrooxidation of diatrizoate with sulfate in the presence of *tert*-butanol and methanol, in sulfate and nitrate (Chapter 4). Similar removal rates of diatrizoate were observed in *tert*-butanol and methanol, although it was expected to have slightly higher removal in *tert*-butanol because it is expected to react approximately 1000 times faster with 'OH compared to SO_4^{\bullet} . This suggested that a significant role in the generation of SO_4^{\bullet} at the BDD anode was played by the 'OH, where scavenging of 'OH affected the yield of SO_4^{\bullet} in the sulfate-based electrooxidation systems.

Similarly, nitrobenzene has previously been tested as a typical 'OH probe compound due to its slower oxidation kinetics with $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ (< $10^6 M^{-1} s^{-1}$) compared to 'OH (> $10^9 M^{-1} s^{-1}$). Thus, the electrooxidation of nitrobenzene was compared in sulfate and nitrate. Nitrobenzene was also expected to react 1000 times slower with $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ compared to 'OH.

However, the electrochemical removal of nitrobenzene was unexpectedly slightly faster in sulfate not nitrate. These results further advocate that the distribution percentage of radicals in the sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems using BDD anodes is largely dominated by sulfate radicals rather than 'OH. Thus, the higher nitrobenzene removal in sulfate is attributed to the formation of much higher concentrations of the electro-generated SO4⁻⁻ compared to 'OH in these sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems using BDD anodes.

However, as SO₄[•] are radicals, they are characterised by their very short life-time, typically not exceeding milliseconds. But the long-life experiments showed that other sulfate-based oxidizing agents are able to oxidize the organic contaminants even after stopping the electric current. These results suggested that these sulfate-based oxidants are able to have a long reactive life-time reaching up to an hour, which is contrary to what is conventionally known about radicals. The 'organics-free' electrochemical oxidation of sulfate ions followed by its addition to the diatrizoate suggested that the presence of the organic matter in the electrolysis cell is an important factor governing the formation of these long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents.

These findings added to the ambiguity of the nature of these sulfate-based oxidizing agents but revealed more of their remarkable characteristics being strong oxidants and possessing an extended reactive life-time. Both of these characteristics can induce significant savings in the electrical energy consumption needed in the application of these sulfate-based electrochemical systems for the removal of organic contaminants from polluted waters.

Impact of chloride ions on the sulfate-based electrooxidation of organic matter at BDD anode

Electrochemical oxidation systems involving chloride ions generate reactive chlorine species such as Cl₂/HOCl, which react rapidly with organic matter, leading to the formation of chlorinated organic and inorganic by-products. Thus, the presence of chloride in sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation is expected to interact with sulfate radicals and impact the electrooxidation performance as well as the formation of the hazardous by-products (Chapter 7).

Electrochemical oxidation of resorcinol revealed that the presence of chloride ions along with sulfate ions in the anolyte solution inhibited the resorcinol oxidation and TOC removal. This was attributed to the possible competition between the formed sulfate radicals and the chlorine radicals for oxidizing the organic matter. In contrast, the addition of increasing concentrations of chloride ions to nitrate anolyte slightly enhanced the oxidation and mineralization of resorcinol.

The electrogeneration of chlorinated organic compounds was inhibited in the presence of SO_4^{2-} by several folds compared to nitrate, due to the lower formation and accumulation of these compounds in the presence of sulfate. However, the electrolysis in Na₂SO₄ enhanced the generation of undesired chlorate and perchlorate primarily because sulfate systems possess a stronger oxidation capacity.

Potential applications, impacts and perspectives of the findings from this study

The electrooxidation of all the organic contaminants being substantially faster in sulfate than in nitrate anolytes by 10 - 15 folds resulted in a drastic decrease in the electrolysis time and significantly large savings in the electric energy consumption required for the anodic oxidation process. For example, removal of diatrizoate in sulfate anolyte, required 8.5 minutes and an energy consumption of 2.44 kWh m⁻³, compared to 180 minutes and 45.6 kWh m⁻³ in nitrate anolyte, thus inducing almost 20-folds lower energy consumption.

In addition, the on-bench delayed quenching provided evidence that the sulfate-induced oxidation process possesses an extended reactive life-time and is capable of continuing the oxidation of the persistent organic contaminants even after stopping the electric current. Furthermore, the application of intermittent electric current using several different pulse modes showed that these electro-formed long-life sulfate-based oxidizing agents can induce further significant energy savings that can reach approximately 50%.

Therefore, the electrochemical removal of a persistent organic contaminant such as diatrizoate, regardless of the electrolysis time required to achieve complete removal, can be achieved using ~ 40-folds lower electric energy consumption with a sulfate anolyte compared to a sulfate-free anolyte, while using an intermittent electric current. Further optimization of the trade-off between electrolysis time and electric energy consumption can be accomplished via testing further modes of intermittent power supply at different current densities.

The effect of anolyte concentration showed high efficiency in the removal of persistent organic contaminants even at very lower sulfate concentrations such as 150 mg L⁻¹, already detected in natural water systems or even below regulations and guidelines (i.e., < 250 mg L⁻¹). Since sulfate concentrations have been also detected in many surface and ground waters at concentrations up to 630 mg L⁻¹, this activation of sulfate at BDD electrodes polarized at a sufficiently high anode potential may have significant implications on the treatment of sulfate-containing waters. Such sulfate activation may also act as a feasible alternative to persulfate injection for *in-situ* chemical oxidation (ISCO) of groundwater. By placing an electrochemical reactive barrier, it would seem to be possible to activate the sulfate present in the contaminated groundwater plume to degrade persistent organic contaminants, without any additional chemical supply. The continuous innovations and advances in the production of electricity from renewable energy sources such as hydro, solar and wind energy further endorses such implementation because of the availability and accessibility of electric power generated from such resources without the need for transportation of chemicals, which reduces the operating burden, and promotes its application in isolated locations where transportation of chemicals is a limitation of the treatment application.

Further experimental optimization of the operating conditions can be potentially conducted in order to identify the lowest anodic current/potential required for the formation of these sulfate-derived oxidizing species. Though our tests show that lower applied current yielded slower removal kinetics, but in cases where the electrolysis time is considered a less important factor than the electric energy consumption, such threshold value or range would play a significant role in designing the electrochemical oxidation systems.

Moreover, future studies could attempt to better understand the mechanisms involved with the electrochemical activation of sulfate and identify the nature of these sulfate-based oxidizing agents that are characterized not only by their strong oxidation capacity but also with an extended reactive life-time. While the formation of sulfate radicals has been postulated to be formed either via direct oxidation of sulfate ions on the anode surface, or via the contribution of 'OH radicals in the oxidation

of sulfate ions, the actual mechanism has not been proven yet. On the other side, the mechanism of the formation of long-life sulfate-based oxidants is still difficult to even postulate. This extended reactive life-time can possibly be attributed to the formation of long-life oxidants such as persulfate, which is a weak oxidant by itself, but can be activated to sulfate radicals over an extended life-time of 30 to 60 min.

Investigating the nature of this activation and the potential activator(s) would constitute a key element in producing a comprehensive mechanistic model of the system. The potential activation of persulfate via quinones or other organic by-products formed during the electrooxidation of the organic contaminants can be argued (Fang *et al.* 2013). Further investigation of extended sulfate-based oxidation employing aliphatic organic compounds instead of aromatic compounds can potentially give an insight on the reaction mechanism of the extended oxidation and the potential role of quinones in this process. The perfluorocarboxylic acids which are described to be bio-accumulative, recalcitrant, and potentially toxic can be tested as an example of aliphatic compounds.

Sulfate radicals have been reported to be effective in the destruction of a wide range of aliphatic organic compounds, such as chlorinated volatile organic compounds (VOCs) (Block et al. 2004), and non-VOCs (Liang et al. 2003). Moreover, one of the 8 aromatic compounds, electrochemically oxidized in this study using sulfate electrolytes, was resorcinol. It is very likely that the oxidation of resorcinol would involve sulfate radicals attacking the aromatic ring of resorcinol, thus leaving behind various aliphatic intermediate compounds such as the widely reported disinfection byproducts (DBPs): trichloromethane and chloral hydrate. The removal of total organic carbon (TOC) was measured for oxidation of resorcinol in sulfate, reporting up to 90% removal after 6 hours. This signifies that these aliphatic intermediate compounds were most likely also oxidized by sulfate radicals.

It can also be argued that 'OH radicals might be activating persulfate (Lau *et al.* 2007, Salari *et al.* 2009, Khataee and Mirzajani 2010, Velo-Gala *et al.* 2014), inducing some kind of a chain reaction involving sulfate radicals that may extend over 30 to 60 min. However, that might not be largely expected considering the ambiguity of such possible chain reaction. Such scenario can be difficult to test for because if the concentration of 'OH radicals was increased in the reaction medium (for example, by adding activated H_2O_2) without changing the concentration of sulfate ions in the solution, 'OH radicals are still capable of influencing the production of sulfate radicals from sulfate ions, besides activating persulfate.

Another possibility is the electrochemical formation of ozone which can be acting as an activator for persulfate (Amr *et al.* 2013), where the potential synergistic effect of ozone and persulfate on the oxidation of organic compounds is worth studying. It is crucial to note that investigating the potential effect of a formed ozone scenario requires additional care with the detection method for ozone due to the large interference of most analytical methods when both ozone and persulfate are being co-formed in the same medium.

Nevertheless, studying the intermediate compounds that are being produced from the main organic compounds, being investigated in this sulfate-based extended oxidation process, would certainly be of most significant importance as this would shed light on the potential mechanisms of the activation process. The sulfate-based degradation pathways, which include the formation and oxidation of the intermediate compounds from several aromatic and aliphatic compounds, can also be further explained with such investigations as these would provide more information on the nature and role of the activators in the extended oxidation phenomenon observed with sulfate. The nature of the intermediate compounds being formed is expected to give information about the sites of attack of the radicals and oxidants, and the type of reaction being electron transfer, hydrogen abstraction or addition, as well as the functional groups being involved in these reactions.

A broader investigation of the effect of the matrix on sulfate systems is also of high importance, especially the presence of ionic compounds such as carbonate, which is omnipresent in most wastewaters. The effect of other ions such as phosphate and bromide are also crucial to further expand the knowledge on the performance of these sulfate-based systems in the electrochemical treatment of real wastewaters.

The generation of organic DBPs as well as chlorate and perchlorate from chloride in these electrochemical systems employing sulfate anolytes can be further optimized. Some of the DBPs expected to form in these electrochemical treatment processes in the presence of chloride could possibly be trichloromethane (CHCl₃) and chloral hydrate (CCl₃CH(OH)₂), as well as 1,1-dichloropropanone (CH₃COCHCl₂), and 1,1,1-trichloropropanone (CH₃COCCl₃). All of these DBPs, besides chlorate and perchlorate, are regulated for their detrimental effects, and their production is a key limitation for the implementation of this technology to drinking water treatment.

The effect of pH on the formation of chlorate and perchlorate in the presence of sulfate should be further investigated for oxidation at neutral pH since the current study shows lower formation of these products at neutral pH. Furthermore, such optimization of the pH would increase the applicability of such technology on real-world applications.

Applied current/potential and mixing regime are also likely to have a pronounced effect on the participation of chlorine radicals in the formation of halogenated organic by-products in the presence of sulfate, and may be optimized to minimize the toxicity of a treated effluent. Lower current densities and higher flow rates have been previously reported to reduce the perchlorate formation at BDD anodes. Therefore, further optimization of the applied current/potential and pumping/mixing flow rates can enhance the performance of these sulfate systems in the presence of chloride ions, in order to lower the formation of chlorinated compounds such as chlorate and perchlorate and reduce the concentrations of the toxic electrogenerated organic by-products. Nonetheless, the production of these inorganic and organic halogenated by-products is not the only limitation of the implementation of this technology, as the cost limitation is still significant, especially with the large capital cost of the BDD anode materials.

The characteristics of the BDD anode surface such as the sp^3/sp^2 ratio also play an important role in the production of oxidizing agents such as persulfate and chlorine radicals. The information of $sp^3(diamond)/sp^2(graphite)$ ratio reports the level of sp^2 -impurities on the diamond film surface, where higher impurities were reported to improve the production of specific oxidants such as persulfate (de Paiva Barreto *et al.* 2015). Therefore, investigating the level of sulfate-based long-anode as in its sp^3/sp^2 ratio is one potential factor that can affect the production of sulfate-based long-life oxidizing agents as well as the chlorine radicals and oxyanions.

Moreover, since BDD anode materials are considered as high cost elements that might burden the industrial applicability of such process, the capability of cheaper non-active anode materials that has relatively high oxygen over-potential such as IrO_2 , PbO_2 , SnO_2 , or TiO_2 to produce such sulfate-based oxidizing species is worth investigating. These non-active anode materials are characterized by an oxidation potential reaching up to 2.2 V versus SHE, which is slightly lower than that of BDD (2.2 – 2.7 V vs SHE). Even anode materials such as platinum (1.3 – 1.6 V versus SHE) have been reported to be capable of generating persulfate electrochemically, and therefore might be worth examining for the formation of sulfate-based oxidizing agents would further enhance the chance for such sulfate-based electrochemical oxidation systems to be economically competitive with chemical oxidation processes.

Although the high cost of the BDD anodes might not be the only economic barrier for a large-scale implementation, depending on the characteristics of the contaminated stream to be treated, the need for these electrochemical systems for degrading persistent organic compounds, which are not known to efficiently degrade via other methods, will encourage the large-scale industrial application of this technique. Moreover, such systems can be ideal for applications in remote areas using renewable energy sources, which would reduce the need for manpower as well as the addition and transportation of chemicals. Besides, further optimization of the operating parameters and advancements in the efficiency of these anodes materials as well as the reduction in prices over time would further boost its applicability.

The extended reactive life-time of these sulfate-based oxidants can also be assessed on these anode materials as this unique characteristic will achieve additional energy savings and could increase the feasibility to apply such methods for the treatment of *"flowing"* contaminated water systems such as groundwater bodies or river streams.

Bibliography of References

Afzal, A., P. Drzewicz, J. W. Martin and M. G. El-Din (2012). "Decomposition of cyclohexanoic acid by the UV/H 2 O 2 process under various conditions." <u>Science of the total environment</u> **426**: 387-392.

Ahad, J. M. and G. F. Slater (2008). "Carbon isotope effects associated with Fenton-like degradation of toluene: Potential for differentiation of abiotic and biotic degradation." <u>Science of The Total</u> <u>Environment</u> **401**(1): 194-198.

Ahmad, M., A. L. Teel, O. S. Furman, J. I. Reed and R. J. Watts (2011). "Oxidative and Reductive Pathways in Iron-Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid–Activated Persulfate Systems." Journal of Environmental Engineering **138**(4): 411-418.

Aly, O. M. and S. D. Faust (1965). "Removal of 2, 4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic Acid Derivatives from Natural Waters " Journal-American Water Works Association **57**(2): 221-230.

Amr, S. S. A., H. A. Aziz, M. N. Adlan and M. J. Bashir (2013). "Pretreatment of stabilized leachate using ozone/persulfate oxidation process." <u>Chemical engineering journal</u> **221**: 492-499.

Anglada, Á., A. Urtiaga and I. Ortiz (2009). "Contributions of electrochemical oxidation to wastewater treatment: fundamentals and review of applications." Journal of Chemical Technology & <u>Biotechnology</u> **84**(12): 1747-1755.

Anipsitakis, G. P. and D. D. Dionysiou (2003). "Degradation of Organic Contaminants in Water with Sulfate Radicals Generated by the Conjunction of Peroxymonosulfate with Cobalt." <u>Environmental</u> <u>science & technology</u> **37**(20): 4790-4797.

Anipsitakis, G. P. and D. D. Dionysiou (2004). "Radical Generation by the Interaction of Transition Metals with Common Oxidants." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **38**(13): 3705-3712.

Anipsitakis, G. P. and D. D. Dionysiou (2004). "Transition metal/UV-based advanced oxidation technologies for water decontamination." <u>Applied catalysis b: environmental</u> **54**(3): 155-163.

Antoniou, M. G., A. A. De la Cruz and D. D. Dionysiou (2010). "Degradation of microcystin-LR using sulfate radicals generated through photolysis, thermolysis and e< sup>--</sup> transfer mechanisms." <u>Applied catalysis b: environmental</u> **96**(3): 290-298.

Armbrust, K. L. (2000). "Pesticide hydroxyl radical rate constants: measurements and estimates of their importance in aquatic environments." <u>Environmental toxicology and chemistry</u> **19**(9): 2175-2180.

Azizi, O., D. Hubler, G. Schrader, J. Farrell and B. P. Chaplin (2011). "Mechanism of perchlorate formation on boron-doped diamond film anodes." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **45**(24): 10582-10590.

Bagastyo, A. Y., D. J. Batstone, K. Rabaey and J. Radjenovic (2013). "Electrochemical oxidation of electrodialysed reverse osmosis concentrate on Ti/Pt-IrO 2, Ti/SnO 2-Sb and boron-doped diamond electrodes." <u>Water Research</u> **47**(1): 242-250.

Bandala, E. R., M. A. Peláez, D. D. Dionysiou, S. Gelover, J. Garcia and D. Macías (2007). "Degradation of 2, 4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2, 4-D) using cobalt-peroxymonosulfate in Fentonlike process." Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry **186**(2): 357-363.

Barceló, D. (2003). "Emerging pollutants in water analysis." <u>TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry</u>
22(10): xiv-xvi.

Behera, S., S. Oh and H. Park (2012). "Sorptive removal of ibuprofen from water using selected soil minerals and activated carbon." International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology **9**(1): 85-94.

Bejan, D., E. Guinea and N. J. Bunce (2012). "On the nature of the hydroxyl radicals produced at boron-doped diamond and Ebonex® anodes." <u>Electrochim. Acta. 69</u>: 275-281.

Bergmann, M. E. H. and J. Rollin (2007). "Product and by-product formation in laboratory studies on disinfection electrolysis of water using boron-doped diamond anodes." <u>Catalysis Today</u> **124**(3–4): 198-203.

Bergmann, M. E. H., J. Rollin and T. Iourtchouk (2009). "The occurrence of perchlorate during drinking water electrolysis using BDD anodes." <u>Electrochimica acta</u> **54**(7): 2102-2107.

Bernhard, M., J. Müller and T. P. Knepper (2006). "Biodegradation of persistent polar pollutants in wastewater: Comparison of an optimised lab-scale membrane bioreactor and activated sludge treatment." <u>Water Research</u> **40**(18): 3419-3428.

Bevans, H. E. (1996). "Synthetic organic compounds and carp endocrinology and histology in Las Vegas Wash and Las Vegas and Callville Bays of Lake Mead, Nevada, 1992 and 1995." <u>Water-resources investigations report</u>.

Block, P. A., R. A. Brown and D. Robinson (2004). <u>Novel activation technologies for sodium</u> <u>persulfate in situ chemical oxidation</u>. Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference on the remediation of chlorinated and recalcitrant compounds.

Bolton, J. R., K. G. Bircher, W. Tumas and C. A. Tolman (2001). "Figures-of-merit for the technical development and application of advanced oxidation technologies for both electric-and solar-driven systems (IUPAC Technical Report)." <u>Pure and Applied Chemistry</u> **73**(4): 627-637.

Borràs, N. r., R. Oliver, C. Arias and E. Brillas (2010). "Degradation of atrazine by electrochemical advanced oxidation processes using a boron-doped diamond anode." <u>The Journal of Physical Chemistry A</u> **114**(24): 6613-6621.

Bossmann, S. H., E. Oliveros, S. Göb, S. Siegwart, E. P. Dahlen, L. Payawan Jr, M. Straub, M. Wörner and A. M. Braun (1998). "New evidence against hydroxyl radicals as reactive intermediates in the thermal and photochemically enhanced fenton reactions." Journal of Physical Chemistry A **102**(28): 5542-5550.

Boudreau, J., D. Bejan, S. Li and N. J. Bunce (2010). "Competition between electrochemical advanced oxidation and electrochemical hypochlorination of sulfamethoxazole at a boron-doped diamond anode." <u>Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research</u> **49**(6): 2537-2542.

Bouju, H., G. Buttiglieri and F. Malpei (2008). "Perspectives of persistent organic pollutants (POPS) removal in an MBR pilot plant." <u>Desalination</u> **224**(1–3): 1-6.

Boulanger, B., A. M. Peck, J. L. Schnoor and K. C. Hornbuckle (2005). "Mass budget of perfluorooctane surfactants in Lake Ontario." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **39**(1): 74-79.

Brillas, E., J. C. Calpe and J. Casado (2000). "Mineralization of 2, 4-D by advanced electrochemical oxidation processes." <u>Water Research</u> **34**(8): 2253-2262.

Brillas, E. and C. A. Martínez-Huitle (2015). "Decontamination of wastewaters containing synthetic organic dyes by electrochemical methods. An updated review." <u>Applied Catalysis B: Environmental</u>
166: 603-643.

Brillas, E., I. Sires and M. A. Oturan (2009). "Electro-Fenton process and related electrochemical technologies based on Fenton's reaction chemistry." <u>Chemical Reviews</u> **109**(12): 6570-6631.

Burns, J. M., W. J. Cooper, J. L. Ferry, D. W. King, B. P. DiMento, K. McNeill, C. J. Miller, W. L. Miller, B. M. Peake and S. A. Rusak (2012). "Methods for reactive oxygen species (ROS) detection in aqueous environments." Aquatic sciences **74**(4): 683-734.

Buxton, G. V., M. Bydder, G. A. Salmon and J. E. Williams (2000). "The reactivity of chlorine atoms in aqueous solution. Part III. The reactions of Cl• with solutes." <u>Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics</u> **2**(2): 237-245.

Buxton, G. V., C. L. Greenstock, W. P. Helman and A. B. Ross (1988). "Critical review of rate constants for reactions of hydrated electrons, hydrogen atoms and hydroxyl radicals." <u>Phys. Chem.</u> <u>Ref. Data</u> **17**: 513-886.

Canizares, P., J. Garcia-Gomez, J. Lobato and M. Rodrigo (2003). "Electrochemical oxidation of aqueous carboxylic acid wastes using diamond thin-film electrodes." <u>Industrial & Engineering</u> <u>Chemistry Research</u> **42**(5): 956-962.

Cañizares, P., C. Sáez, A. Sánchez-Carretero and M. Rodrigo (2009). "Synthesis of novel oxidants by electrochemical technology." Journal of applied electrochemistry **39**(11): 2143-2149.

Cao, J., W.-X. Zhang, D. G. Brown and D. Sethi (2008). "Oxidation of lindane with Fe (II)-activated sodium persulfate." <u>Environmental Engineering Science</u> **25**(2): 221-228.

Carballa, M., F. Omil, J. M. Lema, M. a. Llompart, C. García-Jares, I. Rodríguez, M. Gómez and T. Ternes (2004). "Behavior of pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and hormones in a sewage treatment plant." <u>Water Research</u> **38**(12): 2918-2926.

Caro, H. (1898). "Z. angew." Chem 11: 845.

Chaenko, N. V., G. V. Kornienko, A. M. Kosheleva, N. G. Maksimov and V. L. Kornienko (2011). "Indirect electrochemical oxidation of aliphatic alcohols to carboxylic acids by active oxygen forms in aqueous media." <u>Russian Journal of Electrochemistry</u> **47**(10): 1146-1151.

Chan, T. W., N. J. D. Graham and W. Chu (2010). "Degradation of iopromide by combined UV irradiation and peroxydisulfate." Journal of Hazardous Materials **181**(1–3): 508-513.

Chang, C. C., L. C. Chen, S. J. Liu and H. C. Chang (2006). "Investigation of electro-oxidation of methanol and benzyl alcohol at boron-doped diamond electrode: Evidence for the mechanism for fouling film formation." Journal of Physical Chemistry B **110**(39): 19426-19432.

Chen, G. (2004). "Electrochemical technologies in wastewater treatment." <u>Separation and</u> <u>Purification Technology</u> **38**(1): 11-41.

Chen, X. and G. Chen (2006). "Anodic oxidation of Orange II on Ti/BDD electrode: Variable effects." <u>Separation and Purification Technology</u> **48**(1): 45-49.

Chen, X., G. Chen, F. Gao and P. L. Yue (2003). "High-performance Ti/BDD electrodes for pollutant oxidation." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **37**(21): 5021-5026.

Chiron, S., A. Fernandez-Alba, A. Rodriguez and E. Garcia-Calvo (2000). "Pesticide chemical oxidation: state-of-the-art." <u>Water Research</u> **34**(2): 366-377.

Cho, K. and M. R. Hoffmann (2014). "Urea degradation by electrochemically generated reactive chlorine species: Products and reaction pathways." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **48**(19): 11504-11511.

Cho, K., Y. Qu, D. Kwon, H. Zhang, C. m. A. Cid, A. Aryanfar and M. R. Hoffmann (2014). "Effects of anodic potential and chloride ion on overall reactivity in electrochemical reactors designed for solar-powered wastewater treatment." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **48**(4): 2377-2384.

Christian G. Daughton, T. L. J.-L. (2001). <u>Pharmaceuticals and Care Products in the Environment</u>, American Chemical Society.

Clifton, C. L. and R. E. Huie (1989). "Rate constants for hydrogen abstraction reactions of the sulfate radical, SO4 -. Alcohols." <u>International Journal of Chemical Kinetics</u> **21**(8): 677-687.

Comninellis, C. (1994). "Electrocatalysis in the electrochemical conversion/combustion of organic pollutants for waste water treatment." <u>Electrochim. Acta.</u> **39**(11): 1857-1862.

Comninellis, C. and G. Chen (2010). Electrochemistry for the Environment, Springer.

Comninellis, C., A. Kapalka, S. Malato, S. A. Parsons, I. Poulios and D. Mantzavinos (2008). "Advanced oxidation processes for water treatment: advances and trends for R&D." Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology **83**(6): 769-776. Costa, C. R., F. Montilla, E. Morallón and P. Olivi (2009). "Electrochemical oxidation of acid black 210 dye on the boron-doped diamond electrode in the presence of phosphate ions: Effect of current density, pH, and chloride ions." <u>Electrochim. Acta.</u> **54**(27): 7048-7055.

Criquet, J. and N. K. V. Leitner (2009). "Degradation of acetic acid with sulfate radical generated by persulfate ions photolysis." <u>Chemosphere</u> **77**(2): 194-200.

Das, T. N. (2001). "Reactivity and role of SO5 -- radical in aqueous medium chain oxidation of sulfite to sulfate and atmospheric sulfuric acid generation." Journal of Physical Chemistry A **105**(40): 9142-9155.

Daughton, C. G. (2004). "Non-regulated water contaminants: emerging research." <u>Environmental</u> <u>Impact Assessment Review</u> **24**(7–8): 711-732.

Davis, J., J. C. Baygents and J. Farrell (2014). "Understanding Persulfate Production at Boron Doped Diamond Film Anodes." <u>Electrochim. Acta.</u> **150**: 68-74.

Davis, J. R., J. C. Baygents and J. Farrell (2014). "Effect of current density and sulfuric acid concentration on persulfuric acid generation by boron-doped diamond film anodes." Journal of <u>Applied Electrochemistry</u> **44**(7): 841-848.

De Laat, J., G. Truong Le and B. Legube (2004). "A comparative study of the effects of chloride, sulfate and nitrate ions on the rates of decomposition of H2O2 and organic compounds by Fe(II)/H2O2 and Fe(III)/H2O2." <u>Chemosphere</u> **55**(5): 715-723.

de Paiva Barreto, J. P., K. C. de Freitas Araújo, D. M. de Araújo and C. A. Martínez-Huitle (2015). "Effect of sp3/sp2 Ratio on Boron Doped Diamond Films for Producing Persulfate." <u>ECS</u> <u>Electrochemistry Letters</u> **4**(12): E9-E11.

de Souza, A., R. Beraldo and L. A. Martins Ruotolo (2013). "Phenol Electrooxidation in Different Supporting Electrolytes Using Boron-Doped Diamond Anodes." <u>International Journal of Electrochemical Science</u> **8**(1).

Deborde, M. and U. Von Gunten (2008). "Reactions of chlorine with inorganic and organic compounds during water treatment—kinetics and mechanisms: a critical review." <u>Water research</u> **42**(1): 13-51.

Deng, Y., E. Rosario-Muniz and X. Ma (2012). "Effects of inorganic anions on Fenton oxidation of organic species in landfill leachate." <u>Waste Management & Research</u> **30**(1): 12-19.

Dickenson, E. R. V., J. r. E. Drewes, D. L. Sedlak, E. C. Wert and S. A. Snyder (2009). "Applying Surrogates and Indicators to Assess Removal Efficiency of Trace Organic Chemicals during Chemical Oxidation of Wastewaters." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **43**(16): 6242-6247.

Donaghue, A. and B. P. Chaplin (2013). "Effect of select organic compounds on perchlorate formation at boron-doped diamond film anodes." <u>Environmental Science and Technology</u> **47**(21): 12391-12399.

Drewes, J., T. Heberer and K. Reddersen (2002). "Fate of pharmaceuticals during indirect potable reuse." <u>Water Science & Technology</u> **46**(3): 73-80.

European-Commission (1996). "Council Directive 96/61/EC of 24 September 1996 concerning integrated pollution prevention and control." <u>Official Journal L</u> **257**(10/10): 0026-0040.

Fan, W., T. Yanase, H. Morinaga, S. Gondo, T. Okabe, M. Nomura, T. Komatsu, K.-l. Morohashi, T.
B. Hayes and R. Takayanagi (2007). "Atrazine-Induced aromatase expression is SF-1 dependent: Implications for endocrine disruption in wildlife and reproductive cancers in humans." <u>Environmental</u> <u>Health Perspectives</u>: 720-727.

Fang, G.-D., D. D. Dionysiou, Y. Wang, S. R. Al-Abed and D.-M. Zhou (2012). "Sulfate radicalbased degradation of polychlorinated biphenyls: effects of chloride ion and reaction kinetics." <u>Journal</u> <u>of hazardous materials</u> **227**: 394-401.

Fang, G., J. Gao, D. D. Dionysiou, C. Liu and D. Zhou (2013). "Activation of persulfate by quinones: free radical reactions and implication for the degradation of PCBs." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **47**(9): 4605-4611.

Farré, M., I. Ferrer, A. Ginebreda, M. Figueras, L. Olivella, L. Tirapu, M. Vilanova and D. Barceló (2001). "Determination of drugs in surface water and wastewater samples by liquid chromatography– mass spectrometry: methods and preliminary results including toxicity studies with< i> Vibrio fischeri</i>." Journal of Chromatography A **938**(1): 187-197.

Ferro, S., A. De Battisti, I. Duo, C. Comninellis, W. Haenni and A. Perret (2000). "Chlorine Evolution at Highly Boron-Doped Diamond Electrodes." Journal of the Electrochemical Society **147**(7): 2614-2619.

Furman, O. S., A. L. Teel and R. J. Watts (2010). "Mechanism of Base Activation of Persulfate." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **44**(16): 6423-6428. Garcia-Segura, S., J. Keller, E. Brillas and J. Radjenovic (2015). "Removal of organic contaminants from secondary effluent by anodic oxidation with a boron-doped diamond anode as tertiary treatment." Journal of Hazardous Materials **283**: 551-557.

Garrido, J. A., E. Brillas, P. L. Cabot, F. Centellas, C. Arias and R. M. Rodríguez (2007). "Mineralization of drugs in aqueous medium by advanced oxidation processes." <u>Portugaliae</u> <u>Electrochimica Acta</u> **25**(1): 19.

Gartiser, S., L. Brinker, T. Erbe, K. Kummerer and R. Willmund (1996). "Contamination of hospital wastewater with hazardous compounds as defined by 7a WHG." <u>Acta Hydrochimica Et Hydrobiologica</u> **24**(2): 90-97.

Gerecke, A. C., M. Schärer, H. P. Singer, S. R. Müller, R. P. Schwarzenbach, M. Sägesser, U. Ochsenbein and G. Popow (2002). "Sources of pesticides in surface waters in Switzerland: pesticide load through waste water treatment plants—current situation and reduction potential." <u>Chemosphere</u> **48**(3): 307-315.

Gilbert, B. C., J. K. Stell, W. J. Peet and K. J. Radford (1988). "Generation and reactions of the chlorine atom in aqueous solution." Journal of the Chemical Society, Faraday Transactions 1: <u>Physical Chemistry in Condensed Phases</u> **84**(10): 3319-3330.

Glaze, W. H., J. W. Kang and D. H. Chapin (1987). "The chemistry of water treatment processes involving ozone, hydrogen peroxide and ultraviolet radiation."

Gómez-López, V. M., J. Gobet, M. V. Selma, M. I. Gil and A. Allende (2013). "Operating conditions for the electrolytic disinfection of process wash water from the fresh-cut industry contaminated with E. coli o157:H7." <u>Food Control</u> **29**(1): 42-48.

Gordon, G. and S. Tachiyashiki (1991). "Kinetics and mechanism of formation of chlorate ion from the hypochlorous acid/chlorite ion reaction at pH 6-10." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **25**(3): 468-474.

Grebel, J. E., J. J. Pignatello and W. A. Mitch (2010). "Effect of Halide Ions and Carbonates on Organic Contaminant Degradation by Hydroxyl Radical-Based Advanced Oxidation Processes in Saline Waters." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **44**(17): 6822-6828.

Guan, Y.-H., J. Ma, X.-C. Li, J.-Y. Fang and L.-W. Chen (2011). "Influence of pH on the Formation of Sulfate and Hydroxyl Radicals in the UV/Peroxymonosulfate System." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **45**(21): 9308-9314.

Gur-Reznik, S., I. Koren-Menashe, L. Heller-Grossman, O. Rufel and C. G. Dosoretz (2011). "Influence of seasonal and operating conditions on the rejection of pharmaceutical active compounds by RO and NF membranes." Desalination **277**(1–3): 250-256.

Gusmão, I. C. C. P., P. B. Moraes and E. D. Bidoia (2010). "Studies on the electrochemical disinfection of water containing Escherichia coli using a dimensionally stable anode." <u>Brazilian</u> <u>Archives of Biology and Technology</u> **53**(5): 1235-1244.

Hai, F. I., X. Li, W. E. Price and L. D. Nghiem (2011). "Removal of carbamazepine and sulfamethoxazole by MBR under anoxic and aerobic conditions." <u>Bioresource Technology</u> **102**(22): 10386-10390.

Haiß, A. and K. Kümmerer (2006). "Biodegradability of the X-ray contrast compound diatrizoic acid, identification of aerobic degradation products and effects against sewage sludge micro-organisms." <u>Chemosphere</u> **62**(2): 294-302.

Hayon, E., A. Treinin and J. Wilf (1972). "Electronic spectra, photochemistry, and autoxidation mechanism of the sulfite-bisulfite-pyrosulfite systems. SO2-, SO3-, SO4-, and SO5-radicals." Journal of the American Chemical Society **94**(1): 47-57.

Heberer, T. (2002). "Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data." <u>Toxicology Letters</u> **131**(1–2): 5-17.

Hirsch, R., T. Ternes, K. Haberer and K.-L. Kratz (1999). "Occurrence of antibiotics in the aquatic environment." Science of The Total Environment **225**(1–2): 109-118.

Huang, K.-C., R. A. Couttenye and G. E. Hoag (2002). "Kinetics of heat-assisted persulfate oxidation of methyl< i> tert</i>-butyl ether (MTBE)." <u>Chemosphere</u> **49**(4): 413-420.

Huber, M. M., S. Canonica, G.-Y. Park and U. von Gunten (2003). "Oxidation of Pharmaceuticals during Ozonation and Advanced Oxidation Processes." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **37**(5): 1016-1024.

Huber, M. M., S. Canonica, G. Y. Park and U. Von Gunten (2003). "Oxidation of pharmaceuticals during ozonation and advanced oxidation processes." <u>Environmental Science and Technology</u> **37**(5): 1016-1024.

Huber, M. M., A. GÖbel, A. Joss, N. Hermann, D. LÖffler, C. S. McArdell, A. Ried, H. Siegrist, T.
A. Ternes and U. von Gunten (2005). "Oxidation of Pharmaceuticals during Ozonation of Municipal Wastewater Effluents: A Pilot Study." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **39**(11): 4290-4299.

Hubler, D., J. C. Baygents, B. P. Chaplin and J. Farrell (2014). "Understanding chlorite and chlorate formation associated with hypochlorite generation at boron doped diamond film anodes." <u>Journal of The Electrochemical Society</u> **161**(12): E182-E189.

Huie, R. E. and C. L. Clifton (1990). "Temperature dependence of the rate constants for reactions of the sulfate radical, SO4-, with anions." Journal of physical chemistry **94**(23): 8561-8567.

Hwang, I., E. Ahn and Y. Tak (2014). "Effect of Fluoride Ions on Oxygen Reduction and Evolution Reaction at α-MnO2 Cathode." Int. J. Electrochem. Sci **9**: 5454-5466.

Iniesta, J., P. Michaud, M. Panizza, G. Cerisola, A. Aldaz and C. Comninellis (2001). "Electrochemical oxidation of phenol at boron-doped diamond electrode." <u>Electrochimica acta</u> **46**(23): 3573-3578.

Jäger, R., S. Kallip, V. Grozovski, K. Lust and E. Lust (2008). "Electroreduction of anions on chemically etched and electrochemically polished Bi(1 1 1) electrode." Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry **622**(1): 79-89.

Jung, Y. J., K. W. Baek, B. S. Oh and J.-W. Kang (2010). "An investigation of the formation of chlorate and perchlorate during electrolysis using Pt/Ti electrodes: The effects of pH and reactive oxygen species and the results of kinetic studies." <u>Water Research</u> **44**(18): 5345-5355.

Jüttner, K., U. Galla and H. Schmieder (2000). "Electrochemical approaches to environmental problems in the process industry." <u>Electrochimica acta</u> **45**(15): 2575-2594.

Kalsch, W. (1999). "Biodegradation of the iodinated X-ray contrast media diatrizoate and iopromide." <u>Science of The Total Environment</u> **225**(1–2): 143-153.

Kapałka, A., G. Fóti and C. Comninellis (2010). Basic principles of the electrochemical mineralization of organic pollutants for wastewater treatment. <u>Electrochemistry for the Environment</u>, Springer: 1-23.

Khamis, D., E. Mahé, F. Dardoize and D. Devilliers (2010). "Peroxodisulfate generation on borondoped diamond microelectrodes array and detection by scanning electrochemical microscopy." Journal of applied electrochemistry **40**(10): 1829-1838. Khataee, A. R. and O. Mirzajani (2010). "UV/peroxydisulfate oxidation of C. I. Basic Blue 3: Modeling of key factors by artificial neural network." <u>Desalination</u> **251**(1–3): 64-69.

Khetan, S. K. and T. J. Collins (2007). "Human Pharmaceuticals in the Aquatic Environment: A Challenge to Green Chemistry." <u>Chemical Reviews</u> **107**(6): 2319-2364.

Khursan, S., D. Semes'ko, A. Teregulova and R. Safiullin (2008). "Analysis of the reactivities of organic compounds in hydrogen atom abstraction from their CH bonds by the sulfate radical anion SO 4.-.." <u>Kinetics and Catalysis</u> **49**(2): 202-211.

Kim, S. D., J. Cho, I. S. Kim, B. J. Vanderford and S. A. Snyder (2007). "Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disruptors in South Korean surface, drinking, and waste waters." <u>Water Research</u> **41**(5): 1013-1021.

Kiwi, J., A. Lopez and V. Nadtochenko (2000). "Mechanism and Kinetics of the OH-Radical Intervention during Fenton Oxidation in the Presence of a Significant Amount of Radical Scavenger (Cl-)." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **34**(11): 2162-2168.

Kolpin, D. W., E. T. Furlong, M. T. Meyer, E. M. Thurman, S. D. Zaugg, L. B. Barber and H. T. Buxton (2002). "Pharmaceuticals, Hormones, and Other Organic Wastewater Contaminants in U.S. Streams, 1999–2000: A National Reconnaissance." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> 36(6): 1202-1211.

Kolthoff, I. M. and I. K. Miller (1951). "The Chemistry of Persulfate. I. The Kinetics and Mechanism of the Decomposition of the Persulfate Ion in Aqueous Medium1." <u>Journal of the American Chemical</u> <u>Society</u> **73**(7): 3055-3059.

Kotz, J., P. Treichel and J. Townsend (2011). Chemistry and chemical reactivity, Cengage Learning.

Kümmerer, K. (2001). "Drugs in the environment: emission of drugs, diagnostic aids and disinfectants into wastewater by hospitals in relation to other sources – a review." <u>Chemosphere</u> **45**(6–7): 957-969.

Kümmerer, K. (2009). "Antibiotics in the aquatic environment – A review – Part I." <u>Chemosphere</u> **75**(4): 417-434.

Kűmmerer, K. (2004). <u>Pharmaceuticals in the Environment: Sources, Fate, Effects and Risks; with</u> <u>77 Tables</u>, Springer.

Latimer, W. M. (1952). "Oxidation potentials." Soil Science 74(4): 333.

Lau, T. K., W. Chu and N. J. D. Graham (2007). "The Aqueous Degradation of Butylated Hydroxyanisole by UV/S2O82-: Study of Reaction Mechanisms via Dimerization and Mineralization." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **41**(2): 613-619.

Lee, Y. and U. Von Gunten (2012). "Quantitative structure–activity relationships (QSARs) for the transformation of organic micropollutants during oxidative water treatment." <u>water research</u> **46**(19): 6177-6195.

Li, H. and J. Ni (2012). "Electrogeneration of disinfection byproducts at a boron-doped diamond anode with resorcinol as a model substance." <u>Electrochimica Acta</u> **69**: 268-274.

Li, H., X. Zhu and J. Ni (2010). "Inactivation of Escherichia coli in Na2SO4 electrolyte using borondoped diamond anode." <u>Electrochimica Acta</u> **56**(1): 448-453.

Li, S., D. Bejan, M. McDowell and N. J. Bunce (2008). "Mixed first and zero order kinetics in the electrooxidation of sulfamethoxazole at a boron-doped diamond (BDD) anode." Journal of applied electrochemistry **38**(2): 151-159.

Liang, C. and C. J. Bruell (2008). "Thermally activated persulfate oxidation of trichloroethylene: experimental investigation of reaction orders." <u>Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research</u> **47**(9): 2912-2918.

Liang, C., C.-P. Liang and C.-C. Chen (2009). "pH dependence of persulfate activation by EDTA/Fe (III) for degradation of trichloroethylene." Journal of contaminant hydrology **106**(3): 173-182.

Liang, C. and H.-W. Su (2009). "Identification of sulfate and hydroxyl radicals in thermally activated persulfate." <u>Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research</u> **48**(11): 5558-5562.

Liang, C., Z.-S. Wang and C. J. Bruell (2007). "Influence of pH on persulfate oxidation of TCE at ambient temperatures." <u>Chemosphere</u> **66**(1): 106-113.

Liang, C., Z.-S. Wang and N. Mohanty (2006). "Influences of carbonate and chloride ions on persulfate oxidation of trichloroethylene at 20 C." <u>Science of the total environment</u> **370**(2): 271-277.

Liang, C. J., C. J. Bruell, M. C. Marley and K. L. Sperry (2003). "Thermally activated persulfate oxidation of trichloroethylene (TCE) and 1, 1, 1-trichloroethane (TCA) in aqueous systems and soil slurries." <u>Soil and Sediment Contamination: An International Journal</u> **12**(2): 207-228.

Lin, H., J. Wu and H. Zhang (2014). "Degradation of clofibric acid in aqueous solution by an EC/Fe 3+/PMS process." <u>Chemical Engineering Journal</u> **244**: 514-521.

Lutze, H. V., N. Kerlin and T. C. Schmidt (2015). "Sulfate radical-based water treatment in presence of chloride: Formation of chlorate, inter-conversion of sulfate radicals into hydroxyl radicals and influence of bicarbonate." <u>Water Research</u> **72**: 349-360.

Maciel, R., G. L. Sant'Anna Jr and M. Dezotti (2004). "Phenol removal from high salinity effluents using Fenton's reagent and photo-Fenton reactions." <u>Chemosphere</u> **57**(7): 711-719.

Malato, S., P. Fernández-Ibáñez, M. Maldonado, J. Blanco and W. Gernjak (2009). "Decontamination and disinfection of water by solar photocatalysis: Recent overview and trends." <u>Catalysis Today</u> **147**(1): 1-59.

Marrot, B., A. Barrios-Martinez, P. Moulin and N. Roche (2006). "Biodegradation of high phenol concentration by activated sludge in an immersed membrane bioreactor." <u>Biochemical Engineering</u> <u>Journal</u> **30**(2): 174-183.

Marselli, B., J. Garcia-Gomez, P. A. Michaud, M. A. Rodrigo and C. Comninellis (2003). "Electrogeneration of hydroxyl radicals on boron-doped diamond electrodes." <u>Journal of the</u> <u>Electrochemical Society</u> **150**(3): D79-D83.

Martínez-Huitle, C. A. and E. Brillas (2009). "Decontamination of wastewaters containing synthetic organic dyes by electrochemical methods: a general review." <u>Applied catalysis b: environmental</u> **87**(3): 105-145.

Martinez-Huitle, C. A. and S. Ferro (2006). "Electrochemical oxidation of organic pollutants for the wastewater treatment: direct and indirect processes." <u>Chemical Society Reviews</u> **35**(12): 1324-1340.

Martínez-Huitle, C. A., M. A. Rodrigo, I. Sirés and O. Scialdone (2015). "Single and Coupled Electrochemical Processes and Reactors for the Abatement of Organic Water Pollutants: A Critical Review." <u>Chemical Reviews</u> **115**(24): 13362-13407.

Matilainen, A. and M. Sillanpää (2010). "Removal of natural organic matter from drinking water by advanced oxidation processes." <u>Chemosphere</u> **80**(4): 351-365.

Matta, R., S. Tlili, S. Chiron and S. Barbati (2011). "Removal of carbamazepine from urban wastewater by sulfate radical oxidation." <u>Environ. Chem. Lett.</u> **9**(3): 347-353.

Meas, Y., L. A. Godinez and E. Bustos (2011). "Ozone Generation Using Boron-Doped Diamond Electrodes." <u>Synthetic Diamond Films: Preparation, Electrochemistry, Characterization and Applications</u> **8**: 311.

Michaud, P. A., E. Mahe, W. Haenni, A. Perret and C. Comninellis (2000). "Preparation of Peroxodisulfuric Acid Using Boron-Doped Diamond Thin Film Electrodes." <u>Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters</u> **3**(2): 77-79.

Moad, G. and D. H. Solomon (2005). The chemistry of radical polymerization, Elsevier.

Moon, P., G. Sandí, D. Stevens and R. Kizilel (2004). "Computational modeling of ionic transport in continuous and batch electrodialysis." <u>Separation Science and Technology</u> **39**(11): 2531-2555.

Moraes, J. E. F., F. H. Quina, C. A. O. Nascimento, D. N. Silva and O. Chiavone-Filho (2004). "Treatment of Saline Wastewater Contaminated with Hydrocarbons by the Photo-Fenton Process." Environmental Science & Technology **38**(4): 1183-1187.

Moreau, J., M. Souissi, J. Chabriais, F. Cyna-Gorse and O. Richard (1989). "New water-soluble iodinated contrast products]." <u>Presse médicale (Paris, France: 1983)</u> **18**(19): 957.

Mosteo, R., N. Miguel, S. Martin-Muniesa, M. P. Ormad and J. L. Ovelleiro (2009). "Evaluation of trihalomethane formation potential in function of oxidation processes used during the drinking water production process." Journal of Hazardous materials **172**(2–3): 661-666.

Mu, Y., J. Radjenovic, J. Shen, R. A. Rozendal, K. Rabaey and J. r. Keller (2010). "Dehalogenation of iodinated X-ray contrast media in a bioelectrochemical system." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **45**(2): 782-788.

Murugananthan, M., S. Latha, G. Bhaskar Raju and S. Yoshihara (2011). "Role of electrolyte on anodic mineralization of atenolol at boron doped diamond and Pt electrodes." <u>Separation and Purification Technology</u> **79**(1): 56-62.

Nakada, N., T. Tanishima, H. Shinohara, K. Kiri and H. Takada (2006). "Pharmaceutical chemicals and endocrine disrupters in municipal wastewater in Tokyo and their removal during activated sludge treatment." <u>Water Research</u> **40**(17): 3297-3303.

Nasu, M., M. Goto, H. Kato, Y. Oshima and H. Tanaka (2001). "Study on endocrine disrupting chemicals in wastewater treatment plants." <u>Water Science & Technology</u> **43**(2): 101-108.

Neta, P., R. E. Huie and A. B. Ross (1988). "Rate constants for reactions of inorganic radicals in aqueous solution." J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data. 17(3): 1027-1284.

Neta, P., V. Madhavan, H. Zemel and R. W. Fessenden (1977). "Rate constants and mechanism of reaction of sulfate radical anion with aromatic compounds." Journal of the American Chemical Society **99**(1): 163-164.

Nfodzo, P. and H. Choi (2011). "Sulfate radicals destroy pharmaceuticals and personal care products." Environmental Engineering Science **28**(8): 605-609.

Nfodzo, P. and H. Choi (2011). "Triclosan decomposition by sulfate radicals: Effects of oxidant and metal doses." <u>Chemical Engineering Journal</u> **174**(2): 629-634.

Ning, B. and N. J. D. Graham (2008). "Ozone degradation of lodinated pharmaceutical compounds." Journal of Environmental Engineering **134**(12): 944-953.

Nogueira, R. F. P., M. C. Oliveira and W. C. Paterlini (2005). "Simple and fast spectrophotometric determination of H 2 O 2 in photo-Fenton reactions using metavanadate." <u>Talanta</u> **66**(1): 86-91.

Norman, R., P. Storey and P. West (1970). "Electron spin resonance studies. Part XXV. Reactions of the sulphate radical anion with organic compounds." J. Chem. Soc. B: 1087-1095.

Oleksy-Frenzel, J., S. Wischnack and M. Jekel (2000). "Application of ion-chromatography for the determination of the organic-group parameters AOCl, AOBr and AOI in water." <u>Fresenius' journal</u> of analytical chemistry **366**(1): 89-94.

Oturan, M. A. (2014). "Electrochemical advanced oxidation technologies for removal of organic pollutants from water." <u>Environmental Science and Pollution Research</u>: 1-3.

Palme, H. (1920). "Studien über die Zersetzung der Überschwefelsäure." Zeitschrift für anorganische und allgemeine Chemie **112**(1): 97-130.

Panizza, M. and G. Cerisola (2009). "Direct and mediated anodic oxidation of organic pollutants." <u>Chemical Reviews</u> **109**(12): 6541-6569.

Park, H., C. D. Vecitis and M. R. Hoffmann (2009). "Electrochemical water splitting coupled with organic compound oxidation: the role of active chlorine species." J. Phys. Chem. C. **113**(18): 7935-7945.

Parsons, S. (2004). <u>Advanced oxidation processes for water and wastewater treatment</u>, IWA publishing.

Pauwels, B. and W. Verstraete (2006). "The treatment of hospital wastewater: an appraisal." <u>J Water</u> <u>Health</u> **4**: 405-416.

Pennington, D. E. and A. Haim (1968). "Stoichiometry and mechanism of the chromium (II)peroxydisulfate reaction." Journal of the American Chemical Society **90**(14): 3700-3704.

Pera-Titus, M., V. García-Molina, M. A. Baños, J. Giménez and S. Esplugas (2004). "Degradation of chlorophenols by means of advanced oxidation processes: a general review." <u>Applied catalysis b:</u> <u>environmental</u> **47**(4): 219-256.

Petrović, M., S. Gonzalez and D. Barceló (2003). "Analysis and removal of emerging contaminants in wastewater and drinking water." <u>TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry</u> **22**(10): 685-696.

Pignatello, J. J. (1992). "Dark and photoassisted iron(3+)-catalyzed degradation of chlorophenoxy herbicides by hydrogen peroxide." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **26**(5): 944-951.

Pignatello, J. J., E. Oliveros and A. MacKay (2006). "Advanced oxidation processes for organic contaminant destruction based on the fenton reaction and related chemistry." <u>Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology</u> **36**(1): 1-84.

Putschew, A., S. Wischnack and M. Jekel (2000). "Occurrence of triiodinated X-ray contrast agents in the aquatic environment." <u>Science of The Total Environment</u> **255**(1–3): 129-134.

Qian, Y., X. Guo, Y. Zhang, Y. Peng, P. Sun, C.-H. Huang, J. Niu, X. Zhou and J. C. Crittenden (2016). "Perfluorooctanoic Acid Degradation Using UV–Persulfate Process: Modeling of the Degradation and Chlorate Formation." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **50**(2): 772-781.

Radjenovic, J., V. Flexer, B. C. Donose, D. L. Sedlak and J. Keller (2013). "Removal of the X-ray Contrast Media Diatrizoate by Electrochemical Reduction and Oxidation." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **47**(23): 13686-13694.

Radjenović, J., M. Petrović and D. Barceló (2009). "Fate and distribution of pharmaceuticals in wastewater and sewage sludge of the conventional activated sludge (CAS) and advanced membrane bioreactor (MBR) treatment." <u>Water Research</u> **43**(3): 831-841.

Rao, A. N. S. and V. T. Venkatarangaiah (2014). "Metal oxide-coated anodes in wastewater treatment." Environmental Science and Pollution Research **21**(5): 3197-3217.

Real, F. J., F. J. Benitez, J. L. Acero, J. J. Sagasti and F. Casas (2009). "Kinetics of the chemical oxidation of the pharmaceuticals primidone, ketoprofen, and diatrizoate in ultrapure and natural waters." <u>Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research</u> **48**(7): 3380-3388.

Real, F. J., F. J. Benitez, J. L. Acero, J. J. P. Sagasti and F. Casas (2009). "Kinetics of the Chemical Oxidation of the Pharmaceuticals Primidone, Ketoprofen, and Diatrizoate in Ultrapure and Natural Waters." <u>Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research</u> **48**(7): 3380-3388.

Rebenne, L. M., A. C. Gonzalez and T. M. Olson (1996). "Aqueous Chlorination Kinetics and Mechanism of Substituted Dihydroxybenzenes." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **30**(7): 2235-2242.

Reichert, P. (1994). "AQUASIM - A tool for simulation and data analysis of aquatic systems." <u>Water</u> <u>Sci. Technol.</u> **30** (2): 21–30.

Rickman, K. A. and S. P. Mezyk (2010). "Kinetics and mechanisms of sulfate radical oxidation of β -lactam antibiotics in water." <u>Chemosphere</u> **81**(3): 359-365.

Rivas, F., O. Gimeno and T. Borallho (2012). "Aqueous pharmaceutical compounds removal by potassium monopersulfate. Uncatalyzed and catalyzed semicontinuous experiments." <u>Chemical Engineering Journal</u> **192**: 326-333.

Sabaliunas, D., S. F. Webb, A. Hauk, M. Jacob and W. S. Eckhoff (2003). "Environmental fate of Triclosan in the River Aire Basin, UK." <u>Water Research</u> **37**(13): 3145-3154.

Sacher, F., F. T. Lange, H.-J. Brauch and I. Blankenhorn (2001). "Pharmaceuticals in groundwaters: analytical methods and results of a monitoring program in Baden-Württemberg, Germany." Journal of Chromatography A **938**(1): 199-210.

Saha, M. S., T. Furuta and Y. Nishiki (2003). "Electrochemical synthesis of sodium peroxycarbonate at boron-doped diamond electrodes." Electrochemical and solid-state letters **6**(7): D5-D7.

Salari, D., A. Niaei, S. Aber and M. H. Rasoulifard (2009). "The photooxidative destruction of CI Basic Yellow 2 using UV/S 2 O 8 2– process in a rectangular continuous photoreactor." Journal of <u>hazardous materials</u> **166**(1): 61-66.

Samec, Z., A. M. Bittner and K. Doblhofer (1997). "Origin of electrocatalysis in the reduction of peroxodisulfate on gold electrodes." Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry **432**(1–2): 205-214.

Saracco, G., L. Solarino, R. Aigotti, V. Specchia and M. Maja (2000). "Electrochemical oxidation of organic pollutants at low electrolyte concentrations." <u>Electrochimica acta</u> **46**(2): 373-380.

Schmidt, C. K., F. Lange, H. Brauch and W. Kühn (2003). "Experiences with riverbank filtration and infiltration in Germany." <u>DVGW-Water Technology Center (TZW)</u>, Karlsruhe, Germany: 17.

Schwarz, H. and R. Dodson (1984). "Equilibrium between hydroxyl radicals and thallium (II) and the oxidation potential of hydroxyl (aq)." <u>The Journal of Physical Chemistry</u> **88**(16): 3643-3647.

Seiss, M., A. Gahr and R. Niessner (2001). "Improved AOX Degradation in UV Oxidative Waste Water Treatment by Dialysis with Nanofiltration Membrane." <u>Water Research</u> **35**(13): 3242-3248.

Seitz, W., J. Jiang, W. H. Weber, B. J. Lloyd, M. Maier and D. Maier (2006). "Removal of Iodinated X-Ray Contrast Media During Drinking Water Treatment." <u>Environmental Chemistry</u> **3**(1): 35-39.

Serrano, K., P. Michaud, C. Comninellis and A. Savall (2002). "Electrochemical preparation of peroxodisulfuric acid using boron doped diamond thin film electrodes." <u>Electrochim. Acta.</u> **48**(4): 431-436.

Serrano, K., P. A. Michaud, C. Comninellis and A. Savall (2002). "Electrochemical preparation of peroxodisulfuric acid using boron doped diamond thin film electrodes." <u>Electrochim. Acta.</u> **48**(4): 431-436.

Sgroi, M., P. Roccaro, G. L. Oelker and S. A. Snyder (2014). "N -nitrosodimethylamine formation upon ozonation and identification of precursors source in a municipal wastewater treatment plant." <u>Environmental Science and Technology</u> **48**(17): 10308-10315.

Sirés, I. and E. Brillas (2012). "Remediation of water pollution caused by pharmaceutical residues based on electrochemical separation and degradation technologies: a review." <u>Environment international</u> **40**: 212-229.

Sirés, I., E. Brillas, M. A. Oturan, M. A. Rodrigo and M. Panizza (2014). "Electrochemical advanced oxidation processes: today and tomorrow. A review." <u>Environmental Science and Pollution Research</u> **21**(14): 8336-8367.

Skoumal, M., R. M. Rodríguez, P. L. Cabot, F. Centellas, J. A. Garrido, C. Arias and E. Brillas (2009). "Electro-Fenton, UVA photoelectro-Fenton and solar photoelectro-Fenton degradation of the drug ibuprofen in acid aqueous medium using platinum and boron-doped diamond anodes." <u>Electrochimica acta</u> **54**(7): 2077-2085. Smit, W. and J. G. Hoogland (1971). "The mechanism of the anodic formation of peroxodisulphate ion on platinum—II. Time dependence of the anode potential." <u>Electrochimica Acta</u> **16**(6): 821-831.

Smit, W. and J. G. Hoogland (1971). "The mechanism of the anodic formation of the peroxodisulphate ion on platinum—I. establishment of the participating anion." <u>Electrochimica Acta</u> **16**(1): 1-18.

Smit, W. and J. G. Hoogland (1971). "The mechanism of the anodic formation of the peroxodisulphate ion on platinum—III. elaboration of experimental results." <u>Electrochimica Acta</u> **16**(7): 961-979.

Snyder, S. A., P. Westerhoff, Y. Yoon and D. L. Sedlak (2003). "Pharmaceuticals, personal care products, and endocrine disruptors in water: implications for the water industry." <u>Environmental Engineering Science</u> **20**(5): 449-469.

Song, W., W. J. Cooper, B. M. Peake, S. P. Mezyk, M. G. Nickelsen and K. E. O'Shea (2009). "Free-radical-induced oxidative and reductive degradation of N, N'-diethyl-m-toluamide (DEET): Kinetic studies and degradation pathway." <u>water research</u> **43**(3): 635-642.

Song, Z., N. Wang, L. Zhu, A. Huang, X. Zhao and H. Tang (2012). "Efficient oxidative degradation of triclosan by using an enhanced Fenton-like process." <u>Chemical Engineering Journal</u> **198**: 379-387.

Sonoyama, N. and T. Sakata (1999). "Electrochemical continuous decomposition of chloroform and other volatile chlorinated hydrocarbons in water using a column type metal impregnated carbon fiber electrode." Environmental science & technology **33**(19): 3438-3442.

Steger-Hartmann, T., R. Länge and H. Schweinfurth (1999). "Environmental risk assessment for the widely used iodinated X-ray contrast agent iopromide (Ultravist)." <u>Ecotoxicology and Environmental</u> <u>Safety</u> **42**(3): 274-281.

Stephen, P. M., A. R. Kimberly, M. Garrett, M. H. Charlotte, H. Xuexiang and D. D. Dionysios (2011). Remediation of Chemically-Contaminated Waters Using Sulfate Radical Reactions: Kinetic Studies. <u>Aquatic Redox Chemistry</u>, American Chemical Society. **1071**: 247-263.

Sugihara, M. N., D. Moeller, T. Paul and T. J. Strathmann (2013). "TiO2-photocatalyzed transformation of the recalcitrant X-ray contrast agent diatrizoate." <u>Appl. Catal., B.</u> **129**(0): 114-122.

Tadkaew, N., F. I. Hai, J. A. McDonald, S. J. Khan and L. D. Nghiem (2011). "Removal of trace organics by MBR treatment: the role of molecular properties." <u>Water Research</u> **45**(8): 2439-2451.

Tay, K., N. Rahman and M. B. Abas (2013). "Chemical oxidation of N, N-diethyl-m-toluamide by sulfate radical-based oxidation: kinetics and mechanism of degradation." <u>International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology</u> **10**(1): 103-112.

Tchobanoglous, G., F. L. Burton and H. D. Stensel, Eds. (2002). <u>Wastewater Engineering: Treatment</u> <u>and Reuse</u>, Metcalf&Eddy.

Ternes, T. A. (1998). "Occurrence of drugs in German sewage treatment plants and rivers." <u>Water</u> <u>Research</u> **32**(11): 3245-3260.

Ternes, T. A. and R. Hirsch (2000). "Occurrence and behavior of X-ray contrast media in sewage facilities and the aquatic environment." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **34**(13): 2741-2748.

Ternes, T. A., M. Meisenheimer, D. McDowell, F. Sacher, H.-J. Brauch, B. Haist-Gulde, G. Preuss, U. Wilme and N. Zulei-Seibert (2002). "Removal of Pharmaceuticals during Drinking Water Treatment." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **36**(17): 3855-3863.

Ternes, T. A., J. Stüber, N. Herrmann, D. McDowell, A. Ried, M. Kampmann and B. Teiser (2003). "Ozonation: a tool for removal of pharmaceuticals, contrast media and musk fragrances from wastewater?" <u>Water Research</u> **37**(8): 1976-1982.

Thompson, A., P. Griffin, R. Stuetz and E. Cartmell (2005). "The Fate and Removal of Triclosan during Wastewater Treatment." <u>Water Environment Research</u> **77**(1): 63-67.

Tondera, K., S. Koenen and J. Pinnekamp (2013). "Survey monitoring results on the reduction of micropollutants, bacteria, bacteriophages and TSS in retention soil filters." <u>Water Science and Technology</u> **68**(5): 1004-1012.

Truong, G. L., J. D. Laat and B. Legube (2004). "Effects of chloride and sulfate on the rate of oxidation of ferrous ion by H2O2." <u>Water Research</u> **38**(9): 2384-2394.

Tsitonaki, A., B. Petri, M. Crimi, H. Mosbæk, R. L. Siegrist and P. L. Bjerg (2010). "In situ chemical oxidation of contaminated soil and groundwater using persulfate: a review." <u>Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology</u> **40**(1): 55-91.

Tsitonaki, A., B. Petri, M. Crimi, H. Mosbk, R. L. Siegrist and P. L. Bjerg (2010). "In situ chemical oxidation of contaminated soil and groundwater using persulfate: A review." <u>Critical reviews in environmental science and technology</u> **40**(1): 55-91.

United-Nations-Environment-Programme (1990). "Global Environment Monitoring System (GEMS)/Water Programme Office. GEMS/Water data summary 1985–1987.".

Velo-Gala, I., J. J. López-Peñalver, M. Sánchez-Polo and J. Rivera-Utrilla (2013). "Role of activated carbon on micropollutans degradation by ionizing radiation." <u>Carbon(0)</u>.

Velo-Gala, I., J. J. López-Peñalver, M. Sánchez-Polo and J. Rivera-Utrilla (2014). "Comparative study of oxidative degradation of sodium diatrizoate in aqueous solution by H2O2/Fe2+, H2O2/Fe3+, Fe (VI) and UV, H2O2/UV, K2S2O8/UV." <u>Chemical Engineering Journal</u> **241**(0): 504-512.

Velo-Gala, I., J. J. López-Peñalver, M. Sánchez-Polo and J. Rivera-Utrilla (2014). "Role of activated carbon on micropollutans degradation by ionizing radiation." <u>Carbon</u> **67**(0): 288-299.

Wadley, S. and T. Waite (2004). "Fenton processes." <u>Advanced Oxidation Processes for Water and</u> <u>Wastewater Treatment, IWA Publishing, London</u>: 111-136.

Wang, Y.-q., B. Gu and W.-l. Xu (2009). "Electro-catalytic degradation of phenol on several metaloxide anodes." Journal of Hazardous materials **162**(2): 1159-1164.

Wardman, P. (1989). "Reduction Potentials of One-Electron Couples Involving Free Radicals in Aqueous Solution." J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data. 18(4).

Watts, R. J. and A. L. Teel (2006). "Treatment of contaminated soils and groundwater using ISCO." <u>Practice Periodical of Hazardous, Toxic, and Radioactive Waste Management</u> **10**(1): 2-9.

Weigel, S., J. Kuhlmann and H. Hühnerfuss (2002). "Drugs and personal care products as ubiquitous pollutants: occurrence and distribution of clofibric acid, caffeine and DEET in the North Sea." <u>Science of The Total Environment</u> **295**(1): 131-141.

Westerhoff, P., Y. Yoon, S. Snyder and E. Wert (2005). "Fate of Endocrine-Disruptor, Pharmaceutical, and Personal Care Product Chemicals during Simulated Drinking Water Treatment Processes." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **39**(17): 6649-6663.

Wischnack, S., J. Oleksy-Frenzel and M. Jekel (1998). "Abbauverhalten und Vorkommen organischer Jodverbindungen im Raum Berlin." <u>GdCH Fachgruppentagung Wasserchemie</u>: 96-99.

Xiang-Rong Xu, S. L., Qing Hao, Jin-Ling Liu, Yi-Yi Yu and Hua-Bin Li (2012). Activation of Persulfate and Its Environmental Application International Journal of Environment and Bioenergy, 2012, 1(1): 60-81.

Yang, S., P. Wang, X. Yang, L. Shan, W. Zhang, X. Shao and R. Niu (2010). "Degradation efficiencies of azo dye Acid Orange 7 by the interaction of heat, UV and anions with common oxidants: Persulfate, peroxymonosulfate and hydrogen peroxide." Journal of Hazardous materials **179**(1–3): 552-558.

Yang, Y., J. Jiang, X. Lu, J. Ma and Y. Liu (2015). "Production of sulfate radical and hydroxyl radical by reaction of ozone with peroxymonosulfate: a novel advanced oxidation process." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **49**(12): 7330-7339.

Yang, Y., J. J. Pignatello, J. Ma and W. A. Mitch (2014). "Comparison of halide impacts on the efficiency of contaminant degradation by sulfate and hydroxyl radical-based advanced oxidation processes (AOPs)." <u>Environmental Science & Technology</u> **48**(4): 2344-2351.

Yu, X., M. Zhou, Y. Hu, K. G. Serrano and F. Yu (2014). "Recent updates on electrochemical degradation of bio-refractory organic pollutants using BDD anode: a mini review." <u>Environmental Science and Pollution Research</u> **21**(14): 8417-8431.

Zemel, H. and R. W. Fessenden (1978). "The mechanism of reaction of sulfate radical anion with some derivatives of benzoic acid." <u>The Journal of Physical Chemistry</u> **82**(25): 2670-2676.

Zhang, B.-T., Y. Zhang, Y. Teng and M. Fan (2014). "Sulfate Radical and its Application in Decontamination Technologies." <u>Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology(just-accepted)</u>: 00-00.

Zhang, H. and A. T. Lemley (2006). "Reaction mechanism and kinetic modeling of DEET degradation by flow-through anodic Fenton treatment (FAFT)." <u>Environmental science & technology</u> **40**(14): 4488-4494.

Zhang, Y., S.-U. Geißen and C. Gal (2008). "Carbamazepine and diclofenac: Removal in wastewater treatment plants and occurrence in water bodies." <u>Chemosphere</u> **73**(8): 1151-1161.

Zhao, B. Y. and R. B. Li (2006). "Electrocatalytic Behaviour of Diamond Electrode for Organic Compound." <u>Advances in Science and Technology</u> **48**: 169-173.

Zhao, J., Y. Zhang, X. Quan and S. Chen (2010). "Enhanced oxidation of 4-chlorophenol using sulfate radicals generated from zero-valent iron and peroxydisulfate at ambient temperature." <u>Separation and</u> <u>Purification Technology</u> **71**(3): 302-307.

Zwiener, C., T. Glauner, J. Sturm, M. Wörner and F. H. Frimmel (2009). "Electrochemical reduction of the iodinated contrast medium iomeprol: iodine mass balance and identification of transformation products." <u>Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry</u> **395**(6): 1885-1892.